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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERW|E

On behalf of the board of directors of China Infrastructure Investment
Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present the final results of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2017.

ANNUAL RESULTS

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017
was approximately HK$26,144,000, as compared with approximately
HK$15,691,000 in 2016. The loss attributable to owners of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2017 was approximately
HK$44,700,000, compared with the loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$5,507,000 over the corresponding
period of 2016.

The principal assets of Forward Investment (PRC) Company Limited
(“Forward Investment”) is the 100% equity interests in B RZE=ME
B EZAR AR (Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property Company Limited*)
(“Nanjing Taihe Yingke”), which main asset is a complex development
project (the “Jiangning Project”) located in Jiangning Development
Zone, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, the PRC. The Jiangning Project is a
composite complex comprising two towers of commercial space and
service apartments. The commercial space tower is a six-storey tower
with a gross floor area of 39,241.48 square metres and the service
apartments tower is an 18-storey tower with a gross floor area of
20,882.52 square metres. The total gross floor area of the Jiangning
Project is approximately 74,642.00 square metres which includes a
basement of approximately 14,518.00 square metres, and land use
rights of approximately 20,050.90 square metres.

The topping-up work of the commercial building had been completed
in 2015 while the interior construction work had been completed
in 2016 and the decoration work had been completed in 2017.
Approximately 1,600 square meters of the gross floor area of the
commercial building have been sold with average selling price of
approximately RMB37,100 per square meters. Approximately 7,200
square meters of the gross floor area of the commercial building has
been rented out. The construction of the service apartment building
had been completed and the construction completion acceptance
was granted in the first half of 2014. Pre-sale of service apartment
building had commenced in 2012. As at 31 December 2017, it was
confirmed that service apartment with approximately 20,100 square
meters of the gross floor area were sold with average selling price of
approximately RMB12,300 per square meters.

CHINAINFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

Pursuant to the subscription agreement, this investment will
provide the annual return undertaking of not less than 12% of the
consideration which can generate stable revenue streams and
cash surplus for the Group. On 15 May 2017, the guarantors of the
subscription agreement had fulfilled their obligations regarding
the return undertaking and compensated the shortfall of the
profit guarantee for the year ended 31 December 2016, being
HK$29,331,000, to the Group.

Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics Company Limited (“Tianjin Jun Hua
Logistics”) is principally engaged in the business of property rentals,
development of a logistics base and operation of storage units. Tianjin
Jun Hua Logistics owns a property with a land use area of 11,331.30
square metres, comprising of one building with one storey of 704.16
square metres and another building with four storeys of 10,807.91
square metres, which is being developed into a logistics base at
Tianjin Economic and Technological Development Zone, Tianjin City,
the PRC. The property is located in the Tianjin Harbour, which is
one of the main transportation hubs of the PRC. The Company is of
the view that the acquisition allows the Group to invest in a property
and logistics project located within a promising district. It is believed
that the acquisition will provide a steady rental income stream to
the Group amid the current low interest rate environment as well as
appreciation potential of the value of the property owned by Tianjin
Jun Hua Logistics.

On 24 May 2017, the Group had entered into an equity transfer
agreement to acquire 60% of the entire equity interest in Tianjin Hui
Li Yuan Power Equipment Co. Ltd. (“Tianjin Hui Li Yuan”). Tianjin
Hui Li Yuan is principally engaged in the business of property
rentals and property development. Tianjin Hui Li Yuan is the legal
owner of the land use right for a parcel of land with an area of
approximately 29,012.72 square metres located at Tianjin Economic
and Technological Development Zone, Tianjin City, the PRC. The land
is now for industrial use and having two 4-storey buildings (namely
Block Nos. 3 and 4) with a total gross floor area of 18,333 square
metres under construction. Whilst the construction work for the other
2 buildings (namely Block Nos. 1 and 2) with a total gross floor
area of 46,445 square metres was yet to commence. With the fast
development of the Tianjin's logistics industry as well as the business
and commercial sector, the directors of the Company anticipate the
land, currently is for industrial use, would have greater development
potential along with the economic growth of Tianjin. The directors
of the Company are of the view that the acquisition of 60% equity
interests in Tianjin Hui Li Yuan will have a synergy effect together with
the acquisition of 51% equity interests in Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics.
The acquisition was completed on 1 August 2017.
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

A disposal agreement dated 20 March 2013 in relation to the disposal
of 49% equity interests in It RFBLEEEIRELZRER AT (Beijing
Zhonggang Green Energy Investment Consulting Co., Ltd.*) (the
“Intermediate Holding Company”) and the cancellation of the option
to acquire the remaining 51% effective interest in the Intermediate
Holding Company was entered into by the Company and the
purchasers for an aggregate consideration of HK$315 million (the
“Changdongshun Disposal”). The reasons for the Changdongshun
Disposal were mainly due to the performance of the management
of the Changdongshun Group has failed to meet the expectations
of the Directors, in particular, in respect of provision of financial
information to the Company. A circular of the Company setting out the
details of the Changdongshun Disposal was published on 26 June
2013. The Group had received from the Purchasers an aggregate
of the whole amount of the consideration of HK$315,000,000 for
the Changdongshun Disposal, the whole amount of the advance
amounting to HK$11,270,000 by the Group to It RERIEMARAERE A
7] (Beijing Changdongshun Gas Limited*) (“Beijing Changdongshun”)
and the loan amounting to RMB10,000,000 provided by the Group
to Beijing Changdongshun plus the loan’s interests. By then, all the
conditions precedent for the Changdongshun Disposal has been
fulfilled. The Changdongshun Disposal was completed on 28 June
2017.

PROSPECTS

The management will continue to look for investment opportunities
in relation to the real estate business and logistics services business
in the PRC so as to expand the development portfolio of the Group
in the future. In this regard, investment opportunities which offer
satisfactory returns to the Shareholders within the acceptable risk
profile of the Group and expected return will be considered. As a
result, the Group will strive to identify suitable projects with potential
for development and satisfactory returns across various sectors in the
PRC market.

XU Xiao Jun
Chairman

29 March 2018

*

For identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PR e

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
PRC PROJECTS

Properties development and investment

Forward Investment (PRC] Company Limited

The principal assets of Forward Investment (PRC) Company Limited
(“Forward Investment”) is the 100% equity interests in FRZEFME
R E AR 2 A (Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property Company Limited*)
(“Nanjing Taihe Yingke”), which main asset is a complex development
project (the “Jiangning Project”) located in Jiangning Development
Zone, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, the PRC. The Jiangning Project is a
composite complex comprising two towers of commercial space and
service apartments. The commercial space tower is a six-storey tower
with a gross floor area of 39,241.48 square metres and the service
apartments tower is an 18-storey tower with a gross floor area of
20,882.52 square metres. The total gross floor area of the Jiangning
Project is approximately 74,642.00 square metres which includes a
basement of approximately 14,518.00 square metres, and land use
rights of approximately 20,050.90 square metres.

The topping-up work of the commercial building had been completed
in 2015 while the interior construction work had been completed
in 2016 and the decoration work had been completed in 2017.
Approximately 1,600 square meters of the gross floor area of the
commercial building have been sold with average selling price of
approximately RMB37,100 per square meters. Approximately 7,200
square meters of the gross floor area of the commercial building has
been rented out. The construction of the service apartment building
had been completed and the construction completion acceptance
was granted in the first half of 2014. Pre-sale of service apartment
building had commenced in 2012. As at 31 December 2017, it was
confirmed that service apartment with approximately 20,100 square
meters of the gross floor area were sold with average selling price of
approximately RMB12,300 per square meters.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BB D AT

Pursuant to the subscription agreement, this investment will
provide the annual return undertaking of not less than 12% of the
consideration which can generate stable revenue streams and
cash surplus for the Group. On 15 May 2017, the guarantors of the
subscription agreement had fulfilled their obligations regarding
the return undertaking and compensated the shortfall of the
profit guarantee for the year ended 31 December 2016, being
HK$29,331,000, to the Group.

Properties investment

KEZZEY 7B RR 2 & [Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics Company Limited*]

Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics Company Limited (“Tianjin Jun Hua
Logistics”) is principally engaged in the business of property rentals,
development of a logistics base and operation of storage units. Tianjin
Jun Hua Logistics owns a property with a land use area of 11,331.30
square metres, comprising of one building with one storey of 704.16
square metres and another building with four storeys of 10,807.91
square metres, which is being developed into a logistics base at
Tianjin Economic and Technological Development Zone, Tianjin City,
the PRC. The property is located in the Tianjin Harbour, which is
one of the main transportation hubs of the PRC. The Company is of
the view that the acquisition allows the Group to invest in a property
and logistics project located within a promising district. It is believed
that the acquisition will provide a steady rental income stream to
the Group amid the current low interest rate environment as well as
appreciation potential of the value of the property owned by Tianjin
Jun Hua Logistics.

FKIEE T JRE) DR B AR 23 2] (Tianjin Hui Li Yuan Power Equipment
Co. Ltd.*)

On 24 May 2017, the Group had entered into an equity transfer
agreement to acquire 60% of the entire equity interest in Tianjin Hui
Li Yuan Power Equipment Co. Ltd. (“Tianjin Hui Li Yuan”). Tianjin
Hui Li Yuan is principally engaged in the business of property
rentals and property development. Tianjin Hui Li Yuan is the legal
owner of the land use right for a parcel of land with an area of

*

For identification purpose only
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BB D T

approximately 29,012.72 square metres located at Tianjin Economic
and Technological Development Zone, Tianjin City, the PRC. The land
is now for industrial use and having two 4-storey buildings (namely
Block Nos. 3 and 4) with a total gross floor area of 18,333 square
metres under construction. Whilst the construction work for the other
2 buildings (namely Block Nos. 1 and 2) with a total gross floor
area of 46,445 square metres was yet to commence. With the fast
development of the Tianjin’s logistics industry as well as the business
and commercial sector, the directors of the Company anticipate the
land, currently is for industrial use, would have greater development
potential along with the economic growth of Tianjin. The directors
of the Company are of the view that the acquisition of 60% equity
interests in Tianjin Hui Li Yuan will have a synergy effect together with
the acquisition of 51% equity interests in Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics.
The acquisition was completed on 1 August 2017.

Infrastructure

IR EFE# R B R F] (Beijing Changdongshun Gas Limited*)

A disposal agreement dated 20 March 2013 in relation to the disposal
of 49% equity interests in the Intermediate Holding Company and
the cancellation of the option to acquire the remaining 51% effective
interest in the Intermediate Holding Company was entered into by
the Company and the purchasers for an aggregate consideration of
HK$315 million (the “Changdongshun Disposal”). The reasons for
the Changdongshun Disposal were mainly due to the performance
of the management of the Changdongshun Group has failed to
meet the expectations of the Directors, in particular, in respect of
provision of financial information to the Company. A circular of the
Company setting out the details of the Changdongshun Disposal
was published on 26 June 2013. The Group had received from the
Purchasers an aggregate of the whole amount of the consideration of
HK$315,000,000 for the Changdongshun Disposal, the whole amount
of the advance amounting to HK$11,270,000 by the Group to Beijing
Changdongshun Gas Limited (“Beijing Changdongshun”) and the
loan amounting to RMB10,000,000 provided by the Group to Beijing
Changdongshun plus the loan’s interests. By then, all the conditions
precedent for the Changdongshun Disposal has been fulfilled. The
Changdongshun Disposal was completed on 28 June 2017.

*

For identification purpose only

29,012.72F 75K » AL pAHR B RIZTH R EL
ERAMTR R - Z TIHIRERETERR -
BEMEBEEEEA18,333F 5 KHE
BEREEF (AEIERF4E)  MEAMH
1 4R SR EL 1S 5 46,445 F 5 K REF (BN
1ERE2E) NERETRHAST - BE
FOEW) AT HE DA e ZE 75 I 7 S SRS ) R R B
B AQAESHEHRZRRSARIERAR
MR REE RN EEERMAAE RN
FEEN - NAFIESRA - WHEXEESH
R 60% A% 1 18 B Uk B KR B W) 51% A%
BELHBRENG - WEFHEEN T —F
NA—BEK -

U REFIEKAER L A

RARHEFR_T—=F=A=-+HmLH
&R B AR A B 2 49% A5 A LA K2 o 65 U BB
FEBIER AR N o1% B ES 2 M
M —IEH B - #1R{E /315,000,000
B ((ERIEEEEE]) - #TERIED
EEEERTEZAERIEEECERER
WAREFEEZZEY LERERAAR
REMFBERTE - BEERIEHEEEF
BZARATEREHER —_E—=F A=+
BT - AEEERESFENNERIBELHES
FIH 2 BE B R EFIE315,000,000%8 7T
AEBRLRERIBERRER AT (MR
SRIE]) Rz BEEEFK 11,270,000 7T
RAEERILRERIBRHEZERARE
10,000,000 T AEEFE - Eitt - ERIEH
EFIH BRI ETK - ERIBE
EFEEN - ZT—+tF A+ /\BEKX °

TEREZREARLTF
“E-LEFR



10
3\

Management Discussion and Analysis
BB D AT

OUTLOOK

The management will continue to look for investment opportunities
in relation to the real estate business and logistics services business
in the PRC so as to expand the development portfolio of the Group
in the future. In this regard, investment opportunities which offer
satisfactory returns to the Shareholders within the acceptable risk
profile of the Group and expected return will be considered. As a
result, the Group will strive to identify suitable projects with potential
for development and satisfactory returns across various sectors in the
PRC market.

HUMAN RESOURCES

At 31 December 2017, the Group had a total of approximately 23
staff in Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group remunerates employees
based on their performance, experience and prevailing industry
practices so as to retain the competent and talented employees.
The Company has a share option scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to the eligible persons including
the employees of the Company for their contributions to the long term
success and prosperity of the Group.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

RESULTS

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017
was approximately HK$26,144,000, as compared with approximately
HK$15,691,000 for the year ended 31 December 2016. The loss
attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2017 was approximately HK$44,700,000 as compared
with the loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$5,507,000 for the year ended 31 December 2016. This was mainly
due to increase of finance costs from approximately HK$2,128,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2016 to HK$25,652,000 this year and
the share of loss of associates of approximately HK$22,140,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2017.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The capital structure of the Group consisted of debt (which included
borrowings), cash and bank balances, loan receivables, and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital and reserves of the Group.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group monitors its liquidity requirements on a short to medium
term basis and arranges refinancing of the Group’s borrowings when
appropriate. At 31 December 2017, the underlying current ratio,
defined as current assets over current liabilities, was approximately
2.24 (2016: 2.77). At 31 December 2017, the underlying gearing
ratio, defined as the total borrowings over total equity (including non-
controlling interests), was approximately 27% (2016: 32%) while the
current liabilities to the total assets ratio was approximately 25% (2016:
24%).

At 31 December 2017, the Group’s equity attributable to owners
of the Company was approximately HK$850,509,000, an increase
of approximately 8% over last year end which was approximately
HK$788,184,000. The net current assets at 31 December 2017
was approximately HK$386,738,000 (2016: HK$608,352,000) while
cash and bank balances at 31 December 2017 was approximately
HK$636,920,000 (2016: HK$54,006,000).

BAXE
AEBZAFEEREEY (AaEH
B)  BERPITEYS - BRERUARER
AE AR (D AEEEBTRA
R) -

nBEE RUIBER

AEBRPEREEERERBEST K
THEEFAAEEEELTHBRE - 1
—E—tF+ZA=+—H"  HE@ERBL
= (Eﬂiﬁiﬂﬁ?ﬂ%%ﬁiﬂ%ﬁ) #R2.24
ZE-RF277) cRZE—+tF+=A
E—i——EI MEBERaGELE (EEER
R (BREFERER)) OR27% (=
%ﬁ_/\i 32%) mMnESBEHBEEL
KHB25% (ZF—NF 1 24%) °

RZE—+F+ZA=+—8 ' KXQA%
B AL 7R & B #E 3 4) /850,509,000 7
TC 0 B & F K #9788,184,00078 JT # hn 49
8%  RZE—+F+_A=+—HZRH
B EFEH5386,738,0008 T (Z T — X
% 608,352,000 L) MM =T —
FH+ZA=1+—BZBEeRBITEBOER
636,920,000 7T (ZZF—7<4F : 54,006,000
/%TE)

TEREZREARLTF
“E-LEFR

"



12

Management Discussion and Analysis
BB D AT

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Certain properties of a subsidiary were pledged in favour of a PRC
trust company to secure the payment obligation of an independent
third party in the sum of approximately HK$95,184,000 (equivalent to
RMB80,000,000) granted by the PRC trust company in favour of the
independent third party. As at 31 December 2017, the outstanding
loan amount of the independent third party was approximately
HK$95,184,000 (equivalent to RMB80,000,000) and market value
of the properties pledged was approximately HK$136,827,000
(equivalent to RMB115,000,000) which was determined by an
independent valuer. The carrying amount of the pledged properties
was approximately HK$127,723,000 as at 31 December 2017. At the
reporting date, the Directors were of the opinion that the risk of default
by the independent third party is low. The charge is expected to be
discharged on 11 February 2019.

The Group had no other material contingent liabilities.
CHARGE ON ASSETS

As 31 December 2017, property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$127,723,000 was pledged as securities for payment obligation of
an independent third party.

At 31 December 2016, investment properties of approximately
HK$61,122,000 and land use rights of approximately HK$1,881,000
were pledged as securities for borrowings.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

During the year, most of the business transactions, assets and
liabilities of the Group were denominated in Hong Kong Dollars,
Renminbi and United Stated Dollars. The Group had no material
foreign exchange exposure risks during the year.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to propose any final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2017 (2016:nil).

CHINAINFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
Annual Report 2017
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SEEARE

The board of directors (the “Board”) and the Management of the
Company are committed to the principles of corporate governance
and to maximise shareholders’ value. These principles and objectives
enhance the transparency, accountability and independence of the
Company and its ability to attract investment and protect rights of
shareholders. The Company continues to review the effectiveness
of corporate structure so as to improve its corporate governance
practices.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted its own code on corporate governance
practices which incorporates all the code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) set out in Appendix 14 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). The Directors confirm that,
throughout the financial year, the Company complied with the code
provisions of the CG Code except for the following deviations:

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive officer
should be clearly established and set out in writing. Mr. Xu Xiao Jun,
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, had also been appointed
as the Chairman of the Company since 31 July 2017. The Board
believes that vesting the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer in the same person has the benefit of ensuring consistent
leadership within the Group and enables more effective and efficient
overall strategic planning for the Group. The Board believes that
the balance of power and authority for the present arrangement will
not be impaired and is adequately ensured by current Board which
comprises experienced and high calibre individuals with sufficient
number thereof being independent non-executive Directors.

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-executive
directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-
election. The term of office for non-executive Directors including
independent non-executive Directors of the Company is not specific.
It is provided in the Company’s articles of association that all the
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years at the annual general meetings of the Company and are
eligible for re-appointment. The Directors are of the view that such
provision in the Company’s articles of association has been able to
safeguard corporate governance.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct governing directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules throughout the financial year. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Directors confirmed that they
have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
and the Company’s code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Each Director has a duty to act in good faith and in the best interests
of the Company and is accountable for the manner in which the
affairs of the Company are managed, controlled and operated. The
Directors are collectively responsible for the success of the Company.
The Board, as at 31 December 2017, comprised:

(a) three executive Directors, namely Mr. Xu Xiao Jun (Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer), Mr. Ye De Chao and Mr. Ji Xu
Dong; and

(b) three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. He Jin
Geng, Mr. Yu Hong Gao and Ms. Chen Yang and one of whom
has appropriate professional qualifications, accounting and
related financial expertise required under Rule 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules.

The Company considers that the Board has a range of the necessary
skills and experiences for discharging their duties. All Directors have
been kept informed of major changes on a timely basis that may
affect the Company'’s business.

INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL ADVICE

The Directors may, in appropriate circumstances, take independent
professional advice from external consultants including counsels, at
the Company’s expense. During the year under review, counsels were
engaged to provide the Board with advice on legal matters.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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BOARD MEETINGS

The Board meets regularly to formulate the objectives of the
Company, make decisions on strategic plans and budgets, monitor
the performance of the Senior Management, determine and review
the strategy of the Company, oversee the Company’s compliance
with statutory and regulatory requirement and to ensure that there is a
sound system of internal control and risk management with a goal of

protecting the interests of all shareholders.

Sufficient notices accompanying with agendas for regular and non-
regular board meetings were given to all of the Directors so that full
attendance could be attained and timely information was provided so
that informed decisions could be made. The Board conducts meeting

on a regular and ad hoc basis, as required by business needs.

The Board held totally 11 board meetings during the financial year

and the attendance of individual director is recorded as follows:

Attendance Record of Board Meetings (1 January 2017 -

31 December 2017)
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Directors EE
Executive Directors HITEE
XU Xiao Jun (Chairman and WNME (EEFTBAEE) 11/11 100%
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(Chief Executive Officer)
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JI Xu Dong TR 11/11 100%
Independent Non-executive Directors HUHNTEE
HE Jin Geng A& B 11/11 100%
YU Hong Gao B4T= 11/11 100%
CHEN Yang bR 11/11 100%
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

In compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed at least three independent non-executive
directors and one of whom must have appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise. As at 31 December 2017, the independent non-executive
Directors of the Company (the “INEDs”) represented at least one-third
of the Board in compliance with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules.

The Board is aware of other commitments of the INEDs and is
satisfied that these do not conflict with their duties as the Directors
of the Company. The Company has received from each of the INEDs
an annual confirmation of his independence as required under Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on these confirmations, the Company
considers that each of the INEDs is independent.

The terms and conditions of appointing the INEDs are available for
inspection at the Company’s registered office.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director is provided with an induction package
covering the Group’s business and the statutory regulatory
obligations of a director of a listed company so as to ensure that he/
she has appropriate understanding of the business and operation
of the Group and that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and the relevant regulatory
requirements.

Code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code requires that all Directors
of the Company should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This
is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. During the year under review, all Directors of the Company
participated in continuous professional development programmes
and provided a record of training they received to the Company.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
Annual Report 2017

BUFHTES

AEA EmRBNIE3.10(1) & 3.10(2) 1§ - &
ARBRAEL =ZRBUIERTES  BE
PR EEBREE CEXEERIEITIE
BB ERER - BFE EMHAEI.10A
g RZE—+F+-_A=+—H ' x27F
ZREUIENITES ([BULIERTES] (L
EZEREBABEL=DZ— -

EFEQNBBELFATES 2EMALT - I
EMRERTRFREETAAREEZRE
WEER - NRREEESBIUIFNTES
S MERIE B ARRISE 3AB IR E R H
ZERERE - REZFHAE - ~2FR
REBILIFPTESHRBIAL -

REBUIFHITES IR RIR R AR A]
Z e F R AR o

ESZHESRER

UM ZEESTRER—DABRER - &
ERKERGUARMER/ LM ARESLEE
REERTE LMARTEEZER R
HEZEMARE 2 XHREE  RERD
THRERETRARBEEERTE N 2BE
KREE-

ERERSTAIST AR ABSHE - AR
MEERYR2EFERLEER  ERYE
FTEMB LR - AEREEETAGEE
BARYAMBHNERATHERSFELE
Bl REEFERN  ARRMBEEFHESR
HBFEERBERRE  WARQRRRES
P I e aC e o



Corporate Governance Report

TRERHRE

The individual training record of each Director for the year ended 31
December 2017 is set out below.

BE_T—+tHF+-_A=T—BLFE"
EEMERIEINFCERFIFAT

Types of continuous professional
development programmes

BESERREREER
Executive Directors HITEE
XU Xiao Jun wME A, B
YE De Chao iz A B
JI Xu Dong EIEE B
Independent Non-executive Directors B TIITEE
HE Jin Geng Al B B
YU Hong Gao s B
CHEN Yang bR B

A attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums

B: reading journals, newsletter, seminar materials and updates relating to
the latest development of the Listing Rules, other applicable regulatory
requirements and directors’ duties and responsibilities

A HEBER SHIwmE R R TE

B: BEABMLMARA HMEREERER
EERBLETZRMERMOBRT - B
o RIS ERE AR

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive officer
should be clearly established and set out in writing.

From 1 January 2017 to 30 July 2017, Mr. Ye De Chao was the
Chairman of the Company while Mr. Xu Xiao Jun was the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, and thus, the role and function of
the chairman and chief executive officer was separate during that
period. On 31 July 2017, Mr. Ye De Chao resigned as the Chairman
of the Company and remained as an Executive Director of the
Company and on the same date, Mr. Xu Xiao Jun, the Chief Executive
Officer, was appointed as the Chairman of the Company. The Board
believes that vesting the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer in the same person has the benefit of ensuring consistent
leadership within the Group and enables more effective and efficient
overall strategic planning for the Group. The Board believes that
the balance of power and authority for the present arrangement will
not be impaired and is adequately ensured by current Board which
comprises experienced and high calibre individuals with sufficient
number thereof being independent non-executive Directors.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board, headed by the Chairman, reserves for its decision all
major matters of the Company, including: approval and monitoring
of all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control
and risk management systems, material transactions (in particular
those that may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters. The Board regularly reviews and ensures that
corporate governance principles are in place and at good standard.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and
responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has
to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions
entered into by the management.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established internal committees which are of no
less compliance requirements than those set out in the CG Code
of the Listing Rules, namely, Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee, Audit Committee and Corporate Governance Committee.
To further reinforce independence, these four committees are
structured to include a majority of independent non-executive
Directors.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2017, the Remuneration Committee was chaired
by Mr. Yu Hong Gao, an independent non-executive Director with
other committee members comprising two other independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. He Jin Geng and Ms. Chen
Yang and one executive Director, namely Mr. XU Xiao Jun. The
Remuneration Committee comprises a majority of independent non-
executive Directors that brings an independent and objective view
to the remuneration packages of the executive Directors and Senior
Management of the Company to provide a significant degree of
protection to the shareholders. No director involved in deciding his/
her own remuneration.

During the financial year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the
remuneration packages of the Directors and the Senior Management,
including discretionary bonus, which were based on individual
performance, skill and knowledge, involvement in the Group’s affairs
and performance and profitability of the Group.

CHINAINFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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The Remuneration Committee determines the specific remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and Senior Management,
including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments; and makes recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors. The responsibilities of the
Remuneration Committee are described in the terms of reference
adopted. Details of the remunerations of the Directors are shown on
pages 124 to 125 of this annual report. The Remuneration Committee
had met once during the financial year and the attendance of
individual member is recorded as below.

Attendance Record of Remuneration Committee Meeting
(1 January 2017 — 31 December 2017)
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Attendance
Attendance Rate
HE R HER
Number of remuneration FNEEEERERE
committee meeting 1
Members #E
Independent Non-executive Directors HUIHITEE
YU Hong Gao (Chairman) Balm (F/E) 1/1 100%
HE Jin Geng I Bk 1/1 100%
CHEN Yang PeR = 11 100%
Executive Director HITEE
YE De Chao (resigned on 31 July 2017)  ¥&E@ (R=F—+F+tA=1+—HET) 1/1 100%
XU Xiao Jun (appointed on 31 July 2017)  #%/ME (R=ZT—+F+A=1+—HEZT) 0/0 N/A7iE
= = =
NOMINATION COMMITTEE REZEE

As at 31 December 2017, the members of the Nomination Committee
included three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. He
Jin Geng, Mr. Yu Hong Gao and Ms. Chen Yang with Mr. Xu Xiao Jun,
an executive Director, as the Committee Chairman.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for making recommendations
to the Board for its approval on the appointment of the Directors,
evaluation of board composition and the management of board
succession with reference to certain guidelines as endorsed by the
Nomination Committee. These guidelines take account of appropriate
industry experience, professional ethics and knowledge, personal
skills and time commitments of members.
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The Nomination Committee carries out the process of selecting
and recommending candidates for directorship including the
consideration of referrals and engagement of external recruitment
professionals when necessary. The Chairman of the Nomination
Committee, in consultation with the person responsible for human
resources and the secretary of the Nomination Committee, should
be primarily responsible for drawing up and approving the agenda
for each Nomination Committee meeting. Potential candidates are
then considered at the Nomination Committee meetings based on
their experience, professional qualifications and their expected
remuneration packages. The Nomination Committee held two
meetings during the financial year and the attendance of individual
member is recorded as below.

Attendance Record of Nomination Committee Meetings (1 January
2017 — 31 December 2017)

REZESETHEREBETAEZE
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BHZHFMETEHAEMBEREAFELE
B REZBENAMBFERETTRR
g 1129 = Pt el et~ o N N

REZEEERCHERR (22 —tF—
A—REZZ—tH+-A=+—H)

Attendance
Attendance Rate
HERE HE=
Number of nomination REZESEBRE
committee meetings 2
Members o=
Independent Non-executive Directors HUIHNTEE
HE Jin Geng I Bk 2/2 100%
YU Hong Gao B4l 2/2 100%
CHEN Yang BR*F 2/2 100%
Executive Director HITEE
YE De Chao (Chairman) EEB (FE) 2/2 100%
(resigned on 31 July 2017) (RZE—tFEA=1+—HFE)
XU Xiao Jun (Chairman) wINE (£R) 1/1 100%

(appointed on 31 July 2017)

(R—ZT—tFtA=T—HEZE)

The Nomination Committee completed the following work in 2017:

(1) Reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Board;

(2) Made recommendations to the Board on the re-election of
directors retiring at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 23 June 2017; and

(83) Recommended the appointment of the new Chairman of the
Company to the Board for approval.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee reviews the Company’s financial reports,
internal controls and corporate governance issues, appointment of
external auditors and review their independency and makes relevant
recommendations to the Board. The written terms of reference which
describes the authority and duties of the Audit Committee has been
prepared and adopted with reference to “A Guide for The Formation
of An Audit Committee” and “A Guide for Effective Audit Committee”
published by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
and amended in accordance with the CG Code.

As at 31 December 2017, all the committee members were
independent non-executive Directors and one of whom possesses
appropriate professional qualifications, accounting or related financial
management expertise. The Chairman of the Audit Committee, Mr.
He Jin Geng, is a qualified accountant and has the relevant financial
experience. Other members were Mr. Yu Hong Gao and Ms. Chen
Yang. None of the Audit Committee members were members of the
former or existing auditors of the Company.

The Audit Committee held 3 meetings during the financial year and
the attendance of individual member is recorded as below. During the
meetings, the Audit Committee reviewed the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group, the interim and annual reports
of the Group and discussed with the external auditors on auditing,
internal control and financial reporting matters.

Attendance Record of Audit Committee Meetings (1 January 2017
— 31 December 2017)

EREES
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BT - H2RELGMASRMZ (K
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Attendance
Attendance Rate
HERE HE =
Number of audit committee meetings BREESEE I 3
Members HE
Independent Non-executive Directors HUHNTEE
HE Jin Geng (Chairman) ek (F/E) 3/3 100%
YU Hong Gao B4T= 3/3 100%
CHEN Yang BRF 3/3 100%
FEEEZREFRAT
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2017, the Corporate Governance Committee
consisted of four members, namely Mr. He Jin Geng, Mr. Yu Hong
Gao and Ms. Chen Yang, all being independent non-executive
Directors and Mr. Xu Xiao Jun, being an executive Director. Mr. Xu
Xiao Jun was the Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee.

The Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for, including
but not limited to, developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and making recommendations
to the Board, reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and Senior Management
of the Company, reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct applicable
to the employees and the Directors of the Company, and reviewing
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.

The Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee should be
primarily responsible for drawing up and approving the agenda for
each Corporate Governance Committee meeting and ensure that
all members of the Corporate Governance Committee should have
sufficient information in a timely manner to enable effective discussion
at the Corporate Governance Committee meeting. The Chairman
should also brief all members on issues arising at each Corporate
Governance Committee meeting. The Corporate Governance
Committee held one meeting during the financial year and the
attendance of individual member is recorded as below. During the
meeting, the Corporate Governance Committee reviewed the training
and continuous professional development of the Directors and Senior
Management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements and the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report of this annual report.
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Attendance Record of Corporate Governance Committee Meetings GXERZEGER2HERH (22—t
(1 January 2017 — 31 December 2017) F—A—HE=ZE—+tH+=-H=+—A1)
Attendance
Attendance Rate
HERE HEE
Number of corporate governance TEERZESERRH
committee meetings 1
Members HE
Independent Non-executive Directors BUIFHITEE
HE Jin Geng Al Bk 1/1 100%
YU Hong Gao B4l = 1/1 100%
CHEN Yang B 1/1 100%
Executive Director HITEF
XU Xiao Jun (Chairman) BME (/) 1/1 100%

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the audit fees and non-
audit fees payable/paid to the external auditors of the Group were
HK$1,960,000 (2016: HK$1,200,000) and nil (2016: nil) respectively.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors aim to present the consolidated financial statements
of the Group in accordance with the statutory requirements
and applicable accounting standards. The Directors ensure the
publication of consolidated financial statements of the Group in
a timely manner that the final and interim results of the Group are
announced within the three months and two months limit respectively
after the end of the relevant periods prescribed under the Listing
Rules.
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The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2017 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee and
audited by the external auditors, Centurion ZD CPA Limited.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group and presenting a
balanced, clear and comprehensive assessment of the Group’s
performance and prospects. They are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern.
The Statement of the Auditors about their reporting responsibilities on
the consolidated financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is overall responsible for evaluating and determining the
nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Group’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Group established
and maintained appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems.

The Audit Committee reviews the risk management and internal
controls that are significant to the Group on an on-going basis.
The Audit Committee would consider the adequacy of resource,
qualifications and experience and training of staff and external
advisor of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting function.

The management of the Group is responsible for designing,
maintaining, implementing and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control system to ensure adequate control in place to
safeguard the Group’s assets and stakeholder’s interest.

The Group has established risk management procedures to address
and handle all the significant risks associated with the business of
the Group. The Board would perform annual review on any significant
change of the business environment and establish procedures to
respond to the risks resulted from significant change of business
environment. The risk management and internal control systems are
designed to mitigate the potential losses of the business.
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The management would identify the risks associated with the
business of the Group by considering both internal and external
factors and events which include political, economic, technology,
environmental, social and staff. Each of the risks has been assessed
and prioritised based on their relevant impact and occurrence
opportunity. The relevant risk management strategy would be applied
to each type of risks according to the assessment results. Type of risk
management strategy has been listed as follow:

— Risk retention and reduction: accept the impact of risk or
undertake actions by the Group to reduce the impact of the
risks;

— Risk avoidance: change business process or objective so as to
avoid the risk;

— Risk sharing and diversification: diversify the effect of the risk or
allocate to different location or product or market; and

— Risk transfer: transfer ownership and liability to a third party

The internal control systems are designed and implemented to
reduce the risks associated with the business accepted by the Group
and minimise the adverse impact results from the risks. The risk
management and internal control system are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2017, the Group has
engaged an external advisory firm to undertake the internal audit
function to ensure the effectiveness and efficiency of the risk
management and internal control system of the Group. There is no
significant deficiency and weakness on the internal control system
being identified by the external advisory firm for the year ended 31
December 2017.

The Board considered that, for the year ended 31 December 2017,
the risk management and internal control system and procedures
of the Group, covering all material controls including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions
were reasonably effective and adequate.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

As at 31 December 2017, the company secretary of the Company, Mr.
Tso Ping Cheong Brian, fulfills the requirement under Rules 3.28 and
3.29 of the Listing Rules. During the year ended 31 December 2017,
Mr. Tso has duly complied with the relevant professional training
requirement and he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training to update his skills and knowledge.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE
AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

In accordance with Article 57 of the articles of association of the
Company, an extraordinary general meeting shall be convened on
the written requisition of any 2 or more members holding at the date
of the deposit of the requisition in aggregate not less than 25 per
cent of such of the paid up capital of the Company as at the date
of the deposit carries the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company. Such requisition must state the objects of the meeting and
must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the office. If
the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of
such requisition proceed duly to convene an extraordinary general
meeting, the requisitionists themselves may convene the extraordinary
general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as
that in which meetings may be convened by the Directors, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a result of the
failure of the Directors to convene such a meeting shall be reimbursed
to them by the Company.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD ANY
SHAREHOLDERS  ENQUIRIES OR PROPOSALS TO
THE BOARD

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries or proposals to the
Board/Company Secretary by email: hkoffice@china-infrastructure.com,
by fax: (852) 2698 8188, or by mail to Suite 607, 6th Floor, Ocean
Centre, 5 Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general
meetings of the Company.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
Annual Report 2017

ATRE

RZZE—+F+-_A=+—8 AR2aHQ
AIWEEMESLEME EMHRAIE3.28 &K
FI329(MER - REEZZT—EF+=A
=+—HILtFE  BAAEEZRETIHEHER
EBZJEK - WEEZ T DR+ AE/EE
A S A ST R aE AR o

IR ERER
BRERGHRRIGEIAE 27

RBEARRZHEBBIZAMANEST R £IR
E2BREARBEATIRARFNIERERE
BRSZ - +tHENBERAE (MAEEARE
R K& ERFRORKE) MERIMRA A LK
REMEXNBERT  BARKRRRFHAK
g RBERKWAEARGZBR  WHAMIE
2ERALRZBNERERER - WEEREZ
ZERAHR21ARN  EERBEXAH
BRERFRIRE @ BIE2BRALAIBITAR
AR EEeAMERNER T A ARK
RERIRE  MEEBRKATREFSARE
BHZAEMABNMBEABERXAHRAR
AR ZRALEN -

KRR EFESFH EHESZ
B

RRAEREBATHFABEERANE
BRRGESTS /LAWE: REBZE
hkoffice@china-infrastructure.com * S{EEX
Z(852) 2698 8188 * HMEEH B NEEL
DIBERBSFEFP L6607 E ©

BRIFAEARAZBRAE LRAEFEE
HEH



Corporate Governance Report
GREREE

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company continues to pursue a proactive policy of promoting
corporate transparency and communications with the shareholders,
potential investors and investment community through its mandatory
interim and final reports. The Senior Management responsible
for investor relations holds meetings with press reporters and
potential strategic investors to keep them abreast of the Company’s
development.

During the year under review, there were no changes in the articles of
association of the Company (“Articles of Association”). An up to date
version of the Articles of Association is available on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website. The shareholders may
refer to the Articles of Association for further details of their rights.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good communications with
all shareholders so that they can exercise their rights as shareholders
in an informed basis. Besides regular distribution of financial
reports, the Company has a corporate website to foster effective
communications with the shareholders. It is maintained to disseminate
Company’s announcements and presentations, shareholders’
information and other relevant financial and non-financial information
on a timely basis.

Another dialogue with shareholders is the Company’s general
meetings which provide a useful forum for shareholders to exchange
their views with the Board. The Company shall provide shareholders
with relevant information on the resolution(s) proposed at a general
meeting in a timely manner in accordance with the Listing Rules.
The information provided shall be reasonably necessary to enable
shareholders to make an informed decision on the proposed
resolution(s). Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general
meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at the meetings for
and on their behalf if they are unable to attend the meetings.

REERE

RRR—BERABBRESNBE - BEBEM
SR HI LR RS MR E IR A R RS
AAE RN AR « BEREERRERZ
BB ARREEMRNSREEEREH
BEENBERBREERITEE  EHF
TRWARBZ &HER -

EREFA - ARRABERAR ([EEE
B4R SEEEAEE) - ARERARINK
FThR AN AT FEZR 2 R 48 i Ko Bgp 52 P ut & B o
PRI A] 2 Z BT 2 AEUS B B EEN

B -
BRI

EEeRFAEIEBRRRT RN - UE
BEEARMBI AITEEFERRRZERNZ
B2t - BREHBMUBRESN  ARFR
BREMM - AR R R B RUEE - #
Skt 2 B SRR MESRHAARRQ
MR - BERE R R H A AR R 75 S SE A

ARBNBERAE RS —ERRREBZ
A ARSRREEZTERERREH—E
BERBFE - ARFIERRR EMRAKRE
K ABCRIEHIEBIR A S ERZZAIRER
MMHBEN  FIIRHANERAERTENE
£t B R R RERIEL AE
RTE ° ARRIHEIRZBIRAS HIER
ERHEAERZERRLFE RN S ERER

o

i

I~

TEREZREARLTF
“E-LEFR

27



28
3\

Corporate Governance Report

Al "‘-"—\\Ai
fl= 'E_'/l:l#&%

The Company held totally 2 general meetings during the financial ~ RAARBMEFER - A QG HBITRAREKR
year and the attendance of individual director is recorded as follows: g ERES 2 HFEsENT

Attendance Record of General Meetings (1 January 2017 - 31 BREASZHER®E (ZFT—+tF—HF—H

December 2017) BE-E—tF+=A=+—H)
Extraordinary Annual
General General

Meeting held on Meeting held on
6 February 2017 23 June 2017
R=Z—+tF R-ZF—+HF
—AXH ARAZt+=H
BITHRR BITHRR

BRIAE BERE
Executive Directors HITEE
XU Xiao Jun (Chairman and WNE (LEFTBAES) v v/
Chief Executive Officer)
(redesignated on 31 July 2017) (R=ZE—+tF+A=1+—HET)
(Chief Executive Officer) (7TB4E%)
YE De Chao (Chairman) XER (£E) 4 4
(resigned as Chairman on 31 July 2017) (RZZT—+F+tH=T—HFEEE)
JI Xu Dong ZFRE v/ v/
Independent Non-executive Directors B UIHITEE
HE Jin Geng A& Bk v/ v
YU Hong Gao B4l v/ v
CHEN Yang bR v/ v/
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIE - HERERTRE

INTRODUCTION AND SCOPE OF
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Environmental, Social and Governance “ESG” report is prepared
with accordance to Appendix 27 Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) set out in
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited. The Board has reviewed and approved the
report and is pleased to present our performance and progress on
environmental, social and governance areas for the year ended 31
December 2017.

The ESG report of the Group has been presented into two subject
areas, Environmental and Social and each subject area will have
various aspects to disclose the relevant policies and the status of
compliance with relevant laws and regulations as addressed by the
ESG Reporting Guide.

The Group understands the importance of ESG report and is
committed to making continuous improvements in corporate social
responsibility into our business in order to better meet the changing
needs of an advancing society. The ESG report of the Group will
present mainly policies, initiatives and performance. The following will
show the ESG issues that are found material for the Group and the
relation to the ESG Reporting Guide:
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ESG Guide

RIE HERERMEES

A. Environmental

A.1 Emissions

A1 BEHRY

A.2 Use of resources

A2 ERER

A.3 Environmental and natural resources
A3 BERRXRER

Relevant ESG issues to the Group
HEAKEHEBNRE HERELAEE

A. BB

Carbon dioxide emission and waste management
—RUbLIRBER R EE Y E R

Energy and water consumption

BEIRME A K A7k

Measures in reducing environmental impact
MR ENET
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RIB - g RERMmE

ESG Guide

BRI - HERERRERES

B. Social

B.1 Employment

B.1 {&Ef®

B.2 Health and safety

B2 REHEZZ

B.3 Development and training
B.3 BERIEII

B.4 Labour standards

B.4 % T %R

B.5 Supply chain management
B.5 HEEERE

B.6 Product responsibility
B.6 EmE

B.7 Anti-corruption

B.7 RES

B.8 Community investment
B.8 #HERE

THE GROUP

The Group is primarily an investment holding company and its
investment portfolio includes (i) property investments; and (ii) natural

gas business.

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

Relevant ESG issues to the Group
HASBEMEEANRE HERELRE
B. ##&

Labour practices

BIER

Workplace health and safety
TESMRRELZ S

Employee development and training
BB #EKIE

Child labour and forced labor

BT REHIST

Supplier management

HrEmEe

Product safety and quality
EmkrzhEE

Anti-corruption and money laundering
RERREEE

Community involvement

el

HEH

7 o

A RIE

AEES-—HIBREREERZAR K
BREMAABREI)MERE  R()RARE

The Group has established environmental policies and has
communicated measurable environmental objectives to
employees. The Group actively encourages staffs to protect the
environment through training, education and communication.

The Group always keeps itself up-to-date on developments in
local legislation and standards for environmental protection.
During the reporting period, the Group did not experience any
cases of non-compliance relating to environmental laws and
regulations in PRC and Hong Kong.
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RIE - HERERIRS

A1 HERYD

A.1 Emissions

The Group has conducted regular assessments on the air
and greenhouse gas emission, as well as the generation
and disposal of non-hazardous waste. Relevant
departments are required to collect and analyse relevant
data and take specific measures to reduce emissions.

Carbon dioxide and waste management

The major source of carbon dioxide emissions is from the
use of energy. The Group has established various energy
saving initiatives to the carbon footprint. (refer to A.2)

The waste management from the Group’s business
activities mainly consists of office paper during the
reporting period. No substantial hazardous waste was
produced by the Group during the Reporting period. The
Group has launched a number of waste management
programme, including:

° Recycling of paper materials, printing cartridges and
batteries;

° To encourage staff to mitigate paper consumption by
double-sided printing and reusing paper printed on
one side.

The Group is governed by, and has complied with, the
Environmental Protection of the People’s Republic of China
Prevention {FF#E A R L MBIRIZIREL) . The Group does
not generate significant air emission or hazardous waste.

Our greenhouse gases emissions are indirect, principally
resulting from electricity consumed at the Group’s
workplace as well as from business travel by employees.
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During the year ended 31 December 2017, air emission
for Nitrogen Oxides (“NOx”), Sulphur Oxides (“SOX”) and
respiratory suspended particles (“RSP”, also known as
Particulate Matter (“PM”)) were about 361g, 7g and 27g
respectively, which were mainly generated from using of
motor vehicles.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the main
sources of the Group’s greenhouse gas emissions
were derived from direct emission from the stationary
combustion sources and the mobile combustion sources
(“Scope 1"), indirect emission from purchased electricity
(“Scope 2”) and other indirect emissions from electricity
used for processing water and business travel (“Scope
3”). The total greenhouse gases emissions for the Scope
1, Scope 2 and Scope 3 during the year ended 31
December 2017 were about 1,287 kg, 84,213 kg and 1,837
kg, respectively.

Use of resources

Energy and water consumption

With the vision of helping to protect the planet and of
incorporating environmental sustainability into its business
functions and processes, the Group proactively seeks
opportunities for increasing operating efficiency in order to
minimize the use of resources.

The resources used by the Group are principally attributed
to electricity and water consumed at its office. We would
perform regular assessments of use of resources.

The Group has adopted green office practices to
reduce natural resource consumption and the impact
on the environment. For instance, offices are equipped
teleconference and internet-meeting practices are
encouraged to avoid unnecessary travel.

CHINAINFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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To achieve higher energy efficiency, the Group
implemented the following key initiatives during the
Reporting Period:

° To switch off lights and air-conditioning in the
meeting room and computers at work stations where
not in use

o To select the best configuration for air-conditioning
control programme, based on in-door requirement
and out-door condition.

The total amount of use of energy of the Group was
insubstantial since all energy resources are consumed for
the offices’ operation.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group’s
total electricity consumption and total water consumption
were approximately 95,207 kwh and 651 tonnes,
respectively.

Environmental and natural resources

Measures in reducing environmental impact

The Group mainly involves in trading business and does
not involve in any business that has substantial impact on
the environment or involve in any significant consumption
of natural resource.

B. SOCIAL

The Group believes that one of the key aspects of its success

is the good relationship it maintains with employees. The Group

provides competitive employee benefits and comprehensive

training programmes in order to encourage employees to
achieve their potential and put their abilities to good use.
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B.1 Employment

Labour practices

The Group provides a number of staff activities to enhance
employees’ sense of belonging and to help create a
friendly working environment.

The Group’s practices and policies with respect to:

° compensation and dismissal;
° recruitment and promotion;

° working hours;

° rest periods;

° equal opportunities;

° diversity;

° anti-discrimination; and

° welfare and other benefits,

which have complied with Labor Law of the People’s
Republic of China {(#ZE AR XFMEI L E))E), Labor
Contract Law of People’s Republic of China {1 #E A R0
B4 84 [A)%) and other relevant laws and regulations.

The Group also aims to promote the diversity of workforce,
including in terms of age, gender and nationality, as well
as culture of equal opportunity. The management would
frequently review the Group’s remuneration policy in
relation to relevant market standards.

The Group’s employees work under a 40-hour standard
per week and it maintains a holiday policy and travel
policy, as well as annual vacation leave, compensation
leave, maternity leave, personal leave and sick leave.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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Health and Safety

Workplace health and safety

The health and safety of employees have always been
the Group’s priority. The Group has established a set of
policies which focused on keeping a safe and healthy
workplace, including the following requirements:

° Relevant training and knowledge have been provided
to employees in respect to risks associated with the
construction.

° The warning wording has been posted into the obvious
area of the construction site to emphasize the health
and safety practice

With respect to occupational safety management, the
Group has complied with all the corresponding local and
Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China {##E A R £
B4 8% ) of occupational safety and health. Workplace
is equipped with fire and safety equipment to prevent
outbreak of fire accident and the validity of the fire facilities
have been regularly checked. During the year, the Group
has reported zero work-related fatalities and work injuries.

Development and Training

Employee development and training

The Group has always believed that people development
plays the fundamental role in placing a solid ground for
business growth. The Group aims to regularly upgrade
staffs’ professional skills and knowledge, standards and
integrated abilities. The Group also motivates employees’
job enthusiasm and welcome challenges, thereby creating
greater corporate value and future development.

The Group has various training programmes, internal and
external, to fully develop its workforce. New employees
are also provided with on-boarding training to help faster
adapt to the operations of the Group.
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B.4 Labour Standards

Child labour and forced labor

It is always the Group’s policy to prohibit to employ any
staffs who has under the legal working age for protecting

minors.
Insurance and work security packages:

Hong Kong

5B

Mandatory Provident Fund (MPF)
BEMEAES (RES)

Medical Insurance

BRRRE

Performance Bonus

BAEAL

Severance Payment/Long Service Payment

ERE RERES
Maternity/Paternity Leave with Pay

BHER HER

Employment Compensation Insurance

ETREHET

AEE-—ERBEBELEAR
AT TEFERABMEE - A
RAERKEFA e

REg K TIERERF

PRC

HEl

Medical Insurance
EERR

Unemployment Insurance
KERR

Work-related Injury Insurance
TERR

Childbirth Insurance
EERRE

Hosing Accumulation Funds
FEAER

Health and Safety Endowment Insurance

EREEERR

2T 2B ERE

The labour standards may vary in different jurisdictions
that the group has operated and the Group complies with
the relevant labour standards of Labour Contract Law of
the People’s Republic of China (REAREFELEHE
[FlJ£) for the year ended 31 December 2017. There is a
strict recruitment procedure through Human Resource
Department and upon discovery of any child labour
and use of forced labour, the person will be dismissed
immediately and the Board will discuss and review the
problem to prevent it from happening again. For the year
ended 31 December 2017, there is no labour dispute
between the company and its staff.
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Supply Chain Management

Supplier management

The Group has business of trading of construction
materials. During the year ended 31 December 2017, The
Group has carefully selected its suppliers for providing the
natural gas related products to ensure the quality of the
products. The Group has established policy to maintain
long term relationship with the major supplier.

Product Responsibility

Product safety and quality

The group complies with various PRC regulations relevant
to the operation the operation of its business in areas,
such as health and safety, advertising, privacy matter
relating to its customers and services.

To ensure the health and safety of patrons and employees
of the property in the construction and operation, the
building of the Group would be tested and repaired to
ensure the property’s quality.

The Group strictly complies with the Advertising Law of the
People’s Republic of China and requires related parties to
do likewise in the advertising contract.

The Group’s employees are obligated to retain in
confidence any and all information obtained in connection
with their employment, including, but not limited to,
trade secrets, client information and other proprietary
information.
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Anti-Corruption

Anti-corruption and money laundering

The Group upholds a high standard of business integrity
throughout its operations. A system with good moral
integrity and anti-corruption mechanism is the cornerstone
for the sustainable and healthy development of the Group.

With compliance with relevant laws and regulations of
Criminal law of the People’s Republic of China {(FFZEAR
H F0 B i 3%) and the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the
People’s Republic of China {FZE A REFER N IEEFHF
7%, the Group also has policy to ensure compliance with
guideline on anti-money laundering and counter terrorist
financing. For the year ended 31 December 2017, such
events have never happened in the Group.

Community investment

Community involvement

The Group has contributed its part to build more
environmentally friendly energy infrastructure. The Group
would also seek opportunities to contribute to the social
community in the coming future.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. XU Xiao Jun, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, aged 39, has
been appointed as an executive Director of the Company on 2 August
2012. Mr. Xu has taken up the role as the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company effective from 9 March 2015. Mr. Xu was appointed as
the Chairman of the Company on 31 July 2017. Mr. Xu is the executive
deputy general manager and legal representative of F R I EMA&AE
EXABR A (Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property Company Limited*).
Mr. Xu served as the deputy general manager and the director of the
office of R B F|REHEM BB A E (Nanjing Wanlilai Real Estate
Development Company Limited*) during the periods from 2002 to
2009 and from 2000 to 2002 respectively. Save as being a colleague
of Mr. Ye De Chao, an executive Director of the Company at IR
FMAREEABR AR (Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property Company
Limited*) and formerly at FREFIREHERIZEFRAE (Nanjing
Wanlilai Real Estate Development Company Limited*), Mr. Xu is not
connected with any other directors, senior management or substantial
or controlling shareholders of the Company. Mr. Xu is a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. YE De Chao, aged 57, joined the Group as an Executive Director
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 17 January 2012.
Mr. Ye was appointed as the Vice Chairman of the Company since 1
August 2012 and was then redesignated as the Acting Chairman of
the Company on 18 January 2013. Mr. Ye has been appointed as the
Chairman of the Company on 28 February 2013. Mr. Ye has resigned
as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company but continued to serve
as the Chairman of the Company effective from 9 March 2015. Mr.
Ye has resigned as the Chairman of the Company but continued to
serve as an executive director of the Company with effect from 31
July 2017. Mr. Ye is also the chairman of FREMBERIBEXARA
7] (Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property Company Limited*) which is an
associated company of the Company, and the chairman of FIR &
FREERZE AR AT (Nanjing Wanlilai Real Estate Development
Company Limited*). Mr. Ye has over 20 years of experiences in
business operation and management. Mr. Ye was an electric engineer
of I AR AMBEER HEEK B REK D BHENEME (Electric
Technology Department, Nanjing Railway Sub-administration,
Shanghai Railway Bureau, The Ministry of Railways of The People’s
Republic of China*). He obtained an undergraduate diploma from
Southeast University in July 1992 and an EMBA from Cheung Kong
Graduate School of Business, which is located in Beijing, the People’s
Republic of China, in September 2011. Mr. Ye is a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company.
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Mr. JI Xu Dong, aged 53, has been appointed as an executive
Director of the Company on 2 August 2012. Mr. Ji has studied the
course in International Trade at Nanjing University. Mr. Ji has also
attended the International Financial Investment Programme of
Shanghai Jiao Tong University. Mr. Ji is the director and general
manager of R g KLRIRmEEFR AR (Nanjing Vegetable and
Non-staple Food Group Company Limited*). He previously served
as vice general manager of RMEHERREEBA LT (Nanjing
Vegetable and Non-staple Food Group*). Mr. Ji has obtained the
independent director authentication from the Shanghai National
Accounting Institute. Mr. Ji is a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, no executive Directors of the Company
have held any other directorships in listed public companies in
the last three years and none of them are connected with any
other directors, senior management or substantial or controlling
shareholders of the Company.

There is currently no director service contract between the Company
and any executive Director. There is no specific term in respect of
their respective appointment, but subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years at the annual general meetings of
the Company. The executive Directors are not entitled to director’s
fee but will be entitled to discretionary bonus to be decided by the
Board based on their contributions, the Company’s annual business
performance and the recommendation given by the Remuneration
Committee of the Board. Details of directors’ remuneration in 2017 are
set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

CHINAINFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. HE Jin Geng, aged 48, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 1 August 2012. Mr. He
holds a Doctorate Degree in Politics and Economics from Nanjing
University. Mr. He currently serves as the general manager of F 5/
BEEI A BB AMR AT (Nanjing South Hospital Medical Investment
Management Company Limited*). He previously served as a director
and president of FAR 2 &% 5 BFR A 7] (Nanjing Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd*) and as secretary of #1T%& =PI~ &EZ (Youth League
of Liuao District of Sanmen County of Zhejiang Province*), and also
served different posts in FR¥FEREHERM AR AT (Nanjing Xin
Gang High-Tech Co., Ltd*), including deputy director of the office,
secretary of the board of directors and deputy general manager.
Mr. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants.

Mr. YU Hong Gao, aged 55, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 1 August 2012. Mr. Yu
graduated from Nanjing University of Science and Technology
and holds a Doctorate Degree. Mr. Yu previously served as
deputy general manager of the Department of Entrusted Assets
Management, general manager of Asset Management Department
and general manager of Securities Investment Department of ZEZ=
BERDBMR A7) (Huatai Securities Co., Ltd.*), deputy manager of
the Investment Department of JT &% B EEE = ¥ TR I E 2 F]
(Jiangsu High-Tech Capital Venture Co., Ltd. of the Department of
Finance of Jiangsu Province*), deputy head of F{ZR1TR RO TTH
P17 (Chengxi Sub-branch of China Citic Bank Nanjing Branch*),
deputy general manager of Securities Investment Head Office and
general manager of Assets Management Head Office of {2 =& 5%
DA AT (Xin Tai Securities Co., Ltd.*).
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Ms. CHEN Yang, aged 44, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 5 September 2014. Ms.
Chen graduated from Southeast University and holds a master
degree. Ms. Chen currently serves as deputy general manager of
Nanjing Yulan Road Branch of Dongguan Securities Co., Ltd.* (B3
AEHEBREEARIEREMIKAL S 2 550). She previously served as
sales director of Nanjing Hongwu South Road Branch of Dongxing
Securities Co., Ltd.* (B EHE AR5 B R A &) 5 s AL R B B AE 5 32 56),
marketing manager of Nanjing Hanzhong Road Branch of Xiangcai
Securities Co., Ltd.* (HEEHED AR AR A ER KA L % 26)
and customer relationship manager of Nanjing Pacific South Road
Branch of Guotai Junan Securities Co., Ltd.* (BIZRE ZiFA KD ER
NEIFRK T BT %)

Save as disclosed above, no independent non-executive Director
of the Company has held any other directorships in listed public
companies in the last three years or is otherwise connected with
any other directors, senior management or substantial or controlling
shareholders of the Company.

There is currently no director service contract between the Company
and each of the independent non-executive Directors of the Company.
There is no specific term in respect of their respective appointment,
but subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years
at the annual general meetings of the Company. Mr. He, Mr. Yu and
Ms. Chen received director’s fee of HK$120,000, HK$120,000 and
HK$120,000, respectively, in 2017.

* The English translation of the Chinese name(s), where indicated, is
included for information purpose only, and should not be regarded as
the official English name(s) of such Chinese name(s).
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEWME

The Directors submit herewith their annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is primarily an investment holding company and its
investment portfolio includes (i) property investments; and (ii) natural
gas businesses.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group during the year and the
probable future business development of the Group are set out in
the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. A discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year and the
financial key performance indicators is set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. The
financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are
set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements of the
Group. In addition, the environmental policies and performance,
compliance with relevant laws and regulations and the Group’s
relationship with its employees are disclosed in the section headed
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
Business Risks

The Group’s business risk factors include changes in the overall
market conditions, downward pressure on China’s economy and
change of government policies in China. The Board is responsible for
overall business management and review of major business decisions
involving disclosure of significant risks from time to time.

Financial Risks

The Group has adopted a series of financial risk management policies
to manage its liquidity risk, credit term allocation risk, financing
structure risk, interest rate risk and exchange rate risk. The Board
also reviews the Group’s management accounts, capital structure and
key operational data on a monthly basis.
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Compliance Risks

The Board takes effective measures to ensure compliance of the
Company with the laws, regulations and rules. The Company has
engaged professional consultants and advisors to keep the Company
updated on the latest changes in the regulatory environment,
including legal, financial, environmental and operational development.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate revenue attributable to the Group’s largest
customer and five largest customers taken together accounted for
approximately 47% and 96% respectively of the Group’s total revenue
for the year.

The aggregate cost of sales attributable to the Group’s largest
supplier and five largest suppliers taken together accounted for
approximately 47% and 99% respectively of the Group’s total cost of
sales for the year.

Save otherwise disclosed, at no time during the year have the
Directors, their associates or any shareholder of the Company
(which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) had any interest in these major customers
and suppliers.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the past five financial years is set out on page 186 of this annual
report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 69 to 70 of this annual report.

The state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2017 are set out in
the consolidated statement of financial position on pages 71 to 72 of
this annual report.

The board of directors does not recommend the payment of a
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2017.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of significant changes in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Movements in share capital of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company'’s listed shares during the year ended
31 December 2017.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company'’s subsidiaries are set out in note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

Particulars of interest-bearing borrowings as at 31 December 2017
are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefits scheme of the Group are set out in
note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance and has complied throughout the year with the Corporate
Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”), except for the deviation of code provisions A.2.1 and
A

Further information on the Company’s corporate governance
practices is set out in the Corporate Governance Report of this annual
report.

DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the year and at the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Xu Xiao Jun, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(redesignated on 31 July 2017)

Mr. Ye De Chao, Chairman
(resigned as Chairman on 31 July 2017)

Mr. Ji Xu Dong

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. He Jin Geng

Mr. Yu Hong Gao

Ms. Chen Yang

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Xu Xiao Jun, Mr. Ye De Chao and Mr. Ji Xu Dong shall
retire from the Board at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The term of office of each non-executive Director is the period up
to his/her retirement by rotation in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors had any existing or propose service contract
with the Company or any member of the Group which is not expiring
or terminable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2017, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”)) which (a) were required to be notified
to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), to
be entered in the register referred to therein; or (b) were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register
referred to therein; or (c) were required, pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange were as follows:
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LONG POSITION IN THE ORDINARY SHARES OF
HK$0.05 EACH ["SHARES”) OF THE COMPANY

KL 5] H1E 0.05 8 T2
ZER ([KR17]) 28

Number of Shares held

BEZROEE

% to the issued
Personal Corporate share capital of
Name of Director Interests Interests Total the Company
HARAH
ERITRA
EEnA EARERR AT R kS AL (%)
Mr. Ye De Chao ESEdbe —  1,189,290,512  1,189,290,512 27.85

(Note)

(B=E)
Mr. Ji Xu Dong ESIE S 6,000 6,000 0.00014
Note: These Shares were held by Legendary Base International Limited, a e : Z2ERMBEEBEXE2EEBZ

company which was wholly-owned by Mr. Ye De Chao. Hence, he was
deemed to have a beneficial interest in all these Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interest or
short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associate corporation (within the meaning of
the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including any interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 11 July 2008
(the “Share Option Scheme”). The purposes of the Share Option
Scheme are to enable the Group and its Invested Entities (any
entity in which any member of the Group holds an equity interest)
to recruit and retain high calibre Eligible Persons and attract human
resources that are valuable to the Group or Invested Entities, to
recognise the contributions of the Eligible Persons to the growth of
the Group or Invested Entities by rewarding them with opportunities
to obtain ownership interest in the Company and to motivate and give
incentives to these Eligible Persons to continue to contribute to the
long term success and prosperity of the Group or Invested Entities.
Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the Board may invite any
Eligible Person including any director and employee of the Company
to take up options to subscribe for shares of the Company. The Share
Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years.
No share options were outstanding nor granted during the year ended
31 December 2017.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2017, so far as is known to the Directors or chief
executive of the Company, the following persons (other than the
Directors or chief executive of the Company) had an interest or short
position in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:
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LONG POSITION IN THE ORDINARY SHARES REBIRZIE
% to the issued
Number of  share capital of
Name of shareholder Capacity Shares the Company
EARRAF
2EITRA
REEH BEEH RHEE B2 (%)
Central Huijin Investment Ltd. (Note 1) Interests of controlled 1,189,290,512 27.85
FRESIKEFGREETAR (FIEE1) corporation
R AR
China Construction Bank Corporation (Note 2) Interests of controlled 1,189,290,512 27.85
FEEFZIRITROD AR AR (F13E2) corporation
ST NE
Legendary Base International Limited (Note 3) Beneficial owner 1,189,290,512 27.85
Legendary Base International Limited (Bff3E 3) BE=mAA
Expert Ever Limited (Note 4) Beneficial owner 383,956,000 8.99
Expert Ever Limited (Ff{5£4) BE=EBA
Zhang Xiaojun (Note 4) Interests of controlled 383,956,000 8.99

REEE (FiIaE4)

Notes:

corporation
RrrE R

(1)  China Construction Bank Corporation was owned as to 57.26% by

Central Huijin Investment Ltd..

(2)  According to the disclosure of interest form filed by China Construction
Bank Corporation, China Construction Bank Corporation reported
interests because Prosper Talent Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of China Construction Bank Corporation, was reported to
have direct interests in the Shares. So far as the Company was aware
of, Prosper Talent Limited was a person having a security interest in the

Shares under a share pledge.

(3) Legendary Base International Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. Ye De
Chao, who is a director of both the Company and Legendary Base

International Limited.

(4)  Expert Ever Limited was wholly-owned by Zhang Xiaojun.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, no person (other
than Directors or chief executive of the Company) had an interest or a
short position in the Shares and underlying Shares as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336
of the SFO.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and Senior Management of the
Group are set out on pages 39 to 42 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

Except for the transactions as disclosed in notes 7 and 32 to the
consolidated financial statements, no other contracts of significance
to which the Company, its holding company or subsidiaries was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 27 September 2012, Keen Gate Developments Limited (“Keen
Gate”, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group), Mr. Ye De Chao (an
Executive Director and a substantial shareholder of the Company),
Modern Admission Group Limited, Mr. Lee Kai Choi and Forward
Investment (PRC) Company Limited (“Forward Investment”) had
entered into a subscription agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”)
in relation to the subscription of 40% equity interests in Forward
Investment by Keen Gate (the “Subscription”) at a consideration
of HK$300 million (the “Consideration”). The Subscription was
completed on 10 December 2012. Pursuant to the Subscription
Agreement, Mr. Ye De Chao, Modern Admission Group Limited
and Mr. Lee Kai Choi (collectively, the “Guarantors”) jointly and
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severally undertake to Keen Gate that the return to Keen Gate,
being the dividend receivable from the Group’s equity interests in
Forward Investment, shall not be less than 12% of the Consideration
per annum. In the event the return to Keen Gate falls below such
threshold, the Guarantors shall compensate Keen Gate on a dollar-
for-dollar basis (the “Return Undertaking”) in cash on or before 15
May of each calendar year.

The Return Undertaking of approximately HK$29,331,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2016 was paid by the Guarantors on 15 May
2017. In the opinion of the independent non-executive Directors (the
“INEDs”) of the Company, the Guarantors had fulfilled their obligations
under the guarantee for the year ended 31 December 2016.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, Forward Investment suffered
a loss and therefore would not be able to pay any dividends to
its shareholders, including Keen Gate. The Return Undertaking
for the year ended 31 December 2017 would be approximately
HK$36,000,000. The Guarantors shall compensate Keen Gate the
amount of approximately HK$36,000,000 on or before 15 May 2018.

As at the date of this annual report, the Guarantors have not
yet fulfilled their obligations under the guarantee by paying the
compensation of approximately HK$36,000,000 to Keen Gate.
Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement, the Guarantors shall
fulfill their obligations on or before 15 May 2018. The Directors of
the Company will closely monitor the status of the fulfilment of the
Guarantors’ obligations regarding the Return Undertaking and will
disclose to the public as when the Guarantors have fulfilled their
obligations or when the Guarantors fail to fulfill their obligations on or
before 15 May 2018 by publication of an announcement.

The INEDs of the Company had been informed that Forward
Investment suffered a loss and would not be able to pay any
dividends to Keen Gate for the year ended 31 December 2017.
The INEDs of the Company will closely monitor the status of the
fulfilment of the Guarantors’ obligations regarding the Return
Undertaking and will provide an opinion (the “INED Opinion”) on
whether the Guarantors had fulfilled their obligations under the
guarantee by compensating Keen Gate the amount of approximately
HK$36,000,000 on or before 15 May 2018 or not. The INED Opinion
will be disclosed in the Company’s next published annual report.

CHINAINFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
Annual Report 2017

(BNAREBERRMIEEFEE 2 IR 2 B
BE) BFEHTEIRREZ12% o WER
ZEERDRZ TR - BRABIRSEELER
BEFREATRBRZAAEEELRSHE
& ([EsREH]) -

ERAER-Z—EFRA+RBXAEZ
—E-RNF+ A=+ A LFEZ O
F#729,331,0008 7T © ANARIE IEHMITE
E([BUERTES]) RE - ERACRE
THEERBZE_Z—"F+-A=1+—HL
FEREREBETNZEME-

HE-_ZT—tF+-_A=+—HULFE  F
MILESRGEE - BB ReeRERRE (B
FER) REFRARE - BEZT—tF
TZ A=+ —HBLEFEZEREAHRSNR
36,000,000 7T - BERABR Z_Z—\FH
A+H Az RimEEREL 36,000,000 %
T o

HEARFHRAH - BRARKRAZEREL
36,000,000 B T ABI TR EREREBE T 28
- RIERBEHZE - BRAZBRZZ—N\F
FATHBHZABEITHEEZEE - AQFA]
EEPTYERERABRITEBRRARE
ERIER - RN ERATKEITRSEZE
F2RBHERATER-_Z—\FHRA+H
B2 RIBITHREC BEER « TI QSR
NREE o

RNARZBIUIERTESER - TNREH
BB+ F+-A=+—RHILFEEERSESE
B BReEmnEERMEARE - ARFEZ
BAUENTEEHERYERERABITE
BARRAEETNER WRERARS
R-ZE—N\FERA+HEHRZABITHS
2 FEIRE E R E 4 8 49.36,000,000 % 7T
EELFRHER (ZBYIFERTEEE
R o ZBUIERTESFTERBENALRT
T—RTBEOFEREPRE -



Directors’ Report

EFEWE

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”) presently
comprises three independent non-executive Directors. The Audit
Committee has reviewed with the management and the Company’s
external auditors the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and discussed auditing, internal control and financial
reporting process including the review of the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2017.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON THE
QUALIFIED OPINION

The Group had interests in an associate in respect of 49% equity
interests in Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy Investment Consulting
Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries (the “Associate”) which has been
classified as non-current assets held for sale since the Company
announced to disposal of the Associate on 20 March 2013
(“Disposal”). The Disposal was completed on 28 June 2017 (the “Date
of Disposal”).

Due to the fact that the directors of the Company were unable to
obtain sufficient financial information of the Associate since 1 July
2012, the directors of the Company were not be able to assess the
net assets value of the Associate as at 31 December 2012, 2013,
2014, 2015 and 2016 and the Date of Disposal and the Group’s share
of results of the Associate for each of the financial years ended 31
December 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015 and 2016 and for the financial
period from 1 January 2017 to the Date of Disposal. Therefore, the
directors of the Company measured the net assets value of the
Associate as at 31 December 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015 and 2016 and
the Date of Disposal based on the carrying amount of the Associate
brought forward since 1 July 2012. The gain on disposal of associates
for the year ended 31 December 2017 was calculated based on the
carrying amount of the Associate brought forward since 1 July 2012.

Based on the above reasons and there were no other satisfactory
audit procedures that the auditors of the Company could adopt to
satisfy themselves whether the net assets value of the Associate as
at the Date of Disposal and its opening balance, the Group’s share
of results of the Associate for the period from 1 January 2017 to the
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Date of Disposal and the gain on disposal of associates for the year
ended 31 December 2017 were free from material misstatements, the
auditors of the Company issued a qualified opinion (the “Qualified
Opinion”) on the Company’s financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2017.

The impacts on the Company’s financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2017 are as follows:

(a) Opening balance of the net assets value of the Associate (as at
31 December 2016) was overstated/understated by the actual
amount of the Group’s share of results of the Associate for the
period from 1 July 2012 to 31 December 2016;

(b) Share of results of associates for the year ended 31 December
2017 was overstated/understated by the actual amount of the
Group’s share of results of the Associate for the period from 1
January 2017 to the Date of Disposal;

(c) Net assets value of the Associate as at the Date of Disposal
was overstated/understated by the actual amount of the Group’s
share of results of the Associate for the period from 1 July 2012
to the Date of Disposal; and

(d) The gain on disposal of associates for the year ended 31
December 2017 was overstated/understated by the actual
amount of the Group’s share of results of the Associate for the
period from 1 July 2012 to the Date of Disposal.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, as the Company could
not obtain sufficient financial information of the Associate since 1 July
2012 and also could not find out methods to do any measurement or
valuation on the Associate and the share of results of the Associate
due to insufficient financial information of the Associate, the Company
could only use the latest financial information of the Associate
(updated to 30 June 2012) to measure the net assets value of the
Associate since 1 July 2012. The gain on disposal of associates for
the year ended 31 December 2017 could only be calculated based
on the carrying amount of the Associate brought forward since 1 July
2012.
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EFEWE

The directors of the Company agreed with the auditors of the
Company that they should issue Qualified Opinion as there were no
other satisfactory audit procedures that the auditors of the Company
could adopt to satisfy themselves whether the net assets value of
the Associate, the share of results of the Associate and the gain on
Disposal were free from material misstatements.

The Audit Committee has reviewed and agreed with the
management’s position concerning major judgmental areas as
mentioned above.

The Audit Committee had a discussion with the auditors of the
Company regarding the Qualified Opinion. The Audit Committee
asked the auditors of the Company about the basis for Qualified
Opinion. The auditors of the Company explained that as the
Company could not provide sufficient financial information of the
Associate since 1 July 2012 and there were no other satisfactory
audit procedures that the auditors of the Company could adopt to
satisfy themselves whether the net assets value of the Associate, the
share of results of the Associate and the gain on Disposal were free
from material misstatements, they should issue Qualified Opinion on
the Company’s financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2017.

The Audit Committee further asked the auditors of the Company
about how the Qualified Opinion could be removed this year. The
view of the auditors of the Company was that the Qualified Opinion
could only be removed this year provided that they are able to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the Associate since 1 July 2012 to the Date of Disposal.
The Audit Committee agreed with the auditors of the Company about
the issuance of the Qualified Opinion on the Company’s financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2017.

As the Disposal was completed during the year ended 31 December
2017, the Company expects that the Company’s financial statements
for the year ending 31 December 2018 would not be affected by
the Associate anymore and hence the audit modifications would be
expected to be removed in the Company’s next financial statements
ending 31 December 2018.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable
date prior to issue of this report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed amount of public float during the year and up to the date
of this report as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

On 11 January 2017, Elite Partners CPA Limited resigned as the
auditors of the Company as the Company could not reach a mutual
agreement with Elite Partners CPA Limited in respect of the audit fee
of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2016. The
appointment of Centurion ZD CPA Limited has been approved by the
Shareholders at an extraordinary general meeting held on 6 February
2017 to fill the casual vacancy.

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
Centurion ZD CPA Limited whose term of office will expire upon the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. A resolution
for the re-appointment of Centurion ZD CPA Limited as the auditors
of the Company for the subsequent year is to be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Xu Xiao Jun
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2018

CHINAINFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
Annual Report 2017

NRFRE

BARBIRAIARES 2 ERNRESAA -
RARETEA 2 &R AITTES - ARFR
FARBEARRE B —BEAER MR

HEEBBEZ AR E -

BB

R-ZF—tF—A+—B  BRARRHEFH
TUEREF M EBEMERARAREMAEE
BE_ZT-—RF+A=+—HLVREERE
ZEZERERAE  SATEREHEE
BRARAREEHEARE 2 ZHED - R1E
hEEEFMEFMARARER T~
FANBRITZERREIASG CERRM
JE AR BRI 22 R

FEMBRREHPEESTMEBAER
RAEZ - FRARANGET 2 RIBF
RE EEW » ARBHREEERITZBRE
FAGLRE-ARBRENELHELES
SR EBABRABBARBRE 2 2R
b -

REREFS

FE
R

78 —F-)\F=ZA=-1+NH



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS” REPORT

B A2 E RS

A

C7ZD HEXEaitmssmamas
> Centurion ZD CPA Limited

':Ij IEJ;%. Certified Public Accountants (Practising)

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE

SHAREHOLDERS OF

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Infrastructure Investment Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 69 to 185,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2017, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters
described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report,
the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2017,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

PRIOR YEAR'S AUDIT SCOPE LIMITATION
AFFECTING OPENING BALANCE AND
COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The auditor’s report on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 contained a qualified
opinion on the limitation on the audit scope in relation to non-current
assets held for sale. Details of which had been set out in the auditor’s
report dated 31 March 2017.

As the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2016 formed the basis for the corresponding
figures presented in the current year’'s consolidated financial
statements, any adjustments found to be necessary in respect of
the carrying amount of the non-current assets held for sale would
have a significant effect on the opening balances and consequential
effect on the results and the related disclosures for the year ended 31
December 2017.

SCOPE LIMITATION — GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF
ASSOCIATES

The Group had interests in an associate in respect of 49% equity
interests in Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy Investment Consulting
Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries (the “Associate”) which has been
classified as non-current assets held for sales since the Company
announced to disposal of the Associate on 20 March 2013
(“Disposal”).

The Disposal was completed on 28 June 2017. Gain on disposal
of associates of approximately HK$17,358,000 included in the
consolidated profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2017 was
based on the carrying amount at cost since 1 July 2012. As the Group
was unable to access to obtain sufficient financial information of the
Associate since 1 July 2012 and there were no other satisfactory
audit procedure that we could adopt to satisfy ourselves whether the
net assets value of the Associate as at date of Disposal, the Group’s
share of results of associates for the period up to the date of Disposal
and gain on disposal of associates of approximately HK$17,358,000
for the year ended 31 December 2017 were free from material
misstatements.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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Any adjustment to the above figures might have a significant
consequential effect on the results and cash flows for the year ended
31 December 2017 and related disclosure thereof in the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2017.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified audit
opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matter

BREZER

Accounting for assets acquisition by way of acquisition
of a subsidiary

The Group has acquired assets and liabilities by way of
acquisition of 60% equity interest in Tianjin Hui Li Yuan
Power Equipment Company Limited at a consideration
of approximately HK$82,096,000 (equivalent to
RMB69,000,000) as disclosed in note 29 (A).
EREFBIIERXEENIRE N REER A F60% 2K
rEDWBEERAE  ER482,096,000% T (18
B AR 69,000,000 7T) (HEERHIFE 29(A)) ©

HKFRS 3 Business Combinations requires the Group
to distinguish whether the acquisition is a business
combination or an assets acquisition.
ERMBREEANEIREBAHER EEERDNK
BEERABEEBAHAR-BEEKE -

We identified that the accounting for assets acquisition
by way of acquisition of a subsidiary as a key audit
matter due to its potential significance to the consolidated
financial statements.

EERFEANE —FNBARETEERE @t EE
HESEREZER RAR/HEURHGEAMBHRRE
HEBEATE -
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EECERNMEEFARERSE
HEBWE-—HNBLARETEERBNEERE
Our procedures in relation to the accounting for the
acquisition including:

BEEARNEER ST RENEF B

o A review of the sale and purchase agreement that no
unusual terms exist that have not been accounted

for;
e EHEBWE UEBEERSTMFEHARTENES
3K

o Considering and challenging management’s
assessment of the appropriate accounting treatment
and the allocation of the purchase price to the
assets and liabilities acquired;

s FHREEEYEERSREILHILEKEEEDY
REFMBBEERBEZ L WIRHBBEM

° Considering the adequacy of the Group’s disclosure
in respect of the acquisition in note to the consolidated
financial statements.

s FEE BEEEGAUBHRERWEABUEEEZH
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Key audit matter

BREZER

Impairment assessment on goodwill

We identified impairment assessment on goodwill as a
key audit matter because of its potential significance to
the consolidated financial statements as disclosed in
note 15.

EEREBRENEEAEREZEE  REAHT]
BREGEIMBEBRREFEATE (RENMEE15)

Impairment of goodwill is assessed by management by
comparing the recoverable amount and carrying amount
of the relevant cash generating units at the end of the
reporting period. The recoverable amount of the CGU
was determined from value in use calculation. Impairment
loss on goodwill of approximately HK$52,791,000 was
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31
December 2017.
EREFBALENRENRERRELSEL A O
SRMRAENFEBREETTE - BEZAIEKERE
TREBEAEEAET - B8 2 REEEX 52,791,000
BTERBZE-_ZT—tF T+ _A=1T—HILEFEZLEE
BEIHETEERERANER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEERNMEERRERSEE
B R E AT

Our procedures in relation to the management’s impairment
assessment included:

BEEAWEEEREMENEF BT

° Assessing the valuation methodology;

.« EHEREERE

° Obtain an understanding of financial position and
future prospect of the CGU,;

o THRREELBMOMBIREAREAR

o Assessing the reasonableness of key assumptions
based on our knowledge of the business and

industry.
e REEENEBLRITEMNBTEIEBRRZIAE
o
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Key audit matter

BREZER

Interests in associates

The Group’s interests in associates, Forward Investment
(PRC) Company Limited (“Forward Investment”), is
accounted for under the equity method. The Group’s
share of the loss after tax and other comprehensive
income from Forward Investment for the year ended
31 December 2017 was HK$22,140,000 and the
Group’s share of Forward Investment’s net assets was
HK$350,275,000 as at 31 December 2017. Refer to note
17 to the consolidated financial statements.
ERERBERRRNRKRE (FE) ARAR ([HFHKR
Bl 2R BREREANR BE_E—+tF+H
=T—HBIFE BEEEGERERNREZERHR
Ei8 R E M 2 E RS 422,140,000 T « 1 EEEE
EEMREZEEFER _Z—tF+_A=+—8%4
350,275,000 87T © a2 BirE M mRMET 17
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEERNMEERRERSE
REBE DR 2

Forward Investment is a significant associate of the Group.
We have carried out audit on its financial statements.
We have determined that the audit work performed and
evidence obtained were sufficient for our audit purpose.
We have interviewed with the Group’s management and
have discussed with them and evaluated any probable
impacts on the Group’s consolidated financial statements
of the key audit matters relating to Forward Investment.

FMRET, EEE-RHEBHEQF BEDEZE
sk - YEEMETHEZ TIERMEGH/EERR
BENEZANME /AR - BFCHA EXEERE
- WK E S MR A B RBRNIRE 2 AR ERER
H BEREGAMBHRR I EMAIERE -
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Key audit matter

BREZER

Valuation of investment properties

We identified the valuation of investment properties as
a key audit matter due to the key source of estimation
uncertainty and the significant assumptions and
judgements involved in the valuation.
EERREMELERTEAEREZEE  REAR/RMLE
B RARF AR R F ERRIA R EAR R K& HIE -

As disclosed in note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group’s investment properties amounted
to HK$65,439,000 as at 31 December 2017. There is no
gain or loss on net changes in fair value of investment
properties recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year
then ended.

BMANERE B RS E A 12FT R E - RZE—tF+A
=+t—H X EBEEREWMRXR65439,000/ETT - BE
ZHIFFEzEEBRR AT ERERT BERIRE
MERNTFERBFREZ WRNEE -

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties was
determined by adopting the valuation techniques with
significant unobservable inputs, assumptions of market
conditions and judgements. The Group also worked
closely with the independent qualified valuers to establish
and determine the appropriate valuation techniques.

BEEERENEZAFENRBEETEEE - 899
RERTABRGARE  TARKNLHE - BE5E

TEE T & BAREER Y & 1F AR R HEE A @A
BI70% °

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEERNMEERRERSEE

REWEMLE

Our procedures in relation to assessing the appropriateness
of the carrying values of the investment properties
included:

BEEAENAREYMERRECAEENEF B

° Reviewing the valuation report from independent
qualified valuers and holding discussion with
management and independent qualified valuers to
understand the valuation basis, methodology used
and underlying assumptions applied;

e FHRBBIUASERMGEMNMGERS  HEERE
KB A B RMMER RN R TR AN GER
i TERERERER

° Evaluating management’s process in respect of
reviewing the valuation performed by independent
qualified valuers;

o HMEERBRESRENE LS ERGERMMETHES
12

° Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of independent qualified valuers;

o HMEBVAERMLEMNERE  EORFEBNML

U Selecting samples from the Group’s investment
property portfolio and obtaining the underlying data
including comparables of market transactions being
used by the independent qualified valuers and
assessing whether they are appropriate; and

e Nt BEENKRAEMFEMESEIEE  THREES
SEBBRMMERMAN TSRS ER@EEE - Wit
HEESEN &

o Performing market research and analysis to assess
whether the changes in fair value of investment
properties resulted from the valuation was
reasonable and consistent with market trends to our
knowledge.

o CETMEREE RSN  UFHEBRAEEENREY
FRTEEHRLAENEEZMENTISBE —
B oo
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Key audit matter

BREZER

Impairment assessment on property, plant and
equipment

The Group’s property plant and equipment of
approximately HK$127,873,000 including a property
construction in progress amounted to approximately
HK$127,725,000 additions through acquisition of a
subsidiary during the year, as disclosed in note 13 and
29(A) to the consolidated financial statements.

WMANERE ISR MG 13 R 29(A) TR - EEKEY
¥ BE RFHEHL127,873,000F LB IEFNEBUE
—FRMBRRIRE 2 ERMF £ 5A127,725,000/8 7T

The estimation of the net realisable value was determined
by reference to estimated selling price of the property
construction in progress less estimated variable selling
expenses. The management carried out the impairment
assessment with reference to the valuation report issued
by the independent qualified external valuer to support
the determination of the estimated selling prices of
the property construction in progress. No impairment
in respect of the property, plant and equipment is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income during the year.
?EJT FRFEDNSREZYE 2 AR EERBTASR
AHHEERET - EEE2RABLSERIERE
EfﬁiE TR E AL EEY X 2 HE B ZRER 1
RER - BERERIAEMEZEKERARIE - BE
ﬁy\ 1% EE At /JEX TE

The Group’s impairment policy is disclosed in note 36(B)
to the consolidated financial statements.

BEBERREBERN RS MK 36(B) KEE -
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEERNMEERRERSE

M3 - BE R REZRERNE

Our procedures in relation to assessing the appropriateness
of the carrying values of the property construction in
progress included:

SHEBMEEEYERmEZSEENEF B

° Evaluating of the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of independent qualified valuers;

o  HEBUABRMEEMNERE - e MFEM

° Obtaining the underlying data including comparables
of market transactions being used by the independent
qualified valuers and assessing whether they are
appropriate; and

o HX%%@%@%Z/E.\%?WETEEWWHE’U‘ﬁ%ﬂtbi’??&%
FTHERE  WRESEE &

° Performing market research and analysis to assess
whether the changes in estimated selling price of
the property construction in progress resulted from
the valuation was reasonable and consistent with
market trends to our knowledge.

o ETMERHELRSN  UFHEBRAEEENERY
A EEEPHEEAE NEEENENTISBE
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirement of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B AR S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the content of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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Independent Auditors’ Report

BB RS

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B AR S

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

REPORT ON OTHER MATTERS UNDER
SECTIONS 407(2) AND 407(3) OF THE
HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE

In respect alone of the matters described in the basis for qualified
opinion’s paragraph:

° we were unable to determine whether proper books of account
had been kept; and

° we have not obtained all the information or explanations that,
to the best of our knowledge and belief, are necessary and
material for the purpose of the audit.

Centurion ZD CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)

Hong Kong, 29 March 2018

Chan Kam Fuk
Practising Certificate Number: P04257

Unit 1304, 13/F., Two Harbourfront,
22 Tak Fung Street,

Hunghom, Kowloon,

Hong Kong
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
reEEkAEMEERE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 &7 —F—+F+=-A=+—HILF/E

2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k=3 FET FHT
Revenue Wz 4 26,144 15,691
Cost of sales SHEMK AN (23,593) (15,434)
Gross profit EF 2,551 257
Other income HA 5 57,916 30,827
Share of results of associates e kN e 17 (22,140) 6,669
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HRBATR
and associates Bt N\ 2 W 34 17,358 —
Other operating expenses HithEERX (52,845) (40,734)
General and administrative expenses —MRATEAX (16,438) (13,256)
Loss from operations REEE (13,598) (16,237)
Finance costs B TR AR 6(a) (25,652) (2,128)
Loss before taxation RRBLATES 18 6 (39,250) (18,365)
Income tax Frig 9 (5,480) 9,394
Loss for the year FREE (44,730) (8,971)
Attributable to: PEfh -
— Owners of the Company — RREHEB A (44,700) (5,507)
— Non-controlling interests — FEIE R R R (30) (8,464)
Loss for the year FAEE (44,730) (8,971)
Loss per share BREE
(HK cents per share) (ZAREAL) 11
Basic HAK (1.05) cents il (0.13) cents L
Diluted e (1.05) cents il (0.13) cents L
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

N

mEBEahEME [H U 25

For the year ended 31 December 2017 # 2.

23R

—EF—tF A= HIFE

2017 2016
—EB—+tF —E-RE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B FET FAT
Loss for the year FRER (44,730) (8,971)
Other comprehensive income/(loss): EHttZ2 @k~ (FE) :
ltems that may be reclassified to AREEN S ESE
profit or loss BmsIAE
Net translation differences on HEBINETR 2
foreign operations [E 5 = %0558 61,233 (81,986)
Release of cumulative exchange BRBR IR E G INETES
difference on translation of 2 BN ERE
foreign operations 17,247 —
Share of other comprehensive FEIGEEE R R
income of associates H 2 EREE
— Exchange reserve — [EH 17 29,616 (7,734)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) FAZMH
for the year, net of tax W (E8) 858 Bk 108,096 (89,720)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) FRZEWRE 7 (FE) 858
for the year 63,366 (98,691)
Attributable to: PElG
— Owners of the Company — RREHEB A 62,325 (94,995)
— Non-controlling interests — FEIE R R R 1,041 (3,696)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) FRE|EKRE
for the year (E18) #%58 63,366 (98,691)
The notes on pages 77 to 185 form an integral part of these  F 772185 B 2 Mk BIULFLRAMBME 2

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI R

At 31 December 2017 R—E—+F+_H=1—H

2017 2016
—ZE—t5F ZE—RF
Notes HK$°’000 HK$'000
P 5T FET FAET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS IRBEE
Investment properties B 12 65,439 61,122
Property, plant and equipment S EN YN 13 127,873 144
Land use rights + b A E 14 1,935 1,881
Goodwill [k 15 — 49,308
Interests in associates REtE AR 2R 17 350,275 342,799
545,522 455,254
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories FE 19 — 53
Trade and other receivables, deposits ~ FEURE 5 B8R N H b FE Uk
and prepayment RIA e MFERFIA 20 61,391 624,780
Cash and bank balances R RIRITEER 21 636,920 54,006
698,311 678,839
Assets classified as held for sale DA IEHEEE 22 — 273,517
698,311 952,356
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and other payables JENTE SR R B A BRI 23 (55,660) (338,379)
Interest-bearing borrowings — current 5t EEE — R®) 24 (250,000) (5,378)
Tax payables FERFIR (5,913) (247)
(311,573) (344,004)
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 386,738 608,352
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBERE
LIABILITIES 932,260 1,063,606
FEEZEREBRAT

e A



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e AR R

At 31 December 2017 R —FE—+4#+_-H=+—H

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
P 5T FET FET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBARG
Interest-bearing borrowings ATEEE 24 — (250,000)
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIBEE 25 (8,441) (7,884)
(8,441) (257,884)
NET ASSETS EEFE 923,819 805,722
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAR#FE
Share capital &N 27(a) 213,496 213,496
Reserves (e 637,496 574,688
Total equity attributable to owners of &2 F#EE AEN
the Company A 850,509 788,184
Non-controlling interests FEIERR IR RS 73,310 17,538
TOTAL EQUITY RS 923,819 805,722

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 R ZT— \F=ZAZ+NALESSHET

March 2018. T o
Xu Xiao Jun Ye De Chao
E N 3 ¥EE
Director Director
3 3

The notes on pages 77 to 185 form an integral part of these 772185 B Mzt Rt FHFaMEmEk
consolidated financial statements. —&k5 °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2017 &7 —F—+F+=-A=+—HILF/E

Attributable to owners of the Company

RRTREAEL
Capital
Capital  redemption Non-
Share Share reserve reserve  Exchange Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium (note 1) (note 2) reserve losses Total interests equity
ERGE EARDRE FER
i RitEE (H3E1) (Hi2) ERGE 2iTER a# hREs BRiAE
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
Fitn T Tin T Tén T Tén T Thn
At 1 January 2016 RZE-"E-A-A 213,496 756,049 72 69 (24,874) (61,633) 883,179 4545 887,724
Fxchange differences on BERINNBRA
translation of financial If 574
statements of overseas EiER
subsidiaries - - - — @ — e (%) (81.986)
Share of other comprehensive FEihBELR
income of associates At2EkE - — - — (7734) - (7734) — (7734)
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - (5507) (5,507) (3464) (8971)
Total comprehensive loss EMEEEELS
for the year - - - ~ (%4 (GS07)  (949%) (36%)  (98691)
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE-FREAR - - - - - - - 16,689 16,689
At 31 December 2016 REE-AETZA=1-H 213,496 756,049 72 69 (114,362) (67,140) 788,184 17,538 805,722
FEERRERRAT
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GERBEDE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #2 =%

—tFF A= HULFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RRAREAEL
Capital
Capital  redemption Non-
Share Share reserve reserve  Exchange Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium (note 1) (note 2) reserve losses Total interests equity
ERGE EARDRE 370
Bx RGEE (1) (Hzk2) Eifie  ZiEE a# RRgs  EREE
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
Fhn i FEn i 5 Thn T5n Thn 5
At 1 January 2017 KZE—+F-A-A 213,496 756,049 7 69 (114,362) (67:140) 788,184 17538 805,722
Exchange differences on BERINNBRA
translation of financial If 5794
statements of overseas EiER
subsidiaries - - - - 60,162 - 60,162 1,071 61,233
Release of cumulative exchange R IRERONER
difierence on translation of LEHERER
foreign operations - - - - 17247 - 17247 - 17247
Share of other comprehensive FEHBELR
income of associates Ath2EkE - - - - 29,616 - 29,616 - 29,616
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - (44,700) (44,700) (30) (44,730)
Total comprehensive incomef{loss) ~ FRZENE/ (BiE) 28
for the year - - - - 107,025 (44,700) 62,325 1,041 63,366
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE-FHELT - - - - - - - 54,731 54,731
At 31 December 2017 REE—tE+-A=1-H 213,496 756,049 7 69 (7337) (111,840) 850,509 73310 923,819
Notes: BisE -
1. The capital reserve of the Group represents the excessive injection of 1. AEBEXNFEEENBARFMERZE
the registered capital of a subsidiary. BTE -
2. Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of shares 2. & ZNHE Bl 5 DA P] 95 K & F1 & B AR 2
repurchased out of distributable profit. HfE °
The notes on pages 77 to 185 form an integral part of these %77 18552M137951it—r$%$/\ P
consolidated financial statements. Z—Eb5
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n‘/-.r\ IEI%/)“JE%

For the year ended 31 December 2017 # 2 — &

—tFF A= —HIFE

2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RE
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
k=3 FBT FHT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES bt F 30
Loss before taxation BRFLATEE (39,250) (18,365)
Adjustments for: FRFIEHAE -
Amortisation and depreciation of IEMBVEE
non-current assets BiERITE 96 2,182
Interest income FBEUA 5 (21,559) (1,494)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FERR
and associates PNk lNS el (17,358) —
Impairment loss recognised in respect  BA¥IE  BE L&
of property, plant and equipment R R (EEE 13 — 3,603
Impairment loss recognised in respect  FLELEEMER
of intangible assets Zﬁi@%?@ 16 — 37,131
Impairment loss recognised MIFERR 2 REEE
in respect of inventories 54 —
Impairment loss on goodwill P REBE 52,791 —
Finance costs BATE AR 6(a) 25,652 2,128
Share of results of associates FEIREEE N E) 2 A 17 22,140 (6,669)
Operating profit before changes REESBEA
in working capital ek <$—b:= 22,566 18,516
Decrease/(increase) in other HALFEUGRIA « e &k
receivables, deposits BB, (Em)
and prepayment 611,565 (322,501)
Decrease in asset held for sale BREHEEERD — 22,383
(Decrease)/increase in trade B E SRR H AL (S
and other payables FIE CRA) /1 (281,947) 103,409
Net cash generated from/(used in) mEEREL  (FTA)
operating activities ZREFE 352,184 (178,193)
FEERRERRAT
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

an\ Iﬁrﬁ/)lbi%

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #{2 —F—+4F1+=-A=+—HIFF/Z

2017 2016
—EB—+tF —E-RE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B FET FAT

INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXK
Interest received BUFE 5 21,559 1,494
Payment for the purchase of property, BAYE BE

plant and equipment PG ANE 13 (40) (37)
Proceeds from disposal of a HE BRI R

subsidiary and associates Bt N RIFT1S 5UE 34 315,000 —
Net cash outflow upon acquisition of Ui BE — M B A F1E

a subsidiary REmLF5E 29 (79,646) (66,257)
Net cash generated from/(used in) REXBELE (FTH)

investing activities ZIREFE 256,873 (64,800)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES & X
Proceeds from new secured loans MAEREERSRUE — 250,000
Repayment of secured loans BESEMEN (5,758) —
Interest paid BERFE 6(a) (25,652) (2,128)
Net cash (used in)/generated BMEXK (FTH) EE

from financing activities ZIREFE (31,410) 247,872
Net increase in cash and ReERHRSEEY

cash equivalents BhnHEEE 577,647 4,879
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes IMEEXREH) 2 & 5,267 (41,542)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning RFWZIRE &

of year REEEY 21 54,006 90,669
Cash and cash equivalents attheend REZKZHEERRESEY

of year 636,920 54,006
Analysis of the balances of cashand BE&ERBEESEEY

cash equivalents AR
Cash and cash equivalents atthe end ~ RELRZEE N

of year REEEY 21 636,920 54,006
The notes on pages 77 to 185 form an integral part of these  F77 =185 B 2Kt B EHRATEREZ

consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2017 82 —E—+F 1+ _-A=+—HIFF/Z

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Infrastructure Investment Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated and registered in the Cayman Islands on 16 June
1992 as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 2 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman lIslands. The shares of the Company
are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The address of the registered office of
the Company in the Cayman Islands is The R&H Trust Co.
Ltd., Windward 1, Regatta Office Park, West Bay Road, Grand
Cayman, Cayman lIslands. The address of the registered office
and the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong is Suite 607, 6/F., Ocean Centre, 5 Canton Road, Tsim Sha
Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are described in note 18.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(A] STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (“CO"). These consolidated
financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M T

For the year ended 31 December 2017 2 —F—+F+=-HA=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(A)

(B

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE (continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments and
interpretations which are or have become effective. It has
also issued certain new and revised HKFRSs which are
first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Company. The information on
initial application of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Company for the current and
prior accounting periods reflected in these consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in note 3 to these
consolidated financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2017 comprise the financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is the historical cost
basis except that certain financial instruments and
investment properties are measured at fair value and
assets classified as held for sale are stated at the lower of
carrying amount and fair value less costs to disposal as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements about
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 —F—+F+=-H=+—HIFFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(B] BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE

(C]

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Certain comparative figures of prior years have been re-
presented to conform with the current year’s presentation.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group
elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by
the acquiree.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M T

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #2 =%

—tFF A= HULFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(C]

(D]

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is re-measured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in the statements of profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 39 either in profit
or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
re-measured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total
of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest
recognised is less than the fair value of the net assets of
the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase,
the difference is recognised directly in the statements of
profit or loss.

SUBSIDIARIES AND NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and
other parties) are considered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e AR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2017 2 —F—+F+=-HA=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

(D] SUBSIDIARIES AND NON-CONTROLLING (D) B8 2 a] R FELE IR AR

INTERESTS (Continued)

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances and transactions and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but
only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Group, and in respect of which the Group has not agreed
any additional terms with the holders of those interests
which would result in the Group as a whole having a
contractual obligation in respect of those interests that
meets the definition of a financial liability. For each
business combination, the Group can elect to measure
any non-controlling interests either at fair value or at their
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable
assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to owners of the Company.
Non-controlling interests in the results of the Group are
presented on the face of the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between non-controlling interests and
owners of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M T

For the year ended 31 December 2017 2 —F—+F+=-HA=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(D] SUBSIDIARIES AND NON-CONTROLLING

(E)

INTERESTS (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no
gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised at
fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition of a financial asset or, when appropriate,
the cost on initial recognition of an interest in an associate
or a joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment losses, unless the investment is classified
as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale).

GOODWILL

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #2 =%

—tFF A= —HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

{E} GOODWILL (Continued)

(F)

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may be
impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets
of the unit on a pro rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss
for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor
an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control
over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting, except when the
investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”.
Under the equity method, investments in associates
are initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e AR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2017 2 —F—+F+=-HA=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

(F] INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

When the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds
the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of
the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of an associate
recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as
goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over
the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The requirements of HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement” are applied to determine
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss
with respect to the Group’s investment in an associate.
When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment
in accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal
of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2017 2 —F—+F+=-HA=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(F]

(G]

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Upon disposal of an associate that results in the Group
losing significant influence over that associate, any
retained investment is measured at fair value at that date
and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition as a financial asset in accordance with HKAS
39. The difference between the previous carrying amount
of the associate attributable to the retained interest and
its fair value is included in the determination of the gain or
loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group
accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate on
the same basis as would be required if that associate
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in
other comprehensive income by that associate would
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain
or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) when it loses significant influence over that
associate.

When a group entity transacts with its associate, profits
and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable in the ordinary course of the
Group’s activities. Revenue is shown, net of business tax
and after eliminating sales with the Group companies.
Revenue is recognised in consolidated statement of profit
or loss as follows:
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 —F—+F+=-H=+—HIFFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

(G] REVENUE RECOGNITION (Continued) (G) Kzt ()

Sales of properties

Sales of properties are recognised upon the completion of
sales contracts with customers; completion of construction
of relevant properties; and registration of sales contracts
with local authority is completed, whichever is the later.
Deposits and instalments received on properties sold
prior to the date of revenue recognition are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position as advanced
proceeds received from customers and grouped under
current liabilities.

Sales of construction materials

Revenue from sales of construction materials is recognised
when then risks and rewards of construction materials’
ownership are transferred to customers, which is at the
time of delivery and the title is passed to customers.

Rental income from investment properties

Rental income from investment properties is recognised
in consolidated statement of profit or loss in equal
instalments over the periods covered by the lease term,
except where an alternative basis is more representative
of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the use of the
leased asset. Lease incentives granted are recognised
in consolidated statement of profit or loss as an integral
part of the aggregate net lease payments receivable.
Contingent rentals are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are earned.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
Annual Report 2017

MEHENEFEITHESR
HEYMERERRT  MHEAR
A& BB PI 2 B 5D (CABUR %
EERE) RERW S - RIS
R A RS E EMEWELZ IR
& Ry BN R S RN AR & B 75
MAKRRBRER MERBEEF
TEYERK

HEZEMH

58 A R B MRS PA R T
WA ER RO RERTE
B (BRRRAERARTE
B8 i o

REWMEZHEESWA

SEME 2 HE WAIREE ER
WMEMRED PN RER ISR
R BERANER - AR
REEREAHEEE 2N &HER
AEARKRMERI - R ZH
EEENGEABERRANERIEE
P FE U TH B R AR R 2 — &P
7 e RABEEREREZ &5 H
EIFERRIEUA -

FMEWA

M EWATIRAEBRF AR E
AN SRR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e AR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 —F—+F+=-H=+—HIFFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

(H] LEASING (H #H&

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

The Group as lessee other than operating lease
of land use rights

Lease payments are apportioned between finance
expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as
to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless they are directly
attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general policy
on borrowing costs. Contingent rentals are recognised as
expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where
another systematic basis is more representative of the time
pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset
are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating
leases are recognised as an expense in the period in
which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter
into operating leases, such incentives are recognised
as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is
recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-
line basis, except where another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

NEE 2 EFHRERBRE 2R
Fr B B B2 K [0 S 85 7% 2= 4 A
E ZHENGEARMENE -
HiHE2 I EHE -

REBERHEA

ReEHE 2B WATRERE
HA B GORIER - R E Rk
REBERSIMZ P ERKA
DMEREEEREE  XIR
THEAA B AOAMER ©

MREEHE L HFEREN K
SEER/FEBEA

HEMREM K E R REEAE
A Z B E - femED B ERR
B BEERANE - WIEERL
BN BEMRER  BRIERERR
BREBBEE  £%BRTE
RN B — B ERANBUR
BARAE o SAATE S E L B
R o

REMENTAERE - ZHEH
R R - BMaE RGEE
HEFEERAEARRE - H
BB E 2 ZBEM s B BB RERR
Sh o REMEFREE ZSAEE
RELHBHRARBHAX -

AT EHE R A ESHER
B RFESFERAERR B
BERBNEABERETRE SR
XHER R A RRMEEERE
RMEAEAREKE  HEEE
B B OB RERR I

TEREZREARLTF
“E-LEFR

87



88
\

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRR I EE
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N

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

{H} LEASING (Continued)

The Group as lessee under operating lease of
land use rights

Land use rights under operating lease, which mainly
comprised land use rights to be developed for investment
properties and self-use buildings, are stated at cost and
subsequently amortised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on a
straight-line basis over the operating lease periods, less
accumulated impairment provision.

Leasehold land for own use

When a lease includes both land and building elements,
the Group assesses the classification of each element as
a finance or an operating lease separately based on the
assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of each element have
been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that both
elements are operating leases in which case the entire
lease is classified as an operating lease. Specifically,
the minimum lease payments (including any lump sum
upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values
of the leasehold interests in the land element and building
element of the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted
for as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease
payments” in the consolidated statement of financial
position and is amortised over the lease term on a straight-
line basis. When the lease payments cannot be allocated
reliably between the land and building elements, the
entire lease is generally classified as a finance lease and
accounted for as property, plant and equipment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2017 2 —F—+F+=-HA=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(1)

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
entity’s functional currency are recognised at the rates
of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:

— exchange differences on foreign currency
borrowings relating to assets under construction
for future productive use, which are included in
the cost of those assets when they are regarded
as an adjustment to interest costs on those foreign
currency borrowings;

— exchange differences on transactions entered into in
order to hedge certain foreign currency risks; and

— exchange differences on monetary items receivable
from or payable to a foreign operation for which
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur
(therefore forming part of the net investment in the
foreign operation), which are recognised initially in
other comprehensive income and reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on repayment of the monetary
items.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #{2 —F—+4F1+=-A=+—HIFF/Z

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(1)

FOREIGN CURRENCIES (continued)

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange
rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Income and expense items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of foreign currency translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of
joint control over a jointly controlled entity that includes a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant
influence over an associate that includes a foreign
operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the
owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does
not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange
differences is re-attributed to non-controlling interests and
are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial
disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or jointly
controlled entities that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence or joint control), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 —F—+F+=-H=+—HIFFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(1]

(J]

FOREIGN CURRENCIES (continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation
and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Exchange differences
arising are recognised in equity under the heading of
foreign currency translation reserve.

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs are expensed in consolidated statement
of profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred,
except to the extent that they are capitalised as being
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for
the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being
incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
interrupted or complete.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M T

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #{2 —F—+F 1+ _-A=+—HILF/Z

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(K] EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

(L)

Short-term employee benefits and contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when the Group demonstrably commits itself to terminate
employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary
redundancy by having a detailed formal plan which is
without realistic possibility of withdrawal.

INCOME TAX

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in
the consolidated profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of items of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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B B SRR B AL

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #{2 —F—+ 41+ =-A=+—HIFF/Z

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

{L} INCOME TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BA R AR MY RE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 2 —F—+F+=-HA=+—HIFZF

AN
N

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

{L} INCOME TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities
or deferred tax assets for investment properties that
are measured using the fair value model, the carrying
amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered
entirely through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment property
is depreciable and is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises
from the initial accounting for a business combination, the
tax effect is included in the accounting for the business
combination.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #{2 —F—+ 41+ =-A=+—HIFF/Z

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

(M) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT IM] 1% -~ BER R E

Property, plant and equipment held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than properties under
construction as described below), are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost,
less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes
professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy. Such properties are classified to the
appropriate categories of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation
of these assets, on the same basis as other property
assets, commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets (other than properties under construction) less their
residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over
their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned
assets. However, when there is no reasonable certainty
that ownership will be obtained by the end of the lease
term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease
term and their useful lives.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M T

For the year ended 31 December 2017 2 —F—+F+=-HA=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(M] PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(N)

(Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation including properties under
construction for such purpose.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their
fair values. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
value of investment properties are included in profit or loss
for the period in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties
under construction are capitalised as part of the carrying
amount of the investment properties under construction.

Property that is being constructed or developed for future
use as investment property is classified as investment
property. If the fair value cannot be reliably determined,
the investment property under construction will be
measured at cost until such time as fair value can be
determined or construction is completed.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are
expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the property is included in the profit or
loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e AR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 —F—+F+=-H=+—HIFFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

[0) STOCK OF PROPERTIES [0) W#¥FE

Properties under development for sale

Properties under development for sale are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable
value is determined by reference to the sales proceeds
of properties sold in the ordinary course of business, less
applicable variable selling expenses and the anticipated
costs to complete, or by management estimates based on
prevailing market conditions.

Development cost of property comprises construction
costs, depreciation of machinery and equipment,
amortisation of land use rights and professional fees
incurred during the development period. On completion,
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Completed properties held for sale BIEHEZRIME

Completed properties held for sale remaining unsold
at the year end are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost comprises development costs attributable to the
unsold properties.

Net realisable value is determined by reference to the
sales proceeds of properties sold in the ordinary course
of business, less applicable variable selling expenses,
or by management estimates based on prevailing market
conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M T

For the year ended 31 December 2017 2 —F—+F+=-HA=+—HIFZF

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(P

(Q)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are identified and recognised separately from goodwill
where they satisfy the definition of an intangible asset and
their fair values can be measured reliably. The cost of
such intangible assets is their fair value at the acquisition
date. Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets
that are acquired separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE AND
INTANGIBLE ASSETS OTHER THAN
GOODWILL

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets
with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual
cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated
to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 —F—+F+=-H=+—HIFFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(Q)

(R]

IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE AND
INTANGIBLE ASSETS OTHER THAN
GOODWILL (Continued)

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested for
impairment when there is an indication that the assets may
be impaired.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. A reversal of impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined on
weighted average basis. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the
sales.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e AR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #{2 —F—+4F1+=-A=+—HIFF/Z

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

(S] PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENT (S) BERFAERE

LIABILITIES

Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises
from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more uncertain future events not wholly within the control
of the Group. It can also be a present obligation arising
from past events that is not recognised because it is
not probable that outflow of economic resources will be
required or the amount of obligation cannot be measured
reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed
in the notes to the financial statements. When a change
in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is
probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.
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(Continued)
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(T] FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on
the statement of financial position when an entity becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL") and
loans and receivables. The classification depends on
the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is
determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.
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(Continued)

(T] FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (T) AT A @)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis
for debt instruments other than those financial assets
classified as at FVTPL.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. Loans and receivables (including
cash and bank balances and trade and other receivables
but not the prepayment) are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less any impairment
(see accounting policy on impairment of financial assets
below).

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the
recognition of interest would be immaterial.
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(Continued)

(T] FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (T) AT A @)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the
financial asset is either held for trading or it is designated
as at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

— it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling it in the near future; or

— on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

— it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

(T] FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (T) AT A @)

Financial assets at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for
trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial
recognition if:

— such designation eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that
would otherwise arise; or

— the financial asset forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is
managed and its performance is evaluated on a
fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s
documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is
provided internally on that basis; or

— it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 “Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” permits
the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be
designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any
gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the
financial assets and is included in the “other revenue and
net income” line item in the consolidated profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.
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(Continued)

(T] FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (T) AT A @)

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed
for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting
period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired
when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one
or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the financial assets, the estimated future cash flows of the
investment have been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

o breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market for that
financial assets because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on
a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for
a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the
number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the
average credit period of 365 days, as well as observable
changes in national or local economic conditions that
correlate with default on receivables.
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(Continued)

(T] FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (T) AT A @)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount
of the impairment loss recognised is the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount
is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When
a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written
off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are credited against the
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to
an event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount
of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed
does not exceed what the amortised cost would have
been had the impairment not been recognised.
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(Continued)

[T)] FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) [T) 2 TA %)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by
an entity are as other financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of a company after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by
a company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities (including trade and other
payables but not the advanced proceeds received from
customers) are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to
the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest
basis other than financial liabilities classified as at FVTPL.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at
fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are
stated at amortised cost with any difference between
the amount initially recognised and redemption value
being recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings, together with any interest and fees payable,
using the effective interest method.
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(Continued)

(T) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (T Z@TA @)

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its
continuing involvement and recognises an associated
liability. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial assets, the
Group continues to recognise the financial assets and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial
assets are transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial assets.

On derecognition of a financial assets, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and the cumulative gain or loss
that had been recognised directly in equity is recognised
in profit or loss.

For financial liabilities, they are removed from the
consolidated statement of financial position when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is discharged,
cancelled or expires. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid or payable is recognised in profit or
loss.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(Ul CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(v

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks, and short term,
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts
that are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management are also included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose
of the consolidated statement of cash flows.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s
business, the operations and cash flows of which can
be clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and
which represents a separate major line of business or
geographical area of operations, or is part of a single
co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line
of business or geographical area of operations, or is a
subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon
disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be
classified as held for sale, if earlier. It also occurs when
the operation is abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued, a single
amount is presented on the face of the consolidated profit
or loss and other comprehensive income which comprises:

— the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued
operation; and

— the post-tax profit or loss recognised on the
measurement to fair value less costs to sell, or on
the disposal, of the assets or disposal group(s)
constituting the discontinued operation.
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(Continued)

(W) ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE W) 7 EBIFIEHEESE

An asset (or disposal group) is classified as held for sale
if it is highly probable that its carrying amount will be
recovered through a sale transaction rather than through
continuing use and the asset (or disposal group) is
available for sale in its present condition. A disposal group
is a group of assets to be disposed of together as a group
in a single transaction, and liabilities directly associated
with those assets that will be transferred in the transaction.

When the group is committed to a sale plan involving
loss of control of a subsidiary, all the assets and liabilities
of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when
the above criteria for classification as held for sale are
met, regardless of whether the group will retain a non-
controlling interest in the subsidiary after the sale.

Immediately before classification as held for sale, the
measurement of the non-current assets (and all individual
assets and liabilities in a disposal group) is brought up-
to-date in accordance with the accounting policies before
the classification. Then, on initial classification as held for
sale and until disposal, the non-current assets (except for
certain assets as explained below), or disposal groups,
are recognised at the lower of their carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell. The principal exceptions to this
measurement policy so far as the financial statements of
the group and the company are concerned are deferred
tax assets, assets arising from employee benefits,
financial assets (other than investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures) and investment properties.
These assets, even if held for sale, would continue to
be measured in accordance with the policies set out
elsewhere.
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(Continued)
7 o o Mg P o
(W] ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE (W] 7RI IEHEEE (8)
(Continued)
Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale, MR BRIFIELE REEFE
and on subsequent remeasurement while held for sale, are HEZEHNFEMELEZRER
recognised in profit or loss. As long as a non-current asset BEYREBERER - —B—IEIER
is classified as held for sale, or is included in a disposal BEERSEABELEXES
group that is classified as held for sale, the non-current EoBERFBIELHEZLEHER
asset is not depreciated or amortised. F AZEIERBEERTET
LAYTEE S 8 o
(X) RELATED PARTIES (X) BFEA L+
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: MBATAL  BIAREE @
AT
(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, (@) MMBNATAL  BlRZAL
is related to the Group if that person: ZAT R EE B
8
(i) has control or joint control over the Group; (i) $EHIEREGAE
;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (i HAEBEBEBEKNF
23
(i) is a member of the key management personnel (i) AAREEHAE
of the Group or the Group’s parent. RAMETEERERK
5 o
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following (b) (W& TAEMGEG - BNE
conditions applies: RENEERME
()  the entity and the Group are members of the () ZERHEASEEBR
same Group (which means that each parent, —SBZKERT
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to (BEFAF - WEBA
the others); AIRERWNERBK
It B &)
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(Continued)

(X) RELATED PARTIES (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

(ii)

(vii)

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of
a member of a Group of which the other entity
is a member);

both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); or

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
service to the Group or the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family

members who may be expected to influence by, that

person in their dealings with the entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #2 =%

—tFF A= —HILFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(Y]

(Z]

OPERATING SEGMENTS

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the directors of the Company.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

Financial guarantee contracts in the scope of HKAS 39
Financial Instrument: Recognition and Measurement
are accounted for as financial liabilities. A financial
guarantee contract is recognised initially at its fair value
plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of the financial guarantee contract.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contracts at the higher of the present
value of the best estimate of the expenditure required
to settle the present obligation and the amount initially
recognised less cumulative amortisation.

2.

(z)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M T

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 = F—+F+=—A=+—HIFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

3.1 INITIAL APPLICATION OF HKFRSs

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and revised HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the
first time in the current year:

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative
Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets
for Unrealised Losses
Amendments to HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other
included in Annual Entities: Clarification of the Scope of
Improvements to HKFRSs HKFRS 12
2014-2016 Cycle

The application of these new and revised standards in the
current year has had no material effect on the amounts
reported in these consolidated financial statements and/
or disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

The initial application of these financial reporting
standards does not necessitate material changes in the
Group’s accounting policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #2 —F—+F 1+ _-A=+—HILFZ

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continuea)

3.2 HKFRSs IN ISSUE BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE

The following HKFRSs in issue at 31 December 2017
have not been applied in the preparation of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year then ended
since they were not yet effective for the annual period
beginning on 1 January 2017.

3.2 BB ERELZE
B IREER

REAEEBRE_T—tFt+—
A=t —HLUEFENGEEMBER
REFIARRA T HIE K% BB
ZEBUHREER - ARZF
BEMBHMELENR T —LF
—A— AN FEEHRERRE

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments'
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensatior?
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers'
Amendments to HKFRS 15 Clarifications to HKFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts
with Customers'
HKFRS 16 Leases’
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts*
Amendments to HKFRS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures?
Amendments to HKFRS 40 Transfers of Investment Property'
HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

and Advance Consideration'

Uncertainty over Income Tax

Treatments?
Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment Transactions'
Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial

Instruments with HKFRS 4 Insurance
Contracts'

R o

EANBREENENR 2FTA

BAUBREEY AHERE
£9% (f531%) EEEFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M T

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 = F—+F+=—A=+—HIFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continuea)

3.2 HKFRSs IN ISSUE BUT NOT YET

EFFECTIVE (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
and HKAS 28 (2011) an Investor and its Associate or

Joint Venture®

Annual Improvements Amendments to HKFRS 1
2014-2016 Cycle and HKAS 28'

Annual Improvements Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11,
2015-2017 Cycle HKAS 12 and HKAS 23

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2018.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2019.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to
be determined.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021.

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments

HKFRS 9 addresses the classification, measurement and
derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities,
introduces new rules for hedge accounting and a new
impairment model for financial assets.

The Group has reviewed its financial assets and liabilities
and is expecting the following impact from the adoption of
the new standard on 1 January 2018:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e AR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 —F—+F+=-H=+—HIFFZ

3. APPLICATION OF NEWANDREVISED 3. AN REEFI2H
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING B gHEEL ([ &8
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued) MBHEER L) e

3.2 HKFRSs IN ISSUE BUT NOT YET

EFFECTIVE (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (Continued)

The majority of the Group’s equity instruments that are
currently classified as available-for-sale (AFS) would
appear to satisfy the conditions for classification as fair
value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and
hence there will be no change to the accounting for these
assets. And the Group expects that its financial assets
currently measured at amortised cost and fair value
through profit or loss will continue with their respective
classification and measurements.

There will be no impact on the Group’s accounting for
financial liabilities, as the new requirements only affect
the accounting for financial liabilities that are designated
at fair value through profit or loss and the Group does not
have any such liabilities. The derecognition rules have
been transferred from HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement and have not been
changed.

The new impairment model requires the recognition of
impairment provisions based on expected credit losses
(ECL) rather than only incurred credit losses as is the case
under HKAS 39. It applies to financial assets classified
at amortised cost, debt instruments measured at FVOCI,
contract assets under HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers, lease receivables, loan commitments
and certain financial guarantee contracts. While the
Group has not yet undertaken a detailed assessment of
how its impairment provisions would be affected by the
new model, it may result in an earlier recognition of credit
losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M T

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 = F—+F+=—A=+—HIFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continueq)

3.2 HKFRSs IN ISSUE BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (Continued)

The new standard also introduces expanded disclosure
requirements and changes in presentation. These are
expected to change the nature and extent of the Group’s
disclosures about its financial instruments particularly in

the year of the adoption of the new standard.

HKFRS 9 must be applied for financial years commencing
on or after 1 January 2018. The Group does not intend to

adopt HKFRS 9 before its mandatory date.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with

customers

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15
will supersede the current revenue recognition guidance
including HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction
Contracts and the related interpretations when it becomes

effective.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e AR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 = F—+F+=—A=+—HIFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continuea)

3.2 HKFRSs IN ISSUE BUT NOT YET

3.2 EHEMIEEARERLZE

EFFECTIVE (Continued) BRI EER ()
HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with ERMBHEERFE155E K
customers (Continued) BEFEHZRA (&)

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects
the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods or services. Specifically,
the standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue
recognition:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer.

RN BRELERIF 15 5RZ L
JRAIGE BB P HER A & P8R
HEmIBBRHALZ WAL
& R IR ML ek B 82 TR HARL R34
FEMBMISEREFSZARE -
HBmE - 2ERI5| ARIA
B FEZ R -

I 5

Rl Aok

5°|d¥
N

=
4o

Step 2. Identify the performance obligations in the FH: BREAPHENER
contract. o

Step 3: Determine the transaction price. F=4 #EI%E °

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance FOF: BRXZEIEEEL
obligations in the contract. & E’]JE%’]E\&' °

Step 5 Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity FRY: REBTKENEM

satisfies a performance obligation.

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when
(or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer. Far
more prescriptive guidance has been added in HKFRS
15 to deal with specific scenarios. Furthermore, extensive
disclosures are required by HKFRS 15.

B (st t) * R
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RIZE BB RS 2ERFE 155 -
FRENTRBHEER (5tt)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M T

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #{2 —F—+F 1+ _-A=+—HILF/Z

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continuea)

3.2 HKFRSs IN ISSUE BUT NOT YET

EFFECTIVE (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with

customers (Continued)

In 2016, the HKICPA issued clarifications to HKFRS 15 in
relation to the identification of performance obligations,
principal versus agent considerations, as well as licensing

application guidance.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of HKFRS 15 in the future may not have
material impact on the amounts reported in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 was issued in January 2016. It will result in
almost all leases being recognised on the balance sheet,
as the distinction between operating and finance leases is
removed. Under the new standard, an asset (the right to
use the leased item) and a financial liability to pay rentals
are recognised. The only exceptions are short-term and

low-value leases.

Some of the commitments may be covered by the
exception for short-term and low value leases and some
commitments may relate to arrangements that will not
qualify as leases under HKFRS 16.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 = F—+F+=—A=+—HIFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continuea)

3.2 HKFRSs IN ISSUE BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

The accounting for lessors will not significantly change.

The standard will affect primarily the accounting for
Group’s operating leases. The directors of the Group
expect there will be no significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements when it becomes effective as the
Group does not have material lease arrangements as
lessee.

The application of HKFRS 16 is mandatory for financial
years commencing on or after 1 January 2019. At this
stage, the Group does not intend to adopt the standard
before its effective date.

4. REVENUE

The amount of each significant category of revenue recognised
during the years is analysed as follows:

3.2 ERMAEEKREN 2 E
BEIEIREER ()

EEMBREERE1657HE
=4¢ -

HEANSREHEEARN

4
= e

BB EEZEARELEH
EreitRE AEBEFER
HZ BN ARG A EE
PEmRBREATE  THER
REBEW BER/FABEANEAR
E2Hk -

FRY RS ERE 16 M AR
T-hF-A—HZEMR

ZBEERA - B AT AEE

BB HIRTERA LR o

N3 %EVW ERERZEEBEAN
SRR AR

For the year ended
31 December

BE+T-A=1+—HLFE

2017 2016

—E—+tF —E—RF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FIT

Rental income from investment properties & &#% 2 4 A 13,466 81
Sales of construction materials SHE EEM R 12,678 15,610
26,144 15,691
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M T

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #2 =%

5. OTHER INCOME

—tFF A= HULFE

5. HlgA

For the year ended
31 December
BZE+=-A=+—HLLFEE

2017 2016

—E—+tF —E-RF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FEx FiET

Interest income on bank deposit RITERZ A EWA 291 40

Interest income on loan receivables JEWEFR 2 FI B U A 21,268 1,454
Compensation income arising from EAERERTES

profit guarantee realisation 2 BEEWA 36,000 29,331

Other sundry income HABFETRRA 357 2

57,916 30,827

6. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

Loss before taxation is arrived after charging/(crediting):

[A) FINANCE COSTS

6. BRBIAIEIR

BREAEED NG (GEA) TH%

15 :

(A) B B2

For the year ended
31 December
BZE+-A=+—HLLFE

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-RF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Interest on interest-bearing borrowings  5HEEE Z &
— wholly repayable within five years — ZBRAFA 25,652 2,128
BEER
— not wholly repayable within BERRAF
five years NEHEE = —
Total borrowing costs BB AR 25,652 2,128

The analysis shows the finance costs of interest-bearing
borrowings, including term loans which contain a
repayment on demand clause, in accordance with the
agreed scheduled repayment dates as set out in the loan

agreements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 —F—+F+=-H=+—HIFFZ

6. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (continued)

(B] OTHER ITEMS

6. BRBLAIEIE =

(B] HfttIEH

For the year ended
31 December
BE+=-ZA=+—HIEE

2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE—RF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FBT FiET
Charging/(crediting): kR (GtA) -
Staff costs (including directors’ BTN (BE
emoluments) EEME)
— salaries, wages and other benefits — #& - T&R 2,440 1,613
HibiaF|
— retirement benefits scheme — RIKIEA
contributions FTEMHEK 291 158
Total staff costs B TN 48%8 2,731 1,771
Auditors’ remuneration ZEE & 1,960 1,200
Amortisation of intangible asset B & Y — 1,486
Amortisation of land use rights T AR A 8N 77 6
Depreciation of property, plant E =N
and equipment BEITE 19 690
Cost of inventories sold BEEFERA 12,574 15,434
Impairment loss recognised in respect  FLHIE - BiE & &E
of property, plant and equipment * R BIEREE — 3,603
Impairment loss recognised in respect  FLEEERER
of intangible asset * ZBIEEE — 37,131
Impairment loss recognised BT ERER 2 M E R
in respect of inventories* 54 —
Impairment loss on goodwill* EEYEAEVECN 52,791 —
Operating lease charges for premises ¥ ZEAE ST H 747 1,186
Net exchange loss b S8 5 5R — 43
Gross rental income from investment REREMEZEE
properties L ONEC] (13,466) (81)
Less: Direct operating expenses from 5 : FRELA WA
investment properties that ZIEMEZ
generated rental income BEREEERY
during the year 11,019 3
(2,447) (78)

The aggregate amount of impairment loss recognised in
respect of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets,
inventories and goodwill are included as “other operating
expenses” of the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M T

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 —F—+F+=-H=+—HIFFZF

7. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND 7.
CHIEF EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1)
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulations are follows:

BEECHEREBETBERAIENE
38NIER AR (BEEEFEER)
BOE 23 2 BEWELNT ¢

Salaries, Contributions
allowances to retirement

and benefits benefits
Directors’ in kind scheme
For the year ended fees He - HER RINER Total
31 December 2017 EEHd BNMAR HE G ast
BE-2—tF+-A=1-H HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
EEE T TET TER TERr
Executive directors BTES
Xu Xiao Jun ENE S — — — —
Ye De Chao ¥E — — — —
JiXu Dong FME - - - -
Independent non-executive directors BIFHTES
He Jin Geng Bl 120 — - 120
Yu Hong Gao Bam 120 - - 120
Chen Yang BR* 120 — — 120
360 — — 360
Total &t 360 - - 360
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #2 —F—+F 1+ _-A=+—HILFZ

» = /= =
7. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS AND 7. EEREETHAEM
CHIEF EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION T (&)
(Continued)
Salaries,  Contributions
allowances to retirement
and benefits benefits
Directors’ in kind scheme
For the year ended fees EHe AR RIRIEF Total
31 December 2016 EEikn EMFlR RELGE Ch
HE-T—"E+-A=1T—H HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HFE THL THL FHL THT
Executive directors YITEE
Xu Xiao Jun f/ME — — — —
Ye De Chao ¥EH — — — —
Ji Xu Dong =S5 _ _ _ _
Independent non-executive directors BIEHTES
He Jin Geng B 120 — — 120
Yu Hong Gao Bim 120 — — 120
Chen Yang [F9c3 120 — — 120
360 — — 360
Total a5t 360 — — 360

For the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors
of the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group. None of the directors of the Company waived or agreed

to waive any remuneration for the years ended 31 December

2017 and 2016.

HE-_Z—tER=-F—XE+=H
=t+—HILEEE AEETERARD
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MMAREE KA IARZ ZE - &
E-E—tFER-_FE—XR"F+=A
=t+—HLEFE BEARTESK
ZRERETMAE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #{2 —F—+F 1+ _-A=+—HILF/Z

8. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest paid emoluments, two
(2016: two) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in
note 7. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other
three (2016: three) individuals are as follows:

RE#FHAL

IfUZkeSHFALEEME (ZT—X
FoMB)EE AMESCKRMETA
W HBR=% (ZT—RF: =4)
AL Z & ERIT

For the year ended
31 December

BE+-A=+—HLEFE

2017 2016

—B—+tF ZEAF

HK$’000 HK$'000

THT T

Salaries and other emoluments e kEape 931 725
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme 3R KI&FI &4 7% 43 32
974 757

The three (2016: three) individuals include one (2016: one)
senior management that is not a director of the Company and
their emoluments are within the following bands:

=B (CT—RF: =8) ALER
— B (ZF—RF: —R) FARAE
EZRREBANE  REZHMEHE
LI

Number of individuals

A
2017 2016
—E—tF —E-REF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000 %70 3 3
3 3

For the year ended 31 December 2017, there was no
compensation paid for loss of office (2016: nil).
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 —F—+F+=-H=+—HIFFZ

9. INCOME TAX

(A] TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

9. FTEH

(A] #EBam e 2B

REPRESENTS:
For the year ended
31 December
BE+-A=1+—-HLEE
2017 2016
—E—+F —T-REF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FBT FiET
Current tax BIEABE 18
Hong Kong Profits Tax BENEH = —
The PRC Corporate Income Tax FR B TSR 5,480 261
Deferred tax credit EERIER R = (9,655)
5,480 (9,394)

No Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided in the
consolidated financial statements as the Group has no
estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for the
years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.

The Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are subject to the
PRC Corporate Income Tax at 25% (2016: 25%). Taxes
on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated
at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which
the Group operates, based on prevailing legislation,
interpretations and practice in respect thereof during the
year.

HE-Z—tHFERZZT—RF+=A
=+—HLFE BHRAEBERES
WAEGETERTER - WA ERGRE
MBHmERPELBBNETEE -

85 2 7R B B R 3 25%
(ST —4F : 25%) AT EL LA
185 o E A0 2 FE SRR BIET
REEBEEED - RERESIRE
PO 85 )48 B Ff e R MR 2 4 FR T
TR -

TEREZREARLTF
“E-LEFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 = F—+F+=—A=+—HIFE

9. FIEH

(B] B HHETTE A
P B 5T iR < #14R
/I

9. |NCOM E TAX (Continued)

(B] RECONCILIATION BETWEEN TAX EXPENSE
AND ACCOUNTING LOSS AT APPLICABLE
RATES:

S PR 0 T 5 4B 9
T

A reconciliation of the income tax applicable to loss before
taxation as follows:

For the year ended
31 December

BE+-A=+—HLFE

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHT

Loss before taxation BRI R EE (39,250) (18,365)
Tax at effective tax rate of 16.5% RERDIZE16.5%

(2016: 16.5%) (ZZ—R"F 1 16.5%) (6,476) (3,030)

FTEZBIE

Tax effect of share of results of ETEHﬁﬁ%Qﬂ%%

associates WYy 3,653 (1,100)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible A FIEF

for tax purpose s 7% 8,724 10,555
Tax effect of income not taxable BAERTUA

for tax purpose IR E (9,457) (4,840)
Tax effect of temporary difference TRERoMETE — (9,655)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised  RIER 2 FiIEE 12 6,715 2,308

WG E

Effect of different tax rates of the RNREFE TN A BB X

companies of the Group TRz &2 2,321 (3,632)
Income tax expenses/(credit) FriS®if (&) 5,480 (9,394)
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #{2 —F—+ 41+ =-A=+—HIFF/Z

10.SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment revenue represents revenue generated from external
customers. There were no inter-segment sales during the year
(2016: nil).

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment performance
is evaluated based on reportable segment profit, which is a
measure of segment profit. The segment profit represents the
result generated from each segment with allocation of (i) general
and administrative expenses, selling and distribution costs and
other operating expenses under the heading of other corporate
expenses; (ii) share of results of associates; (iii) interest income;
and (iv) compensation income and other sundry income under
the heading of other operating income. This is the measure
reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes
of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, all assets are allocated
to reportable segments other than corporate assets.

In a manner consistent with the way in which information is
reported internally to chief operating decision maker for the
purposes of resources allocation and performance assessment,
the Group is currently organised into the following operating
segments and geographical areas:

(a) The properties investment segment engages in rental
income from investment properties in the PRC;

(b) Natural gas segment engages in sales of natural pipelined
gases and its construction materials in the PRC; and

(c) Investment holding segment engages in investment in
associates on a geographical basis of the PRC.

10. - ZpE R

7 w2 Tﬂﬁﬁﬁl\*ﬁ%ﬁzl&/\ o £
NI ED EBEHE (ZF—R"F : ) -

AEmomeE uﬂEAZMEﬂZISEZ@
SRR o “*B%EEJHETF“*
| E’Jr%Z—J o> &Pt A 2 AF h 5T
ity o 2 8B4 A bﬂ"*ﬁﬁﬁ%i ol VES
() — MR RITHFX ~ HE K #HKA
MEMARAX T2 HMEERS
(i) A B 2 R A 2 R A4E ¢ (i) BB R
A R (iv) B g BT 2 BRERA
&ﬁﬁﬂ*ﬁlﬁl&i\ c KT EHATAE
LEARARERE URERDOEN
“*B%iﬁpﬂﬁﬁﬁf’ﬁtﬂﬁim °

Eﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ&“*ﬁ?ﬁ o AL &R
CFBEED E2HOEL (BF
BEFRIN)

ol

AREBENEALE2RTEBZZERR

EMELBRD B LRI B E

FﬁﬁHZET—ﬁI CBEIAI D B NS
B E SIS

(a) MEBRBEDHBRTERFERED

EZHEBWA

(b) RARDERPEREHEEE
RARRMARBBRIENF - ]

(c) WEEBD BN BERFRIE

J Z %@m ji‘ﬁﬁ\ °©
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 &2 —F—+#+-HA=+—HIFZ

10. D EREE )

UTAERBE-_E—tFR=_F—K
F+-_A=Z+—HItFEAERRE

10.SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results
by operating segment for the years ended 31 December 2017

and 2016:

BBy 2 Wes M EREZ DT

For the year ended 31 December 2017
BE-Z-tHF+-A=t+-HLEE

Properties Investment
investment  Natural gas holding  Unallocated Total
MERE AR REZR RAE Fak ]
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
TET FET TET FET THET
Segment revenue 2B
From external customers REIBEP 13,466 12,678 = = 26,144
Segment profit 2 EEF 2,447 104 - — 2,551
Interest income FISHA 2 21,557 = = 21,559
Other operating income, net Hi&BE R AT 3 354 36,000 — 36,357
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RKBAR
and associates PG AN e — - 17,358 — 17,358
Share of results of associates BB E AR EE — — (22,140) — (22,140)
Other corporate expenses HdEHAT (54,556) (1,462) (11,578) (1,687) (69,283)
(Loss)/Profit from operations gg (BB /%5 (52,104) 20,553 19,640 (1,687) (13,598)
Finance costs IR (652) — — (25,000) (25,652)
(Loss)/Profit before taxation BB (58) /%R (52,756) 20,553 19,640 (26687)  (39,250)
Income tax sy (189) (5,291) — — (5,480)
(Loss)/Profit for the year Fr(B8) /&5F (52,945) 15,262 19,640 (26,687) (44,730)
Other segment information Rt HER
Impairment loss recognised in HEEERL
respect of inventories REEE — (54) — — (54)
Impairment loss on goodwill HERESSE (52,791) — - — (52,791)
Amortisation e 5] (77) — - — (77)
Depreciation e ()] )] (13) — (19)
Segment assets NHEE 218,692 638,035 386,884 222 1,243,833
Segment liabilities NHEE 45,863 6,163 17988 250,000 320,014
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 —F—+F+=-H=+—HIFFZ

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continueq) 10. 7 EER @

For the year ended 31 December 2016
HE_Z-"ET_A=1+-HLEE

Properties Investment
investment  Natural gas holding  Unallocated Total
MERE RAR RERR RO ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET FAT THEL TAT FAT
Segment revenue pak: 1
From external customers REIFRE 81 15,610 — — 15,691
Segment profit 2 EEF 78 179 — — 257
Interest income FLEUWA — 1,494 — — 1,494
Other operating income, net Hit 2 EWAFE — 2 29,331 — 29,333
Share of results of associates [ElEEERR 2 — — 6,669 — 6,669
Other corporate expenses HdEHT (330) (44,788) (6,382) (2,490) (53,990)
(Loss)/Profit from operations ge (FR) /857 (252) (43,113) 29,618 (2,490) (16,237)
Finance costs IR (45) — — (2,083) (2,128)
(Loss)/Profit before taxation BBAT (BB) /%A (297) (43,113) 29,618 (4,573) (18,365)
Income tax iR — 9,394 — — 9,394
(Loss)/Profit for the year ER (B8) /%55 (297) (33,719) 29,618 (4,573) (8,971)
Other segment information Rt HER
Impairment loss recognised in respect  $¥1% - iR iR 1
of property, plant and equipment R RESE — (3,603) — — (3,603)
Impairment loss recognised in respect  SEFBERA L
of intangible asset BEEE — (37,131) — — (37,131)
Amortisation i (6) (1,486) — — (1,492)
Depreciation weE — (610) (80) — (690)
Segment assets DHEE 112,588 624,972 396,009 274,041 1,407,610
Segment liabilities AEBAE 29,502 3,391 318,995 250,000 601,888
FEERRERRAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #{2 —F—+F 1+ _-A=+—HILF/Z

\ > RN .
10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continueq) 10. 2B E ¥ =)
INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR CUSTOMERS TEFEFZEH
Revenue from external customers contribution over 10% of REBERAEBEBUZE 10% A ERHN
the total revenue of the Group from customer A, B and C from HEPHKENT - 8E2-F—tF
natural gas segment and customer D from the properties TZA=T—HIEFE  RARDE
investment segment for the year ended 31 December 2017 was MEFA - BRCURYMEREDIH
approximately HK$5,027,000, HK$3,246,000, HK$2,557,000 % P DH Yz 9 Bl & 495,027,000 %
and HK$10,599,000 respectively. JC ~ 3,246,000 7T + 2,557,000/ JT

110,599,000 & 7T °

11.LOSS PER SHARE M. 8REE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share RKARHEAEANEBESREAREEE

attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following BRE T8RS -

data:

(A] BASIC LOSS PER SHARE (A] BIREAEE
The calculation of basic loss per share amount is based on EREXREETREAR G E
the net loss for the year of approximately HK$44,700,000 =R AABLEFRAEBERFEY
(2016: net loss of HK$5,507,000) attributable to equity 44,700,000 7L (Z T — /< F -
holders of the Company, and weighted average of &5 8 % ¥5,507,000%8 T) &
4,269,910,510 (2016: 4,269,910,510) ordinary shares in FREBHTEBERINE T
issue during the year. 4,269,910,510f% (=T — /N F :

4,269,910,510A%) 5T & -

(B) DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE (B] HREEE 15
The Group had no potential dilutive ordinary shares in BE_Z—tFRZF—~HF
issue during the year ended 31 December 2017 and 2016. TZA=1T—BLEFE  F&E

BB TEEE ST R -
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 —F—+F+=-H=+—HIFFZ

12.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 12. BEYE

2017 2016

—Z—tHF ZE—RF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FTHET FAT

At 1 January n—A—H 61,122 —

Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 29(B))  UWBE—FEHE AR (FizE29(B)) — 61,122

Exchange alignment HE 5, 8 B 4,317 —

At 31 December R+=A=+—~H 65,439 61,122
Comprise of: B

Completed BRI 65,439 61,122

As at 31 December 2017, none of the investment properties
of (2016: HK$61,122,000) were pledged as collateral for the
Group’s interest-bearing borrowings as detailed in note 24.

As at 31 December 2017, all the investment properties are
located and leased in the PRC held under medium-term lease.

(A] VALUATION PROCESSES OF THE GROUP

The Group measures its investment properties at fair
value. The fair value of the Group’s investment properties
has been determined on the basis of valuation carried
out by Sino-Infinite Appraisal Limited (“Sino-Infinite”), an
independent and professionally qualified valuer.

Discussions of valuation processes and results are held
between the management and the valuer at least once
every six months, in line with the Group’s interim and
annual reporting dates.

R-E—+F+-_A=+—0" 1=
BEYE (ZF—71F 1 61,122,0007%8
) EEREAREEG BEECEA
m (FRAFIEE24) o

R-_ZTE—+F+—HA=+—H " H{
B Y EIIAL R B & A B AR 1
HHEERESs -

(A) XEEZ G EREF

AEBEZAVEFEEREY
X AEEREMENAFER
BEHELEXAERGEMTIR
AfEERAR ([HIR]) #1772
HEEE

BRENMMOGEMEBEREAZDF
wm—RAERFRER - BAK
B R FE R E B EER -

TEREZREARLTF
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #{2 —F—+F 1+ _-A=+—HILF/Z

12.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continueq)

(B] VALUATION TECHNIQUES

Valuations were based on direct comparison approach,
which is adopted assuming sales of these properties in
its existing state with the benefit of vacant possession. By
making reference to sales transactions as available in the
relevant market, comparable properties in close proximity
have been selected and adjustments have been made to
account for the difference in factors such as location and
property size.

INFORMATION ABOUT FAIR VALUE
MEASUREMENTS USING SIGNIFICANT
UNOBSERVABLE INPUTS [LEVEL 3)

(C]

12. BEWYZE @)

(B] 1416754

HEDRAERLBORET - &

A A A
Wiz E

XEARANRE

E-K2EEMMBMEER
5 o BRI RA R B L ERY)
X RAUEMMEREEREN

ZRIEHBE -

(C) BEEHEZRT A&

EAIEF B9 FlE
B (B=/) HEH

Fair value
A¥E

Investment properties 2017 2016  Fairvalue  Valuation Significant

held by the Group “Z—+F ZZ—7"F  hierarchy  techniques unobservable inputs Sensitivity

FREMRE HK$000  HK$000  AFE EpNIE

RENE TR TET ER fHERE BAER HRE

At 31 December 2017

Investment properties 65,439 61,122 Level3 Direct Market price from The higher market price,

— industrial building FZR comparison RMB4,400/m? to the higher fair value,

approach RMB5,100/m? and vice versa

(2016: RMB4,300/m?

R=B-t&+t=A=+-H RMBS5,300/m?)

RanE BB TEARETHK mEES

- T¥g7F AR¥4400 L E AVHEER

YA KRARES5100 7T R2 TR
(ZB-RE YK
AR¥4300 T EBTHK
AR¥53007)
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #2 —F—+F 1+ _-A=+—HILFZ

12.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 12. 1REWE =
(D] THE FOLLOWING AMOUNTS HAVE BEEN D] TH&EEE R G R a
RECOGNISED IN THE CONSOLIDATED é?ﬁ b2 H W 75 75 T
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND i

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME:

For the year ended
31 December
BE+-HA=+—HLEE

2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Gross rental income from investment RAKEME ZHE
properties N L 13,466 81
Less: Direct operating expenses from & : FRELBESWAZ
investment properties that REMEZ HZ
generated rental income KR
during the year (11,019) (3)
The future aggregate minimum rental receivables under BIBETAIBEELE A EN R RRIERE
non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: Wie@sEmT
For the year ended
31 December
BZE+=-A=+—RHLLFE
2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
No later than 1 year —FR 990 1,110
Later than 1 year and no later than —FRERFA
5 years 756 994
Later than 5 years A& = —
1,746 2,104
During the year ended 31 December 2017, the investment HE-_ET—+Ft+-_A=1+—HI%F
properties are all located in the PRC and have lease E o WEWMEHMPFPE - FHEDRS
periods less than 5 years (2016: 5 years). F(ZTE—RF 55F) -
FEERREERAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 = F—+F+=—A=+—HIFE

13. Y% - BERRKE
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13.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture
Construction- Plantand  Leasehold Office Motor and
in-progress Pipelines Building ~ machinery improvements  equipment vehicles fixtures Total
EBIE BE BT HEREE HEMEEE  BOTRE RE  GHREE &t
HK$1000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
Tk T Tikn T Tin T Tihn T Thn
Cost A
At 1 January 2016 RZF—"5-A-A 9,509 114 3,689 5162 167 904 485 515 20,545
Additions HE - - - - 37 - - - 37
Acouisition of a subsidiary ~ WE—FEHBAA 74 - - - 68 - 142
Exchange alignments 3 (726) Ul (254) (294) - (49) (5 (19) (1,354)
At31December 016and ~ R=E-/ETZA=1-A
1 January 2017 k=5-tE5-A-A 8,857 107 3435 4,868 204 923 480 4% 19370
Additions hE - - - - - 40 - - 4
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—THERA - - - - - (330) - (168) (498)
Acquisifon of asubsidiary  JE—FHELR) 127,723 - - - - 3 - - 127,761
Exchange alignments ERHRE 5 - - - - bl - 1 4
At 31 December 2017 RZE-t§+ZB=1-H 136,585 107 3,435 4,868 204 698 480 339 146,716
Accumulated depreciation ~ ZiHTERHE
and impairment
At 1 January 2016 RZF-7"5-A-A 6,412 73 2,345 4685 134 m 450 339 15,217
Charge for the year TEESH - - - 478 31 51 10 120 690
Acquisition of a subsidiary  YE—FEIHELA - - - - - 61 - — 61
Bxchange alignments ExAE - - - (321) - (56) 13 19 (345)
Impairment loss HEER 2,371 34 1,090 26 - 73 7 2 3,603
At31December 2016and ~ W=F-~FTZA=1-A
1 January 2017 k=5-t£-f-H 8783 107 3435 4868 165 908 480 480 19,226
Charge for the year TEERH - - - - 13 6 - - 19
Disposal of asubsidiary ~ tHE-FKBAR - - - - - (330) - (168) (498)
Acquisifon of asubsidiary  E—FAHBAR) - - - - - 3% - - 3
Bxchange alignments EREE - - - - - 3 - 27 60
At 31 December 2017 RZE-tE+ZA=1-H 8,783 107 3,435 4,868 178 653 480 339 18,843
Carrying amounts EE
At 31 December 2017 RZE-tE+Zh=1-H 127802 - - - 26 45 - - 127873
At31 December 2016 RIB-RETZAZT-H 74 - - - 39 15 - 16 144

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED

Annual Report 2017



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e AR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 —F—+F+=-H=+—HIFFZ

13.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13.1% - BERRE =)

(Continued)
The above items of property, plant and equipment are Ltz BERXEEBEBEZATE
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per KRB FEENE
annum:
Pipelines 3% BiE 31/3%
Building 2 - 33'/s% or over the lease term, BF 2 - 331/,% KL T B
if shorter (A& s A%E)
Plant and machinery 10 - 20% B M i 23 10 - 20%
Leasehold improvements ~ Over the lease term MEMEEE 1=EH
Office equipment 10 - 20% NS 10 - 20%
Motor vehicles 10 - 20% T 10 - 20%
Furniture and fixtures 10 - 20% RREE 10 - 20%
The carrying value of land under construction-in-progress was R TE 2 BREE AR EZF
held under medium-term lease on the PRC. HARM AR o
Certain properties construction in progress were pledged in ETERYMERER T —HPREE
favour of a PRC trust company to secure the payment obligation RRAEB—RBIULUE=-FHZ
of an independent third party in the sum of approximately FERERRAABRTZBILE=TA
HK$95,184,000 (equivalent to RMB80,000,000) granted by the £#795,184,0008 7L (HE R AR
PRC trust company in favour of the independent third party. The 80,000,0007T) EFHERNEEH#E
carrying amount of the pledged properties were approximately ReRZE—tF+ZA=1+—80 &
HK$127,723,000 as at 31 December 2017. B BRE{EA) 127,723,000/ 7T °
14.LAND USE RIGHTS 14, L i FA#E
2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHT
At 1 January m—A—H 1,881 —
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 29) Ue g — M@ A A (FIFE29) — 1,887
Exchange alignment b 54 131 —
Amortisation i (77) (6)
At 31 December R+=—BA=+—~H 1,935 1,881
Land use rights comprise cost of acquiring rights to use certain T FRERRESERNFEREEM
land, which are principally located in the PRC, for investment RABASE T LA - DA E E H
properties over fixed periods. FETTYIERE -
FEERRERRAT

“E-LEFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M T

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #{2 —F—+F 1+ _-A=+—HILF/Z

14.LAND USE RIGHTS (continueq)

As at 31 December 2017, none of the land use rights (2016:
HK$1,881,000) were pledged as collateral for the Group’s
interest-bearing borrowings as detailed in note 24.

14. Tt {EFRRE )

WM sF 24 Frstal » R—E—+F+ =
A=+—H TELmFERE (-F
—7NE 1,881,000 7T) D IEIREA

AEEEREEZEMMm

15. GOODWILL 15. 52
2017 2016
—EB—tF ZE-XRF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHEx FHTT
Cost R
At 1 January n—A—H 76,426 27,118
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 29) e g — M E A A (FIFE29) — 49,308
Exchange alignment (RS 3,483 —
At 31 December W+—RA=+—8 79,909 76,426
Accumulated impairment losses ZItEHEER
At 1 January n—A—H 27118 27,118
Impairment loss recognised FANERBERBRE
in the year (note) (P ) 52,791 —
At 31 December MR+=—A=+—H 79,909 27,118
Carrying amounts BREE
At 31 December W+—A=+—H — 49,308

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) under the properties
investment segment.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 2 —F—+F+=-HA=+—HIFZF

15. GOODWILL (continued) 15. B8 &)

As at 31 December 2017, the recoverable amounts of the CGU
have been determined from value-in-use calculation. During
the year ended 31 December 2017, due to the change in
government policy published by the Ministry of Environment
Protection, the port of Tianjin will strictly control road coal inflow
to reduce pollution emission from diesel vehicle. By end of
September 2017, all transfer ports in Hebei province, China, will
be banned from taking coal transported by trucks via road and
can only receive coal from railway. Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics
Company Limited received certain letters of intent for provision
of coal storage rental services through its investment properties
located in no. 34 Di Ba Da Jie, Development Area, Tianjin
City, the PRC. Being affected by the change in government
policy, all the letters of intent have been revoked. Based on the
impairment assessment review, an impairment loss of goodwill
of approximately HK$52,791,000 was recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2017.

As at 31 December 2016, the recoverable amounts of the CGU
have been determined from value-in-use calculations based on
cash flow projections from formally approved budgets covering
a four-year period. The key assumptions for the discount cash
flow method are the growth rate, operating margin and discount
rate. The growth rate within four-year period ranging from 40%
to 52% and beyond the four-year period is extrapolated at
zero growth rate, which does not exceed the long-term growth
rate for the business in which the CGU operates. Budgeted
operating margin ranging from 24% to 28% is determined and
the rate used to discount the cash flow projections is 17%.

R-ZZE—+tF+ZA=+—H HKe
AEBEMZAIBRESENIZFERER
HEREF - BE-_ZT—+F+-A
=T —HIEFE  ARIRBRESE
MR AT R &) - RIEB A BRARIE
BIRBEERRA - R DL m B E
ERSREER - HE-_ZT—EFNA
K - BT A AP EE S
ERBNRER  TEERENRRB
HKER o  REREMRBRAFIR
FEREMAPRRETHABERENK
HIAR IR EMERMERBFHEHE
REEEHOHEME - XBTEREZ
B MBERNEHCHE - RE
BENHEES  BEZT—tF+=
A=T—HILEFE REEEmRRE
REEREEE52,791,00087T °

RZZE—R"F+_A=+—0 R&
EXBzARKEEIZFEREER
SEE REETXIEEESHZ
BenefEl CRENEH) B - 8
BRERAEFHEIERRBEER
QB RN ERIRE - MFFEH
N2 BR R 5 A40%-52% @ RBP4
ZIRERETIKEOR ZIEREHEE
I RETBRACERSEELEEND
¥ RIERE - BEEAEE R
FR B 24%—28% ° BHIRIR & m TE B %
FMREERE B 17% °

TEREZREARLTF
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 2 —F—+F+=-HA=+—HIFZF

/ ~
16.INTANGIBLE ASSET 16. B EE
Concession agreement
BEERE
2017 2016
—E—+F —E-RF
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Cost R
At 1 January n—HA—H 170,285 170,285
Written off i (170,285) —
At 31 December W+=—A=+—H — 170,285
Accumulated amortisation and Rt B REE
impairment
At 1 January n—A—H 170,285 131,668
Amortisation charged for the year FAE A #EH = 1,486
Impairment loss provided for the year FAREBERE — 37,131
Reversal of impairment REEE (170,285) —
At 31 December W+——A=+—H — 170,285
The intangible asset represents a concession agreement of BILEERNEAFHRIOF2H
natural gas project in the PRC with useful lives of 30 years. RNRIA B Fratigiz o
As at 31 December 2016, the Group determined the recoverable RZE—RF+-_A=+—8 &%
amount of cash generating unit (“CGU”) for natural gas operation ERBEEAEBFELZEERARE
based on value in use calculation. The calculation incorporated BReELEM([REEEXEAM])
cash flows projections based on financial budgets as approved Z Bl B3R o T E AR ARE
by management at a discount rate of 12.5%. As the recoverable KEBEREN T BIEE LM IR X
amount of the CGU of natural gas operation was below the 125%FH 2R REEA - ARX
carrying amount, approximately HK$37,131,000 impairment loss ARFEBHREELESM 2 AT KO EFE
has been recognised. BEREEE BitE#RBEBEQ

37,131,000 7T °
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 2 —F—+F+=-HA=+—HIFZF

17.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

17. REFE DR 2 s

2017 2016

—EB—+tF —E—RE

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FHTT

At 1 January n—A—H 342,799 343,864

Share of post-acquisition (loss)/profit of — FE{GHEE A FUEER

associates (B18) /55 (22,140) 6,669
Share of post-acquisition reserves of FEAGEE QR IB R

associates 29,616 (7,734)

At 31 December W+——A=+—H 350,275 342,799

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the Group’s interests in
associates represent 40% equity interests in Forward Investment
(PRC) Company Limited and its subsidiaries (“Forward
Investment”).

Details of Forward Investment are as follows:

(i) On 27 September 2012, Keen Gate Developments
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a subscription agreement to subscribe the
approximately 40% equity interests in Forward Investment
(the “Subscription”). The Subscription was completed on
10 December 2012.

Pursuant to the subscription agreement, Mr. Ye De Chao,
an executive director of the Company and the original
beneficial owner of Forward Investment (collectively
referred to as the “Guarantors”) jointly and severally
guaranteed the dividend income distributed by Forward
Investment to the Group. The Guarantors will provide
compensation income to the Group if the dividend income
from Forward Investment is lower than HK$36,000,000
(12% of the consideration of the Subscription) per annum.
The guarantee will be valid from the completion date (10
December 2012) of the Subscription and up to the Group
ceases to be a shareholder of Forward Investment. During
the year, the compensation income of approximately
HK$36,000,000 (2016: HK$29,331,000) was recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

RZE—+tFR_FTE—RF+_-A
=t+t—H AEERBEAT 2R
EREFMIEE (FR) AR QG REK
BAR ([FMIKE ) 2 40% IXHE o

I EFIBOT ¢

(i)

RZE—=—FNA=Z++tH K
NA—REEMBRAAIEEERE
ER AR L — D RIB B AR
BRMEE 2 4940% Bk ([REE
FH]) REFEHENZZ—=
F+ZA+HZEK -

RIEREHE - NARRITES
EEBEERTNREZRES
BEAN (RBATERAL #A
RAERERFFIEE M AEE D
k2 BB o (A% & R 1t
2 FE R B WA KR 36,000,000
BT (RBEEREZ12%) - &
RABRAEBREFBERA -
ZERBEERBEETKAH

—E-—F+-A+H) BER
REETHARMKE KT IEH
MAEM - RAFE - HERALY
36,000,000 7T (ZZ — X F -
29,331,000 7T) R & B
RAPHER

TEREZREARLTF
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #{2 —F—+F 1+ _-A=+—HILF/Z

17.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continueq) 17. REEE QR T 2R )

(i) Summary of financial information of Forward Investment is (i) FTHEREZHBHERBEZ 0T

as follows:

2017 2016

—E—tF —E—REF

HK$°000 HK$'000

THET FET

Total assets BEMRE 1,122,539 1,339,330

Total liabilities BfERSE (246,852) (482,332)

Net assets BEFE 875,687 856,998

Group’s share of net assets of associates A& B fE{GHE & A A)
BEFE 350,275 342,799

For the year ended
31 December

BE+t-A=+—-HLEE

2017 2016

—E—tF ZE—RF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHEx FHTT

Total revenue FEl g 5,628 116,376
(Loss)/Profit for the year FA (BR) &5 (55,351) 16,672
Group's share of results of associates AEEELEE AR FEE (22,140) 6,669
Group’s share of reserves REBE LS 29,616 (7,734)
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H
I%/T\/\

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #2 =%

17.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continueq)

(iif)

B B SRR B AL

—tFF A= —HILFE

17. RBEE AR 2R @)

At 31 December 2017 and 2016, Forward Investment had (iy RZT—EFR-_T—RF+=
the following subsidiaries: A=+—H HTMEREHERBUT
MELa
Place of
incorporation and Attributable equity
principal place Registered and interest held
Name of operation paid up capital by the Group Principal activities
AL L 4 B I MR rE@RE
A8 TEEXBE BARA BRAEZ A TEEHR
2017 2016
“E-tf5 %
Forward Investment (PRC) Hong Kong HK$27,339,422 40% 40%  Investment holding
Company Limited B 27,339,422 75 7T REER
ZMEE (RE) BRAF
Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property The PRC RMB260,000,000* 40% 40%  Property development and
Company Limited* H RMB255,366,619° property investment
HRENAMERFR AT AR # 260,000,000 7 ¢ NERERNFRE
AEH 255,366,619 7C°
* For identification purposes only i fEHtER
# Registered capital ! R E A
b Paid up capital b BERmA
FEEZRERRDF

“E-LEFR

143



4

144
S)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M T

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #{2 —F—+F 1+ _-A=+—HILF/Z

18.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following list contains the principal subsidiaries of the
Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise

18. RKY B N B 2 %

TRIHAEEZ T ZWBERR - K
ABERBPEN - FRRO BRI RE

stated. N e
Particulars of
issued and Proportion of
Place of paid up capital/ effective interest
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
BRARBHRE/ REERE
WELARER BalzAe ERBAFE -G.3 Japdid] TEER
2017 2016
—E-t% I SN2
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
HE 5524 E# il
Prospect Sync Holdings Limited The British 1 share of US$1 100% — 100% —  Investment holding
Virgin Islands 1REE1ZT2 R REHER
(the “BVI")
RERXAHES
(I%BRxESE))
Honesty Services Limited Hong Kong 1 share of HK$1 100% — 100% —  Holding of
RERBERAR e 1REE 1 AT RS motor vehicles
BERE
Honesty Treasure Limited Hong Kong 2 shares of 50% 50% 50% 50% Provision of
BERRERAT EE HK$1 each management
REREETER services
IR RAERRS
Success Take Limited The BVI 1 share of US$1 100% - 100% —  Investment holding
RERTHES 1REE1ETZRA RERR
City Vision Investments Limited Hong Kong 1 share of HK$1 - 100% — 100%  Investment holding
BREEERAT X 1REfE 1 BT R REAR
Ampleline Holdings Limited The BVI 1 share of US$1 100% - 100% —  Investment holding
RERTHES 1REE1ETZRA RERR
Nanjing Shengjie Infrastructure The PRC US$5,000,000% - - — 100%  Construction projects
Development Limited” (note () 5,000,000 %% BHER

AR ERRRERER LA

(FE (i)

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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R IR AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 = F—+F+=—A=+—HIFE

18.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continvesy 18 A 22 Bl 2 #E %% ()

Particulars of
issued and Proportion of
Place of paid up capital/ effective interest
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
BRTREARE/ FEERE
WEARER MRS ERBARFE BERER2ILA TEXRK
2017 2016
ZE—tF ZENE
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
Hi 524 Ef i
Sun On Chung King Hong Kong 1 share of HK$1 - 100% — 100% Investment holding
(Hong Kong) Limited BB 1REB1IBTZRA RARR
HMzmy (FE) ARAT
Xinan Zhongjing Gas The PRC RMB10,000,000 - 90% — 90%  Natural gas
Company Limited” (note (ii)) HE AR 10,000,000 construction
HERRRRERAT (i) projects
AARRRER
Xinan Shengjie Gas The PRC RMB30,000,000% - 100% — 100%  Natural gas
Company Limited* (note (iv)) HE RMB6,000,000° construction
MRERMEERARF (M (v) AR30,000,0007C* projects
ARH6,000,0007° ARRERER
Keen Gate Developments Limited ~ The BV 1 share of US$1 100% — 100% —  Investment holding
EBREAHE 1REE I ZTRH REAR
Nanjing Taihe Natural Gas The PRC RMB40,000,000% - 100% — 100%  Trading of
Accessory Engineering Company AR 40,000,000 7 construction
Limited* (note (ii)) materials
ARRNARRRETRERAR RENHES
(FirzE (i)
Gangning Investment Company The PRC RMB185,000,000% - 100% — 100%  Investment holding
Limited* (note (ii) ARIE 185,000,000 7 RARR
REREARNA (W (i) HE
Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics Company ~ The PRC RMB109,984,948% - 51% — 51%  Property investment
Limited* (note (i) HE AR 100,984,948 T NERE
REkENRARRR (M (i)
Tianjin Hui Li Yuan Power Equipment  The PRC RMB4,886,027*° - 60% — —  Property investment
Company Limited" (note (i) HE AR 4,886,027 T NERE

REENRHNREBRAF (M)

HEERREERAT
—ELEEH
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 = F—+F+=—A=+—HIFE

18.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continvesy ~ 18. A A B 2 #E %8 ()

Notes: BfsE -
() Registered under the laws of the PRC as wholly owned foreign ()  BEPEEETMAINEEERE -
enterprise.
(i) Registered under the laws of the PRC as domestic enterprise. (i) IBEPBEEIMARNEDLE -
(i)  Registered under the laws of the PRC as one person limited iy REPEEZEIMAE—ATRETA
liability enterprise. Al e
(iv)  The Group does not have any material non-controlling interests as vy RZE—+tFRZF—XR"F+=A
at 31 December 2017 and 2016. =t—B AEEHEEFEAEAR
FEPEAR IR R M A o
* For identification purposes only : EHH7
# Registered capital # &
o Paid up capital b BEIRAS
19.INVENTORIES 19.7&
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Construction materials EME 54 53
Less: Impairment loss recognised B BERBEREE (54) —
— 53

i
(5}

1 7 Bk

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 20. } =

DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENT

N\

kps
St

\
R4

54
54

s

=
=
pimpl

2017 2016

—ET—tF —E—REF

Notes HK$°000 HK$'000

FiEE FHT FHET

Trade receivables JEUWE IR (a) 13,406 —
Other receivables, deposits H At fEUGRIR

and prepayment Ee RTENHKIA (b) 47,985 624,780

61,391 624,780
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #2 —F—+F 1+ _-A=+—HILFZ

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 20. BN B 5 BRI LA PR
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENT (continuca) %:ﬂlﬁ - REREAEAK
(&)

(A] TRADE RECEIVABLES

(A) FEKE Z BT

2017 2016

—E—+tF ZE—RF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHEx FHTT

Trade receivables JEUE F IR 13,436 30

Less: Impairment loss recognised B BEERRESE (30) (30)

Trade receivables, net JEUE FERFUFEE 13,406 —

Movement of impairment loss recognised in respect of HEREGERERZREBEEZS
trade receivables is shown as follows: FITREAT -

2017 2016

—B—+tF ZEARF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FER FHT

At 1 January Rn—A—H 30 30

Impairment loss recognised ERERBERE — —

At 31 December W+Z—A=+—H 30 30
Notes: PiE -

(i) The Group generally allowed an average credit period due () AEBE—RREEWREZERE

within 30 days to its trade debtors. FF130 K= EH -
(i) In determining the recoverability of trade receivables, the (i) HTETEKEZEZ AT

Whm AREeEREYNE
SEFEEEEAREERE
BERRZEEERHAZE
s - A RKE SRR
30 A MBI /AR ERIEE -

Group considers any change in the credit quality of the
trade debtors from the date credit was initially granted up
to the end of the reporting period. All the trade debtors are
due within 30 days or on demand.

EERRERRAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #{2 —F—+F 1+ _-A=+—HILF/Z

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENT (continued)

(A] TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Aging analysis of trade debtor is as follows:

(A) B E Z IR ()

FEWE SRR BRER AT INT

2017 2016

—E—+F ZE—RF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Due within 30 days or on demand 30 HAE|HiskizEsk — —
Due within 31-60 days 31 BE60 BREIE — —
Due within 61-90 days 61 HZ 90 HAE|H] — —
Due over 90 days 183590 A F| 51 13,406 —
13,406 —

(B) OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND

(B) AftfEWHIE -+ #2E R

=,
PREPAYMENT FE1T50E
2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE—RF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT
Other receivables, deposits and HAbEUGRIA ~ & d
prepayment MIERFIE 47,985 624,780
Less: Impairment loss recognised B BRERBERE — —
Other receivables, deposits and Hib WA « iR Rk
prepayment, net TR RIEF 5 47,985 624,780
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e AR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #2 —F—+F 1+ _-A=+—HILFZ

20.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENT (continued)

(B] OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENT (cContinued)

Notes:

()

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

At 31 December 2017, compensation income receivable of
approximately HK$36,000,000 (2016: HK$29,331,000) was
included in other receivables, deposits and prepayment,
details of which has been set out in note 17.

At 31 December 2017, amount due from non-controlling
interest of a subsidiary of approximately HK$6,103,000
(2016: nil) was included in other receivables, deposits and
prepayment. The amount is unsecured, interest free and
has no fixed term of repayment.

At 31 December 2016, loan interest prepayment of
approximately HK$22,917,000 was included in other
receivables, deposits and prepayment.

At 31 December 2016, loan receivables of approximately
HK$502,185,000 was included in other receivables,
deposits and prepayment. All the loan receivables are
fixed-rate loan receivables with effective interest rate of
4.35% per annum. All the loan receivables are due within
one year and be classified as “current portion”. As at 31
December 2016, all the loan receivables are neither past
due nor impaired.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of other receivables, deposits and prepayment
approximate to its fair values.

20. B E 3
Y FIE -

I8 ()

(B) BEbfEWFIE « 152K
FETFIE ()

GER

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

RZE—tF+=ZRA=+—
B B W &HE K’ AL
36,000,000/ 7T (ZZF—71F ¢
29,331,000/8 7T) st A H fh &
WskE - e RENRIE B
EE AN TR A

RZE—tF+ZRA=+—
B - FEUET B A B FEIE AR 3R
TR FIB 496,103,000 7T (=
T—RNF:T) FFAEMEK
A e RIEMRIE - %R
BRERR S NMEETE
FRER o

RZE—RF+_A=+—
H BXAMEEMNZELY
22,917,000 % j &t A E & U
FIE -~ e RIEAFUE -

RZE-—R"F+ZA=+—
A U E X 49502,185,000
IR AR M IR - RS
MIENFIE - FTERERKRERE
EEERKER BERFEHEA
4.35%  FT B EWE R —F
NEH R 5EA [ REE D] -
RZE-—RNF+=ZA=+—
B - FTE ERE LR E I
ERE o

ARABEFTR/EAMEEK
B RERBARBEZREE
SENFERSE -

HEERREERAT
—ELEEH
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #{2 —F—+F 1+ _-A=+—HILF/Z

21.CASH AND BANK BALANCES 21. R & KB 1THER

2017 2016

—B—+tF ZEAF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FE T FHTT

Cash and cash equivalents Re kA EED 636,920 54,006

BIEE

Notes:

U]

(i)

(iii)

Included in cash and bank balances of the Group, approximately
HK$636,629,000 (2016: HK$52,058,000) of bank balances are
denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”). RMB is not a freely convertible
currency. However, under the Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Included in the cash and bank balances of the Group,
approximately HK$nil (2016: HK$814,000) are denominated in
United States Dollars (“USD”).

Bank balances earn interests at floating rate and fixed rate, and
are placed and deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent
history of default.

22. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR

(iif)

REE RS RBTHEBKBIEUA
REE(TARE]D stEZHRITEH
#1636,629,000%8 7T (ZF — /N F -
52,058,000/ 7T) - AR BIEE A
HipEE o Rifn - RIEPERHZ S
P IR k1) R A5 D - S I AT IE B IR
HIE - ANEE SR EETTINESE
B2 RITHIMARBAHEME -

AEE RS RIBTRBBEAET
(T ) HEZHTBT (ZF—5
4 : 814,000 7T) ©

BT ESRIDRATREL L - R
TR A ERE 403083 A B 1S
17 -

22. 7 RRIFIFHEEE

SALE
2017 2016
—E—+F ZE—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Assets: BE:
Interests in associates N - ey 276,326 266,167
Financial asset at fair value through AR EET ABREER
profit or loss ZEREE 7,350 7,350
Disposal of associates k=N (283,676) —
— 273,517
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 2 —F—+F+=-HA=+—HIFZF

22. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR

SALE (Continued)

On 20 March 2013, the Company announced the decision of
its board of directors to dispose of Beijing Zhonggang Green
Energy Investment Consulting Co., Ltd. (the “Intermediate
Holding Company”) and its subsidiaries. The disposal was due
to be completed on 30 September 2014. As at 31 December
2013, final negotiations for the sale were in progress and
Intermediate Holding Company and its subsidiaries were
classified as a disposal group held for sale.

During the year ended 31 December 2014 and 31 December
2015, the Company had entered into the second and third
supplemental agreement to extend the expected completion
date of the disposal of the Intermediate Holding Company
and its subsidiaries to 31 March 2015 and 31 December 2015
respectively.

The disposal was completed on 28 June 2017. Details of the
disposal are set out in note 34.

As at 31 December 2016, included in assets classified as
held for sale, interests in associates of HK$266,167,000 has
been measured based on account record up to 30 June
2012. As the directors of the Company have not been able
to obtain adequate and reliable financial information from
the management of the associate (Beijing Zhonggang Green
Energy Group), the directors of the Company consider that the
consolidated financial statements of the Beijing Zhonggang
Green Energy Group for the six months ended 30 June 2012
was practicably the most recent available financial information.

RZTE—=F=A-+H ARFAE
MEESREHEIL RPBLAERE
BRHBRAR ([FEZEERAR]D K
HfB AR - hWEZZKEMR-F
—HAFAA=THR - R-_T—=

TZR=1—H8 ABRLEzZRRE&H
BIEEETM AR EZER AR R EWNE
RARIDBERFBERE ZHEER -

HE-_Z-mWFE+-_A=+—HAEK=
E-—RAF+-_A=+—HIEFE &«
RAFINEZRE=ZNHTRZE B
HEPEZERAFRENBARZE
HEXKBHORTEHE-—_T—AF
=A=+—BER=ZZE—HE+=A
=+t—H-

HEER-T—EFRNA-F+N\HZE
X o SR E 2 FFIBHINMIES4 ©

RZZE-—RF+ZA=+—H ®—
fE Bt & N B R4 25 266,167,000 T E
WADBEABEHEERE  WERE
HE-_Z——FA=1THIZEF
REETE c HRARRIETEELBZ
Bt AR (LR BZEEER) HER
BESZS RASEZHMBER - BAit
ARAREER AR BLEEEEE
E-T——FRA=ZFTHILAEAZ
REMBHRRABER I ESN &I
BER -

TEREZREARLTF
“E-LEFR
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R IR AR M T

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #{2 —F—+F 1+ _-A=+—HILF/Z

23.TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

23. FE {4 5 5 BR 3K R 5L A

I8

2017 2016

—E—+tF ZE—RF

Notes HK$°000 HK$'000

FiEE FHx T

Trade creditors JERE S IRN (a) 12,749 3,933

Accruals and other payables FEFTE R R EAMFEN FRIE (b) 30,061 334,271
Amounts due to non-controlling FEAST FEEAR AR R M 25 SRR

interests (c) — 175

Amounts due to substantial JER 2 HEARAR R SRIR
shareholder (d) 12,850 —
55,660 338,379

Notes: BsT -
(a)  Aging analysis of trade creditors is as follows: (a) EREBEIERZERHBITTMT
2017 2016
—E—+tF —ERF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
Due within 30 days or on demand 30 HREIBgiR Esk — —
Due within 31 to 60 days 31 BE60HRE|H — —
Due within 61 to 90 days 61 BZE 90 HRE|H — —
Due over 90 days B3890 B EIH8 12,749 3,933
12,749 3,933

(b) At 31 December 2017, receipts of the consideration from disposal
of the Intermediate Holding Company amounting to approximately
HK$ nil (2016: HK$315,000,000) was included in accruals and
other payables.

(c) At 31 December 2017 and 2016, amounts due to non-controlling
interests was unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no fixed
terms of repayments.

(d) At 31 December 2017 and 2016, amounts due to substantial
shareholder was unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no
fixed terms of repayments.

(e)  The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts
of trade and other payables approximate to its fair values.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e AR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #2 —F—+F 1+ _-A=+—HILFZ

24.INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS 24. 5T RBE

2017 2016
—E—tF —ZE-XRF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHEx FHTT
Borrowings e 250,000 255,378
Secured HIEA 250,000 255,378
Unsecured R — —
250,000 255,378
2017 2016
—B—+tF —ERF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEx FAT
Scheduled repayment terms of secured  E AR ERE R IETHN
borrowings contain a repayment on BEBEERGTEE K E
demand clause (shown under (RREBBETIITR) :
current liabilities):
— Within one year ——FR 250,000 5,378
— In more than one year but not — BB —FEL
more than two years BB E — 250,000
— In more than two years but not — BEmEES
more than five years 38 — —
250,000 255,378
Less: On demand or amount due within 3 : IRESKIE &R Eh
one year shown under current BEMRT—F
liabilities AEIER 58 (250,000) (5,378)
Amount shown under non-current liabilities JEREN B EFT/RE S EE — 250,000
FEERREERAT

—s—tzeg 103
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M T

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #2 =%

—tFF A= HULFE

24.INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

(Continued)

Secured borrowings are secured by the following properties of

24. 3T EBEE »)

BHEREEHAEE A T EERR

the Group:

2017 2016
—E—tF A
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FET

Investment properties WEWZE
— completed, at fair value —B%I  EBATE = 61,122
Land use rights, at cost T AR - R — 1,881
At 31 December 2017 and 2016, the borrowings were RZE—tEFER_FT—-—R"F+ZH

supported by corporate guarantee of certain related companies

and personal guarantee by a director of the Company.

At 31 December 2017, the secured borrowings are interest

bearing at 10% (2016: 6.72% to 10%) per annum.

At 31 December 2017, none of the covenants relating to drawn

down facilities had been breached (2016: none).

=t—H BEHETEEARES
MEREREARR 2 —REFREHE
A AFER S -

N-_ZFE—+F+—-_A=+—H Hi
HEERENEK10% (ZF —N4F
6.72% = 10%) 5T 8. °

RZE—+tF+-_A=+—8" *E%
ﬁﬁgkﬁﬂwﬂﬁz ZoEER (=
—NEF o fE) o

25. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 5. ELEBIRAE
Intangible Investment
asset properties Total
B EE BREWE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FAT FAT FAT
At 1 January 2016 R-ZE—R"F—H—H 9,655 — 9,655
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 29)  WE B A (KFE29) — 7,884 7,884
Credited to profit or loss KBz AR (9,655) — (9,655)
At 31 December 2016 and RZE—R"F+ZA=1—H
1 January 2017 r—ZE—+F—H—H _ 7.884 7.884
Exchange alignment b R — 557 557
At 31 December 2017 R=Z—tF+=A=+—-H - 8,441 8,441
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e AR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2017 2 —F—+F+=-HA=+—HIFZF

25.DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of approximately HK$19,722,000 (2016: HK$19,722,000)
available for offset against future profits that may be carried

forward indefinitely. No deferred tax asset has been recognised

in respect of the tax losses due to the unpredictability of future

profit streams.

26.EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

(a)

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the
plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject
to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in
the PRC, the Group participates in defined contribution
retirement benefit schemes (the “Schemes”) organised
by the relevant local government authorities, whereby the
Group is required to make contributions to the Schemes at
a rate ranging from 5% of the eligible employees’ salaries.
The local government authorities are responsible for the
entire pension obligations payable to retired employees
which are calculated based on a certain percentage of the
basic payroll.

5.IELEBRIEEE @

REEEAR - AEEHEE T ERBALS
EAEKERK BN KRB ARIES
E#19,722,0008 L (Z T — N F :
19,722,000/ 7T) ° FRAA AR AETE IR 2K
Sw AT - AN BB IR B IR RIE
ERIBEEE o

26. EERIKEF

(a) AEBEREFERIELTED
RPN BB RBIRE 2 BDA
EERTRERAZES  &&—
M AEEREE ([wEEa
gl]) - miESEVABURE
ANEERZ R EHRFERIKTE - R
EaEesE BRILEEESR
BRZEEMBEBAZS5%AE
EFH M SARBERALR
£330,00078 7T © &t BIHRENR 5
B o

(b) RIEFBEIERE S TR AR -
AR5 B 2 By AR R 3 U DR AT 4
a2 REH TR KRR E S
(T%FHE1)) - Bt - AEEA
HEEBREEH T 25% L 2L
A% FRTEIELEK » K
F#Ea R MENERKER
ZEREEE  EREAFTZ
ETANEE -

TEREZREARLTF
“E-LEFR
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R IR AR M T

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #{2 —F—+F 1+ _-A=+—HILF/Z

27.CAPITAL AND RESERVES

[A) SHARE CAPITAL

27. AR sk 1E
(A) IR

Number of shares

Nominal value

RHEE HE
2017 2016 2017 2016
—ER-tf —TF ZB-tF —FTF
’000 ‘000 HK$’000 HK$ 000
TR TR THET THT
Authorised: ERE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each  &P&TI(E0.05/8 T
2Lk 10,000,000 10,000,000 500,000 500,000
Ordinary shares: EER
Issued and fully paid: BEITREE
At 1 January n—H—H 4,269,910 4,269,910 213,496 213,496
At 31 December R+Z—RA=+—H 4,269,910 4,269,910 213,496 213,496
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e AR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 —F—+F+=-H=+—HIFFZ

27. BRA R @ =

[B] EXEH#

27.CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continueq)

(B] CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities RAEEZEAEEE EBRRAS
within the Group will be able to continue as a going EHETEEEESESE - 1A
i BB B s 2 T
RmMAEZFEAAFRZS MO
e NEB®HBBEFE 2B

concern while maximising the return to stakeholders
through the optimisation of its debt and equity balance.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from

prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consist of net debt,
which includes interest-bearing borrowings net of cash
and bank balances, and equity attributable to owners
of the Company, comprising issued share capital and
reserves of the Group.

TR -

AEBZERARBRBEAEFR
(EBREHBRAT RIRITHER
BT EMEE) RARBHEAA
ElhtEn (BREASEZE#T
PR Refet i)

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2017 and 2016 were RZBE—LFRZZT—RF+=

as follows: A=+—RAZB8/LENT :
2017 2016
—E—tF —EREF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FiET

Interest-bearing borrowings TEEE

— current portion — mENER 250,000 5,378
Interest-bearing borrowings ATREE — 250,000
Total debts BERE 250,000 255,378
Less: cash and cash equivalents A BeRRSEEY (636,920) (54,0086)
Net debt EEFHE (386,920) 201,372
Equity Rz 850,509 788,184
Net debt to equity ratio BEFEAHERE R N/A 38 A 25.55%
FEERRERRAT

—s_tzeg 190/



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e AR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 —F—+F+=-H=+—HIFFZF

28.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(A] STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

28. A NEZ MR R T K
B

(A) K2\ 5] 2RIk I 7

THE COMPANY
2017 2016
—EB—tF —EREF
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries RB AR Z#ER 966,448 1,307,944
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Other receivables, deposits and H At fEUFIR -
prepayment e RTEN IR 494 23,410
Cash and bank balances B MIRTT4 8 155 469
649 23,879
Assets classified as held for sale DEAFEHEEE — 7,350
649 31,229
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Trade and other payables JETE SRR R EH A
FERS5RIE (17,509) (318,515)
Interest-bearing borrowing FTEMER (250,000) —
(267,509) (318,515)
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAEFHE (266,860) (287,286)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERRBERE
LIABILITIES — 1,020,658
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FkRBERS
Interest-bearing borrowings FHEER — (250,000)
NET ASSETS BEZRE 699,588 770,658
CAPITAL AND RESERVES B #FE
Share capital &N 213,496 213,496
Reserves 1 486,092 557,162
TOTAL EQUITY DB 699,588 770,658
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of RZE-NF=ZAZt+hBEKESFE

directors on 29 March 2018.

R IRAE T -

Xu Xiao Jun Ye De Chao
(YN KER
Director Director

5% ==F
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e AR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 —F—+F+=-H=+—HIFFZ

28. NN A Z MR R T K

@ )

28.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

(B MOVEMENTS OF THE RESERVES OF THE (B] AL\ Al <&

COMPANY
Capital
redemption
reserve
Share Share (Note) Accumulated
capital premium EAREE losses Total
E REE (Fi&E) 2iER &
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET SO FET S TEL
At 1 January 2016 RZE—"E—A—H 213,496 756,049 69 (188,065) 781,549
Loss for the year FAER — — — (10,891) (10,891)
At 31 December 2016 and W -Z—~F+-A=1+—H
1 January 2017 k=F—+%—F—H 213,496 756,049 69 (198,956) 770,658
Loss for the year FAEE — — — (71,070) (71,070)
At 31 December 2017 RZB-tH+ZA=1+-H  21349% 756,049 69 (270,026) 699,588

The Company’s reserves available for distribution
represent the share premium and accumulated losses.
Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, share
premium of the Company is available for the Company’s
distributions to shareholders subject to the provisions of
the Company’s Memorandum or Articles of Associations
and provided that immediately following the distribution
the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business. As at 31 December 2017, the
aggregate value of the share premium and accumulated
losses of the Company available for distribution is
HK$486,023,000 (2016: HK$557,093,000).

Note: Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of
shares repurchased out of distributable profit.

29.ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

(A) The Group acquired assets and liabilities by way of

acquisition of equity interest in Tianjin Hui Li Yuan Power
Equipment Co., Limited (“Tianjin Hui Li Yuan”) which is not
business:

RAF 2 A IREEBERD R
ERZRFEE BERSHSA
AVE - ARRI R RE ] RE
MBRRIEL DK + WAZARAA
2 HREE R KA S 4B Rl 2 AR STRT
R - MARERESIKE - NAF]
WEBRENEZEBEEBRDE
HrE®H RZE—+tF+=
A=+—HB At RzAR
AR RERRTEERER
486,023,000 7T (=T — /N4 -
557,093,000/ 7T) °

MR © B AR 3 AR 2R
ME@BRD ZEE -

29. Y Big — i B A F]

(A) AEEBBUEIFEHMEENK

RENRBSHREERAR (TR
RENR]) 2 BAERWEREE
EMEE

TEREZREARLTF
“E-LEFR

159

/



160
\

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M T

For the year ended 31 December 2017 2 —F—+F+=-HA=+—HIFZF

29.ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

(Continued)
(A) (Continued)

On 1 August 2017, the Group acquired 60% equity
interest in Tianjin Hui Li Yuan at a cash consideration
of RMB69,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$82,096,000). The principal asset of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan
is a land use right for a parcel of land with an area of
approximately 29,000m? located at Tianjin Economic and
Technological Development Zone, Tianjin City, the PRC.
The land is now for industrial use and having two 4-storey
buildings with a total gross floor area of approximately
18,000m? under construction.

29. W iE— BB A E @)

(A)

(&)

RZE—+FNA—H £~&EH
LR & (B A K% 69,000,000 7T
(88 M 482,096,000 7T) U
BREENRZ60%KHE-- K
EENRZEBEER IR
B T E A - MR EAE R LY
29,000 F ;5 K + i AFRBIRET
RBEERMAER - ZL 3R
RAELERSG  EAMERRE
SLTE 15 A4 18,000 F 77 K 80 0 B
LT o

HK$'000
FHTT
Assets and liabilities recognised R EE R R EERAE
at the respective dates of acquisition
Property, plant and equipment Y% - BB KRR E 127,725
Cash and bank balances W& RIRITAEER 2,450
Trade and other receivables e E 5 BR 51 I B At fE LW SR IR 7,835
Trade and other payables FERTE SRR R H AR FRIE (1,183)
136,827
40% non-controlling interests 40% FEIE R AR SR A o 54,731
Total consideration B (E 82,096
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WBELEZHRSREFE:
Consideration paid in cash and cash equivalents AR & NMIRSZEDSN2HRE 82,096
Less: Cash and cash equivalents balances B BRERS KRS SEMES
acquired of (2,450)
79,646
Notes: BfaE

(i) Tianjin Hui Li Yuan contributed loss of approximately
HK$722,000 to the Group for the year ended 31 December
2017.

(i)  Had the above acquisitions been taken place at the
beginning of the year, the Group’s loss for the year would
have been approximately HK$46,910,000 and the Group’s
revenue would have been approximately HK$26,144,000.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 —F—+F+=-H=+—HIFFZ

29.ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

(Continued)

(B) On 9 December 2016, the Group acquired 51% of (B)
the entire equity interest in KEEREVRER AT
(Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics Company Limited*) (“Tianjin

29. W iE— BB A E @)

Jun Hua Logistics”) for an aggregate consideration 51% -

of RMB60,000,000 (equivalent to approximately

HK$66,678,000).

Details of the fair value of the assets and liabilities
acquired in the acquisition of Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics

RZE—R"F+ZANHB ' &%
HEREEEYRER QA
(IREEZEYR]) 2ERED
LR (E A AR 60,000,000
7T (X9MRE 17 66,678,000 7T )

WiERREEYRMBEBZEE
REBBZAFERMIEEZRE

and the goodwill arising are as follows: EHFBNT
Tianjin Jun
Hua Logistics
at fair value
RBBEYIR
BRAYE
HK$'000
FHTT
Cash and bank balances e RIRITER 421
Other receivables, deposits and prepayment HADFEWFRIA ~ t2e RIFE I 12
Investment properties wEME 61,122
Land use rights b R 1,887
Property, plant and equipment Y%~ BRE KRB 81
Trade and other payables FERTE SRR R BAth S 5RIR (16,202)
Deferred tax liabilities EIERIEB R (7,884)
Interest-bearing borrowings, secured BRI RERK (5,378)
Net assets EESE 34,059
49% non-controlling interests 49% FEIE R AR R A 2 (16,689)
Net assets acquired BB EEFE 17,370
Goodwill kS 49,308
Total purchase consideration RUREER(E 66,678
Satisfied by: PNV
— Cash —He 66,678
FEERRERRAT

“E-LEFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 —F—+F+=-H=+—HIFFZF

29. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 29. W iE— BB A E @)
(Continued)
(B) (Continued) (B) (#&
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WEBEEZREMNEFE
HK$'000
FAT
Consideration paid in cash and NHRE MIREEED
cash equivalents TZRE 66,678
Less: cash and cash equivalents B BIER e R
balances acquired of ReFEDER (421)
66,257
Note: There is no material difference between the fair value of R ERFEEREERBEEE
identifiable assets and liabilities and the corresponding Sh - AR EERBEZAT
acquiree’s carrying amount except intangible asset and BELFEEARE A 2 BRI B I &
deferred tax liabilities. BRER-
()  Acquisition-related costs of approximately (i)  UKHEAERERK A %) 400,000
HK$400,000 are included in the consolidated BILEFTALREIBEE ©

statement of profit or loss.

(i) Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics contributed loss of (i) BEZZE—-—X"F+=A
approximately HK$297,000 to the Group for the year Z—+t—HBILEFE K2
ended 31 December 2016. REYRBGE A S EE

#849297,000 87T °

(i) Had the above acquisitions been taken place at the (i) fim bl U B A D
beginning of the year, the Group’s loss for the year T AEERAFEZ
would have been approximately HK$9,766,000 and EEERKEE DR
the Group’s revenue would have been approximately /9,766,000 T K& 4
HK$16,344,000. 16,344,000/8 T °
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 = F—+F+=—A=+—HIFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s major financial instruments include interest-bearing
borrowings, trade and other receivables, trade and other
payables, cash and bank balances and were classified into the
categories as follows:

30T A

AEBsTESRTIABRENER
B ERE SRR R E A EYRIA
ENESERREMENKIE  Be
NERITHERR - WHRRWT -

2017 2016
—ZE—t5F ZE—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT T
Financial assets ERMEE
Loans and receivables B R FE 694,836 651,430
Financial liabilities SRIBE
Amortised cost BIERAR 305,660 593,757

Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes to these consolidated financial statements. The risks
associated with these financial instruments are limited and
the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

The Group has exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and
currency risks that arise in the normal course of the Group’s
business. The Group is also exposed to equity price risk arising
from movements in its own equity share price.

There has been no change to the types of the Group’s exposure
in respect of financial instruments or the manner in which it
manages and measures the risks.

ZEeMITAZFBERRGE VM B®
REBZWFHRESRE BZzEFemT
B RARER - mEEZSRR
ZHEHENTX - EEEEERER
ZER M - ARRRER B X E b
HE ZFEHE ©

AEEZEE RPET  FEXRE
KRR AEE 2 —REBKBRES
EE - AEETRERNG#EERDE
" 28 MARHKERR -

AEEEWLMIAY AREELE
B2 REEAMARZ TR EE T
2E) -

TEREZREARLTF
“E-LEFR
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BA R AR MY RE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 2 —F—+F+=-HA=+—HIFZF

VAN
w3

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

[A) CREDIT RISK

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
and other receivables and cash and bank balances.
Management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring
credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on
the customer’s past history of making payments when
due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining
to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are due within a year. Debtors
with balances that are more than a year past due are
requested to settle all outstanding balances before
any further credit is granted. Normally, the Group does
not obtain collateral from its customers. Based on the
expected recoverability and timing for collection of the
outstanding balances, the Group maintains a provision for
impairment of receivables and actual losses incurred have
been within management’s expectation.

In respect of cash and bank balances, the Group limits its
exposure to credit risk by transacting with approved and
reputable banks with high credit ratings. Bankruptcy or
insolvency of these banks may cause the Group’s rights
with respect to these assets held to be delayed or limited.
The Group monitors the credit ratings of these banks on an
ongoing basis, and considers that the Group’s exposure to
credit risk at 31 December 2017 and 2016 were minimal.

The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking
account of any collateral held is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset after deducting
any impairment allowance.

CHINAINFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #{2 —F—+ 41+ =-A=+—HIFF/Z

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq) 30.ERT A »)

(B] B EZ SR

(B] LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to
meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as
possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet
its liabilities when due, without incurring unacceptable
losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short-term investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands,
subject to approval by the parent company’s board when
the borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels of
authority. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its
liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of
cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer term.

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s
non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the end of reporting period) and
the earliest date the Group can be required to pay.

MENE R RIE A E B E L BT
Jﬁﬁ%EE%FEZHW°$
%.ﬁﬁ//\uiﬂﬁiZE/fﬁﬁﬁEf
ERHEREEERERBES
ﬁﬁ”%%ﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁ$ElL
TReEX 2 FiEEERE -

$ElﬁTﬂ% @ T HEARE
HEgzHeElE BREHSE
A%%&Q&FME KA TR
HIReFR  EREEBBET
BB 2 R - AR

RAEFGZHE - ANEE
ZERABERERERDESS
KEEBTERZHE BN - BA
PR AR R IR T R S 5
EHmE BRI HEBIRM 2 A
BERE - WENEHEER
PHETFE -

TREIIAKE ZIFTESRE
BERHmEMR BT AOHRF
B REBOEFFRARERE
(BREREBOTENER - KBF
BHFE - AIRRERRZEITH
KA BEZNENF) ARAREH
AIREAER &7 AHAEES
g .
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #{2 —F—+F 1+ _-A=+—HILF/Z

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea) 30. €T E »)
N sz A
(B) LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued) (B) BB XA ()
Total More than
contractual Within 1 year but
undiscounted 1 year or on less than
Carrying cash flows demand 2 years
amount XERFTEEE —ERE®  —FHLEEF
HREE REAH REX BEMF
HK$°000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
THER THER THER THERT
At 31 December 2017 RZB-tF+ZA=t-8H
Interest-bearing borrowings FTEEE 250,000 275,000 275,000 -
Trade creditors JERE S8R 12,749 12,749 12,749 -
Accruals and other payables JER B A R E AT TR 30,061 30,061 30,061 -
Amounts due to substantial N FZREFE
shareholder 12,850 12,850 12,850 —
305,660 330,660 330,660 -
Total More than
contractual Within 1 year but
undiscounted 1 year oron less than
Carrying cash flows demand 2 years
amount YIERMERE —FANE  —FREET
REE mERHE REK HBmF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THT FAET FET
At 31 December 2016 RZB-AF+ZA=t-8H
Interest-bearing borrowings TEREE 255,378 280,378 5,378 275,000
Trade creditors JERE 5 IR 3,933 3,933 3,933 —
Accruals and other payables JE B A R H AT TR 334,271 334,271 334,271 —
Amounts due to non-controlling  JERT SRR SRR TE
interests 175 175 175 —
593,757 618,757 343,757 275,000
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e AR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #2 —F—+F 1+ _-A=+—HILFZ

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq) 30.ERT A »)

[C] INTEREST RATE RISK (C] i /E fez

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from the
Group borrowings. Borrowings at variable rates and at
fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate
risk and fair value interest rate risk respectively. The
Group does not use financial derivatives to hedge against
the interest rate risk. The Group’s interest rate profile as
monitored by management is set out below.

AEBzMERAREEREAE
BZEE AEE T NE
EMERAEZEER  SAKEE
DHIEHREREN KRR LA
FEMEERR - NEBEILEF A
EROTET AU RXRER - K
SEXEEEBERZMNEERE
NN

Effective Effective
interest interest
rate 2017 rate 2016
BERFE —Z-—tF EBRMNX ZTXF
% HK$’000 % HK$'000
TiEx TAT
Loan receivables ElRER N/ATRER — 4.35 (502,185)
Net fixed rate borrowings: FESEE:
Interest-bearing borrowings HEEE
— current —RE N/A T3 A — 6.72 5,378
Interest-bearing borrowings FEEBE 10.0 250,000 10.0 250,000
Total net borrowings FEERE 250,000 (246,807)
Net fixed rate borrowings as FEEEBERILFEERSE
a percentage of total ERi
net borrowings 100% 100%
FEEEZREFRAT

“E-LEFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BB HRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 = F—+F+=—A=+—HIFE

H
iy

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

(C] INTEREST RATE RISK (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2017, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 50 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would increase/
decrease the Group’s loss after tax and increase/decrease
the accumulated losses by approximately HK$1,283,000
(2016: HK$106,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred
at the end of reporting period and had been applied to
the exposure to interest rate risk for both derivative and
non-derivative financial instruments in existence at that
date. The 50 basis point increase or decrease represents
management’s assessment of a reasonably possible
change in interest rates over the period until the next year
end date.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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(C] FIZEE ez )

BREDH

RZZT—tF+=ZA=+—8"
ﬁaJrEﬂ Tim EF T 50 @
EB - MATAEM A HA KRR
o AIREEBREEBER
80, m & RETE BN,
1 491,283,000 T (ZZF — <
& 1106,000/7T) °

R BEE ST TR R BB
RIBSBRETA - FEEAR
¥ B S K BB 5T RIEOT
S RMTAZFIEER - 50 FL
IR - TR R
=T —EFEAE R LREAE
A RRE 2 S -
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #2 —F—+F 1+ _-A=+—HILFZ

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea) 30T E =
(D] CURRENCY RISK (D] s)HEE foz

The majority of the Group’s transactions are denominated
in RMB. Presently, the Group has no hedging policy with
respect to its foreign exchange exposure.

With respect to receivables, payables, cash and bank
balances, and borrowings denominated in RMB which
are exposed to foreign currency risk. Depreciation or
appreciation of the RMB against can affect the Group’s
position, results and equity.

The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated financial assets and financial liabilities at the
end of the reporting period are as follows:

REBARD R HHNARES
B BAl AEBEYEAHER
[\ 2 $ R o

MAREEFHEMNRUFOR - B
IR M MRITEBUAREE
R IMNERR - AR HLINER
B FHAR BE S AL BT -
KENERERTE

W - ARE A SMEEHE
ZERMAERSRMAE EAE
T

2017 2016
—EB—tF —E—REF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Assets BE
RMB AREE 658,372 620,092
UsD ETT — 814
Liabilities aE
RMB AREE 37,672 24,762
HEEEREERAT

“E-LEFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 = F—+F+=—A=+—HIFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq) 30.ERT A »)

[D) CURRENCY RISK (Continued) (D) SME&JE fez ()

Sensitivity analysis

The Group mainly exposes to the currency of RMB.
The following table indicates the approximate increase/
decrease in the Group’s loss for the year in response to
reasonably possible changes in the foreign exchange rate
to which the Group has significant exposure at the end
of reporting period (2016: increase/decrease the Group’s
loss). 5% is the sensitivity rate used as it represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rate.

BREDH

AEBTIZAZARE ZRER -
TRETASERINEERBS
BRI ES (RMEHRAEER
BERRELRHIMEEX) - i fl
AHARFEAEEEEAE R
P(ZT—RF AEEEEE
B o (£ 5% REBURELL
?El%ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
R AET R

2017 2016
—=E—+F ZE—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
RMB ARM
— Increase/decrease on loss for the year ~ —SREIBIE IS5
(2016: increase/decrease (Z2—RF  A5H
the Group’s loss) s, Smd) 31,035 29,767

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming
that the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred
at the end of the reporting period and had been applied
to each of the Group entities’ exposure to currency risk for

BRED T HBRRIEXZF IR
LHREELE  WEERANASE
EXERENEHMAEHREITE
NIETTESR T A2 EEER -

both derivative and non-derivative financial instruments ARBEMEEMES (LEE
in existence at that date, and that all other variables, in FIR) g5 T o
particular interest rates, remain constant.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 —F—+F+=-H=+—HIFFZ

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq) 30.ERT A »)

[E] FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL [E] 2@ T AZ 2 FE

INSTRUMENTS

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined as follows:

o The fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities with standard terms and conditions and
traded in active markets are determined with
reference to quoted market bid and ask prices
respectively.

° The fair values of derivative instruments are
calculated using quoted prices. Where such prices
are not available, a discounted cash flow analysis
is performed using the applicable yield curve for
the duration of the instruments for non-optional
derivatives, and option pricing models for optional
derivatives. Interest rate swaps are measured at the
present value of future cash flows estimated and
discounted based on the applicable yield curves
derived from quoted interest rates.

o The fair values of other financial assets and financial
liabilities (excluding those described above) are
determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models mainly based on volatility of
difference on asset's price analysis and discounted
cash flow analysis respectively.

TREEMERABZIAVEE
EALT

BB R RGN R
BMmEEENEREERS
BEE - HoRI2EM®T
LERMNEREREEAT
(=38

PTHETARZ A FETIARE
A8 o HARBUSBRIER
AEERRETE T ALAT A
B2 8 P e AR T THT IR
RBEemeEn - mEgTE
TARASEE BEAET
FIRBEREDN - F&Xiz
HRAtBERASREZ
REFE - WRBIZAHRF
FHESL ZERKaEihR
B3R

HibtemEENSRER
(TeRLiE) 2A¥E
TR AREBRIETE
W FEDFIABEEBBRDIT
RITRBRERENN 2K E

TEREZREARLTF
“E-LEFR
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R IR AR M T

For the year ended 31 December 2017 2 —F—+F+=-HA=+—HIFZF

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

(E) FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based
on the degree to which the fair value is observable:

° Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities;

° Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived
from inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e.
derived from prices); and

° Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived
from valuation techniques that include inputs for the
asset or liability that are not based on observable
market data (unobservable inputs).

31.CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Certain properties of a subsidiary, Tianjin Hui Li Yuan Power
Equipment Company Limited (“Tianjin Hui Li Yuan®) were
pledged in favour of a PRC trust company to secure the
payment obligation of an independent third party in the sum of
approximately HK$95,184,000 (equivalent to RMB80,000,000)
granted by the PRC trust company in favour of the independent
third party. As at 31 December 2017, the outstanding loan amount
of the independent third party was approximately HK$95,184,000
(equivalent to RMB80,000,000) and market value of the properties
pledged was approximately HK$136,827,000 (equivalent to
RMB115,000,000) which was determined by an independent
valuer. The carrying amount of the pledged properties was
approximately HK$127,723,000 as at 31 December 2017. At
the reporting date, the Directors were of the opinion that the risk
of default by the independent third party is low. The charge is
expected to be discharged on 11 February 2019.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
Annual Report 2017

30. €M TR »

31

[E] 2@ TAHZ N FE #)

AF{E

TREHWVLHERBIRATE
FEZERIAEZHN  TIRE
NEEAEREEDAB1E34

s FIMAFEFEHHERE
EXREEERTS RE
(REEAR) 5i

o F2RNVEFEAFEIR
PrECRE SN 2 AT IR B &
SBEHEER (AER)
gEE (BREER) &
&

s FIPAFEEAREL
FEARBRM S EE (T
BRYB) RERZEER
BEBEZGERMEE -

HREE

—MMBRR - KEENES N RME
BRAR (TREENR])  2&TH
¥WER T —EPBEETEAF EA
—EZBYE=ZFHEZPBEELA AR
FX BB = 5 A B4 95,184,000
7t (8 &8 ®W A R #80,000,000L) &
HOENEEHER RZT—tF
+—A=+—H BIUF=HzkKE
BEEREFEH AE95184,000/8 7T (18
BN AR #80,000,0007T) & 18 1 7E
MR E A ENTHEE
4)/4136,827,0007%8 7 (MHERARE
115,000,0007T) e RZE—+F+=
A=+—H BEHVENERENE
127,723,000/ T - Rk HE - &5
REZBYBE=ZFNELHRREK -
EREFEEHER - —NF_A
+— B8Rk -
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 2 —F—+F+=-HA=+—HIFZF

31.CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)

On 1 August 2017, the Group acquired 60% equity interest of
Tianjin Hui Li Yuan of which principal asset is a land use right
for a parcel of land. Starting from year 2015, Tianjin Hui Li Yuan
entered into a financial guarantee contract with a PRC trust
company to provide corporate guarantee by a pledge of certain
properties to secure the payment obligation of a business
partner which is an independent third party in the sum of
approximately HK$95,184,000 (equivalent to RMB80,000,000).
The contract will be terminated on 11 February 2019 and the
charge over the properties is expected to be discharged at
the same date. In order to protect the interest of the Group
against the loss which might be suffered by the Group under
the guarantee, the business partner and the non-controlling
interest of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan entered into a counter indemnity
in favour of the Group pursuant to which they agreed to,
among other matters, indemnify the Group for its liabilities and
loss which may arise from the guarantee. The non-controlling
interest of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan also agreed to indemnify the
Group by offering a pledge of its 40% equity interest in Tianjin
Hui Li Yuan to the Group upon default in loan payments by the
business partner. At the end of the reporting period, the facility
drawn down by the business partner amounted HK$95,184,000
(equivalent to RMB80,000,000). The directors consider that
the likelihood of default in payments by the business partner is
minimal and therefore the fair value of the financial guarantee is
immaterial.

Save as disclosed above and elsewhere in the notes to these
consolidated financial statements, the Group had no other
material contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2017 (2016:
nil).

R_E—+tFNA—8 AEEKRE
TEEEARMIEA LHFRED
FKEENRZ60%BE - 8T —H
FER - RKEBEHNREAFRHEFETERA
RN IS ERA HAR B EER
FRAAERERETYVERERY
 (BLE =77) #995,184,000/% 7T
(#8 & » A K #80,000,0007t) 2 fF
REEEER ZEHNBERZZE—N
FZA+—HRIL ZEMEERE
HMKERRBRE - AREXEEZ
Flz - 2EZERMEASEEESIE
K REBENDROERBE RIEER
PERERAAEE AT AL —1D
REEE- B FERE (EPE
1B BEAEERZERMAIGEEEY
BEREX - KIZENRZIETRRK
RiE= TRERERRHIERE R
) AN 55 B 42 it HL A KRB 1R 40% A%
EOEMIERMHE RImERR %
M EFABE € %45 95,184,0007%8
7T (FHE R AR ¥ 80,000,0007T) ° &
REEBBRHBR RO ATELE
o Bt BERz ATFETES

B/ 48R
-2

Br EX R FER A MR M E A
MOFBREEN  AEER_F—+
FHTZA=+t—BIEEMBEARA
BE(CERFHE)-

TEREZREARLTF
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 2 —F—+F+=-HA=+—HIFZF

32.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial

statements, the Group had the following material transactions

and balances with its related parties for the year ended 31
December 2017 and 2016:

(a)

On 27 September 2012, Keen Gate Developments Limited
(“Keen Gate”, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group),
Mr. Ye De Chao (the Chairman, an Executive Director
and a substantial shareholder of the Company — a
connected person), Modern Admission Group Limited, Mr.
Lee Kai Choi and Forward Investment had entered into a
subscription agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”)
in relation to the subscription of 40% equity interests in
Forward Investment by Keen Gate at a consideration of
HK$300,000,000 (the “Consideration”). The Subscription
was completed on 10 December 2012. The transaction
constituted a major and connected transaction of the
Company. Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement, the
Guarantors jointly and severally undertake to Keen Gate
that the return to Keen Gate, being the dividend receivable
from the Group’s equity interest in Forward Investment,
shall not be less than 12% of the Consideration per
annum. In the event the return to Keen Gate falls below
such threshold, the Guarantors shall compensate the
Subscriber on a dollar-for-dollar basis (the “Return
Undertaking”) in cash.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, as Forward
Investment suffered loss and no dividend will be declared,
the Return Undertaking would be exercised. As such,
an amount of HK$36,000,000 was credited in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, Forward
Investment had a gain of approximately HK$16,672,000
and the Group shall share the results of the associates,
amounting to approximately HK$6,669,000. However, the
Profit Guarantee of Forward Investment was still short for
HK$29,331,000 this year, the Return Undertaking would
be exercised. As such, an amount of HK$29,331,000 was
credited in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 = F—+F+=—A=+—HIFE

32.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32. &

(Continued)

(b) Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group (b)
comprises amounts paid to the Company’s directors as
disclosed in note 7 and those highest paid employees
as disclosed in note 8 to these consolidated financial

statements.

(c) Amounts due to non-controlling interests amounted to HK$
nil (2016: HK$175,000).

Amounts due to substantial shareholder amounted to
approximately HK$12,850,000 (2016: HKS$ nil).

(e)

Amounts due from non-controlling interests amounted to
HK$6,103,000 (2016: HKS$ nil).

- ne =

33.0PERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
AS LESSEE
The Group had total outstanding commitments for future

minimum lease payable under non-cancellable operating leases
in respect of properties, which fall due as follows:

EALTRF @

AEBEZEBEERAEME B
BARRE M HmEAMTTTHE
TNFARABES 2 &5 RHE
BB TZEReHIE
B2&% -

IR R E S RIBEAT
BT (ZE—RF: 175,000/%
JC) °

B ZERREKIEAEY

12,850,000 70 (ZZF — /N F
THEIT) °

FEWIEIE AR R SRR
6,103,000/87C (ZF—"F : &
BT °

3. REHERIE
1EBAFAA
A BRI 3 7R AT R TR A0

T HAE R 2 R BB B (K EN
e REEZENT

2017 2016

S —TAF

HK$°000 HK$'000

TFHET FAT

No later than 1 year —&R 341 341
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years —FRERFA 282 623
623 964

The Group has no contingent rentals and sub-lease payments HE_T—+tHFR-_FT—X"F+=AH
received for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016. =+—RHLFE" $§"E< EiRiE:IllEs

A E RO BN -

TEREZREARLTF
“E-LEFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #2 =%

—tFF A= HULFE

34.DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY AND 34. HE —EME A 7 KRB
ASSOCIATES PN
On 28 June 2017, the Group completed the disposal of 100% RZZE—tFAZ+N\B - A&H
interest in an indirectly-owned subsidiary, 5% B 28 i 2R LAFR(E 315,000,000 T ek HERHH
B2 T, which holds 49% equity interest in Beijing Zhonggang IRFPBZEREERNBER AR LA
Green Energy Investment Consulting Co., Ltd and its subsidiary MEBAR ([HESE]) 2 49% RiER
(the “Disposal Group”), for a consideration of HK$315,000,000. RS EME R ERER AR AR (—ME

REMTB AR B 100% s o

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost: KEESEZEERBEDIT
HK$'000
FiBT
Trade and other receivables e E 5 BR 51 I B At fE WK IR 38
Trade and other payables BB SR R B A B 5RIR (3,319)
Interest in associates REtE ARz ER 283,676
Net assets disposed of EHEZEERE 280,395
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—BHRBARREE
and associates: ATz :
Consideration received BR(E (315,000)
Release of cumulative exchange difference R IREGINETS 2
from translation of foreign operations ZREER =R 17,247
17,358
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #2 —F—+F 1+ _-A=+—HILFZ

35.PLEDGE OF ASSETS

The Group pledged the following assets to secure interest-

35. EEHK

AEEDERATNEERERT BB

bearing borrowings: =
2017 2016
—E-tf e A
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Investment properties (Note 12) wEWE (HE12) — 61,122
Land use rights (Note 14) bR FARE (FiEE 14) — 1,881

36.ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

(A] KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
which are described in note 2, management has made
the following judgements that have a significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements. The key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
discussed below.

36. & fhET K HI

(A) g HTHAEC TR

MMM 2l 2 NEB &5t
B - BEEELATEES
MHMRETIEREEEEAY
B2HE - RMEHREERE
ZEBBEREMAATHBERZ
Hitp EBZHRORITamaian T - Max
FRR N ARIRA 7] gL EHA L
TEMBEFE 2 BERBERE
BEELERFE -

TEHREZREARLT
“E-LEFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 —F—+F+=-H=+—HIFFZF

36.ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(A)

(B

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
often requires the use of judgement to select specific
accounting methods and policies from several acceptable
alternatives. Estimates and judgements used in preparing
the consolidated financial statements are continually
evaluated and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
followings are the more significant assumptions and
estimates, as well as the accounting policies and methods
used in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT IN
APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below:
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #2 =%
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36.ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(B] CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT IN
APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of assets

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount of an asset or a
cash-generating unit has been determined based
on the asset’s fair value less costs to sell. These
assessments require the use of estimates.

The fair value less costs to sell primarily use
cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by management and estimated terminal
values at the end of the reporting period. There are
a number of assumptions and estimates involved
for the preparation of cash flow projections for the
period covered by the approved budget and the
estimated terminal value. Key assumptions include
the expected growth in revenues and operating
margin, effective tax rate, growth rates and selection
of discount rates, to reflect the risks involved and
the earnings multiple that can be realised for the
estimated terminal value.

Management prepared the financial budgets
reflecting actual and prior year performance and
market development expectations. Judgement is
required to determine key assumptions adopted
in the cash flow projections and changes to key
assumptions can significantly affect these cash
flow projections and therefore the results of the
impairment reviews.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e AR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #{2 —F—+F 1+ _-A=+—HILF/Z

36.ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(B] CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT IN
APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(ii)

(i)

Provision for impairment of trade and other
receivables

The Group has no significant concentration of
credit risk. The Group makes impairment loss
for receivables based on an assessment of the
recoverability of trade and other receivables.
Allowances are made for trade and other receivables
where events or changes in circumstance indicate
that the balances may not be collectible based on
primarily the ageing of trade and other receivables
and the historical write-off experience, net of
recoveries. The identification of doubtful debts
requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where
the expectation is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying value of
receivables and allowance for doubtful debt in the
period in which such estimates has been changed.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment except construction-
in-progress are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives, after taking
into account of their estimated residual value.
The determination of the useful lives and residual
values involve management’s estimation. The Group
assesses annually the residual value and the useful
life of property, plant and equipment and if the
expectation differs from the original estimate, such
a difference may impact the depreciation in the year
and in the future period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e AR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 —F—+F+=-H=+—HIFFZ

36.ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 36. B {EFT R HE =

J U DG EM E NTS (Continued)

[B] [EH AR EEZ R IF
fEH 2 BEAXEFTHE ()

(B] CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT IN
APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

liv) 1% - BERRZRERE

(iv) Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group’s property, plant and equipment
represent a significant portion of the Group’s total
assets. Changes in industry conditions may cause
the estimated period of use or the value of these
assets to change. Long-lived assets including
property, plant and equipment are reviewed for
impairment at least annually or whenever events or
changes in circumstances have indicated that their
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated.

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its net selling price and value in use.
In assessing value in use, estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset, which requires significant
judgement relating to the level of revenue and
amount of operating costs. The Group uses all
readily available information in determining an
amount that is a reasonable approximation of the
recoverable amount, including estimates based
on reasonable and supportable assumptions
and projections of revenue and operating costs.
Changes in these estimates could have a significant
impact on the carrying value of the assets and could
result in additional impairment charge or reversal of
impairment in future periods.
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e AR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #{2 —F—+F 1+ _-A=+—HILF/Z

36.ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(B] CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT IN
APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash generating
units to which goodwill has been allocated. The
value in use calculation requires management to
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from
the cash-generating units and a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate present value.

Impairment of intangible assets

The recoverable amounts of the intangible assets
have been determined based on value-in-use
calculations. The value-in-use calculation requires
the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the intangible assets and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
The management refers to the valuation performed
by independent qualified valuers. In performing
the valuation, the valuers have based on method
of valuation which involves certain estimates and
assumptions.

The Group’s management determines the provision
for impairment of receivables under concession
agreement. This estimates and assumptions made by
management on the future operation of the business,
pre-tax discount rates, and other assumptions
underlying the value-in-use calculations.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED

Annual Report 2017

36. FEHEET R HE =

[B] [EH AR EEZ R IF
fEH 2 BEAXEFTHE ()

(v)

(vi)

BERE

ErmERORERZ M
EriEMRmECREES:
BEMEE - FHEERE
BAZEEBHEBEHAIBR
SELBUERZIRRRE
REANEANEMFRE
ZITBREAEH A o

B EEZRE

BB E 2 FIREEE TR
EREEFNEEEE - £H
EBEFBEEERAKE G
EMELBETLEE AR
ReREREE 2P B KA
FHEBE ERESLEBL
BERGEMETZHEE -
HERMEITHER - TIA
KETEE RBRZEET
TRRBENE o

REEERERIBR TR
wh < JIE W 3K IR B RE R 1B B
o WEHBFREEEBHR
REBLEFRDZBE - W
AIHTER A K A R AR B
FREEHEERE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #2 —F—+F 1+ _-A=+—HILFZ

36.ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 36. B {EFT R HE =

J U DG EM E NTS (Continued)

[B] [EH AR EEZ R IF
fEH 2 BEAXEFTHE ()

(B] CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT IN
APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(vii) Z<HAFR18 8

(vii) Current income taxes

The Group’s subsidiaries that operate in the PRC
are subject to the Enterprise Income Tax in the PRC.
Significant judgement is required in determining
the provision for income taxes. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises liabilities
for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates
of whether additional taxes will be due. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the income tax in the period
in which such determination is made.

(viii) Estimate of fair value of investment properties

The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an
active market for similar lease and other contracts.
In the absence of such information, the Group
determines the amount within a range of reasonable
fair value estimates. In making its judgement,
the Group considers information from a variety of
sources including:

(i)  current prices in an active market for properties
of different nature, condition or location (or
subject to different leases or other contracts),
with adjustments to reflect those differences;
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e AR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 —F—+F+=-H=+—HIFFZF

36.ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(B] CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT IN
APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(viii)

Estimate of fair value of investment properties
(Continued)

(i) recent prices of similar properties in less
active markets, with adjustments to reflect any
changes in economic conditions since the
date of the transactions that occurred at those
prices; and

(i) discounted cash flow projections based on
reliable estimates of future cash flows derived
from the terms of any existing lease and other
contracts and (where possible) from external
evidence such as current market rents for
similar properties in the same location and
condition, using discount rates that reflect
current market assessments of the uncertainty
in the amount and timing of the cash flows.

If information on current or recent prices of
investment properties is not available, the fair
values of investment properties are determined
using discounted cash flow valuation techniques.
The Group uses assumptions that are mainly based
on market conditions existing at the end of each
reporting period.

The principal assumptions underlying management’s
estimate of fair value are those relating to: the receipt
of contractual rentals; expected future market
rentals; void periods; maintenance requirements;
and appropriate discount rates. These valuations
are regularly compared to actual market yield, and
actual transactions of the Group and those reported
by the market.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 B2 = F—+F+=—A=+—HIFE

36. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 36. T Et R AER )

JUDGEM ENTS (Continued)

(B) CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT IN (B] [E/ A EBE BT
APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING 1Ei > BA B2 0
POLICIES (Continued)

(viii) Estimate of fair value of investment properties (viil) (At R EMEZ A TFE
(Continued) (#)
The expected future market rentals are determined TEERR KR TB S TR BN
on the basis of current market rentals for similar B —E BB AR 25
properties in the same location and condition. UyENBREMEHSE
= o
37.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 7. MEEEELENER

ARISING FROM FINANCING 2 H R

ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising T&REFINAE @ﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁ@]ﬁﬁﬁiﬂ’]ﬁ

from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash B8 BEReRIESE

changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for REEBMELENBENES mbEE
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified IARRREREBRGEAASRER
in the consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from NEARETHFIELEZRESRE -

financing activities.

Interest-bearing borrowings

TEEE
HK$’000
FHET
At 1 January 2017 R=-—Z—tF—HA—H 255,378
Changes from financing cash flows: MERSREZEE
Repayment of secured loan BEDERER (5,758)
Interest paid 2AFE (25,652)
Total change from financing cash flows BEREHE 2 BEEE (31,410)
Other changes: Hith& s :
Interest expenses %'J 53 25,652
Effect of changes in foreign MEREF) &
exchange rates 380
At 31 December 2017 R-ZB—+tH+=-A=+—8 250,000
FEERRERRAT
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

HEKEE

AY I V'3 E
RESULTS E S+
For the year ended 31 December
BEt-A=t+-BLEE
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
“E—t& —F-XF —F-RF —T-QmFE —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THEL FAET THET TAET
Revenue e 26,144 15,691 22,133 43,966 6,683
(Loss)/profit attributable to YNSIE PN
owners of the Company (B18) /&7 (44,700) (5,507) 5,249 16,370 (85,148)
Dividends e - — — — —
Basic (loss)learnings per share  BREX (EE) /&7 (1.05) centsfl  (0.13)centsfll  0.12 centsfll  0.38 centsfll (1.99) cents/l
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share  BR#:E (5518) /&7 N/AFEH N/ATER N/ATEF NATER N/A T F
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
At 31 December
R+=A=+-AH
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
“E-t§& —E-f CZE-nfF CET-mE C"T-=F%
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET THEL FET TET AT
Total assets BEBE 1,243,833 1,407,610 1,116,476 946,660 934,270
Total liabilities BEAE (320,014) (601,888) (228,752) (27,700) (28,307)
Net assets BEFE 923,819 805,722 887,724 918,951 905,963

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED

186 Annual Report 2017

)




GROUP PROPERTIES
B

At 31 December 2017 R—E—+F+_H=1—H

Category of
lease term

A F R

Location Intended use
NE BER®Z

Total gross
floor area
HEEEE
(sg. m.)
(FF7K)

Group’s
interest
REE 2 EE
(%)

Properties held for investment S {ERE Y%

No. 34 Di Ba Da Jie,
Development Area,
Tianjin City,

the PRC

ey

RiET

%R

B\ KH 3457

Industrial premises for rental Medium

FHERGR TRYE 1 5

Commercial premises for rental Long

FHERGRZBRYE =5

Huijinxintiandi Plaza,
No. 11 Shengtai Road,
Moling Jiedao,
Jiangning District,
Nanjing City,
Jiangsu Province,
the PRC

ey

LERE

FRmIER
PREEHT BB ARE 1158
ER T RMES

Properties under development ZE %

Industrial premises for rental Medium

FHERGRZ TERYE 1 5

East of Haining Street,

and north of Haichuan Street,
Tianjin Development Zone,
Tianjin City,

the PRC

H

KRR

REMER

BEHR - 8)IE

Approximately
#311,512.07

Approximately
#]53,759.48

Approximately
#729,012.72

51

40

60
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Group Properties

ey S

At 31 December 2017 R —FE—+4#+_-H=+—H

Total gross
floor area Group’s
Category of HEREE interest
Location Intended use lease term (sq. m.) REE RS
vE BERR HAFHER (FFHXK) (%)
Properties held for sale EH &%
Rooms 810 and 1706 in Block 8 of Residential/Commercial premises  Long Approximately 40
Huijinjiulong Commercial Street, FE TEEDE =EA 47116.67
No. 699 Chengxin,
Main Road,
Moling Jiedao,
Jiangning District,
Nanjing City,
Jiangsu Province,
the PRC
HE
LERA
FERmIER
ToRRE 738 S5 A8 699 517
ESNEEEEESE
810 21706 &=
Rooms 101 to 104 in Block 47 Residential/Commercial premises  Long Approximately 40
and Rooms 101 to 104 in FE mEWE = #71,710.89

Block 48 of Hongjingya Villa,
No. 2888 Hongjing Main Road,
Moling Jiedao,

Jiangning District,

Nanjing City,

Jiangsu Province,

the PRC

PE

IEA

FERmIER
IREEETIE AR KB
28885 s = HEEE
EATEI01E104E
K481 101 E 104 %
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